A\f-ﬁ-‘?@?ﬁ’ﬁ‘%‘?ﬁ.‘&%
A TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

(Stock Code 1AL : 28)

2021

ANNUAL REPORT
F #H




B &
NEVER
BEEAKBRE
ERERBEDNT
)
BpE)

THE BB

o TEMXER
s TEYMEKRE
o HMRE
MEERER
BRPMEERH
MEREEREER
TEERARE
EFxeRS

BY BN RE
FalEaR

Aﬂ— = *Eﬁﬂ&

HitzEEaER
FaUBARREK
EmEBR
FARREREE
B M BIRR M

B HE

3F
W

Elig
o

11
11
14
17
17
27
29
30
36
38
47
69
93
101

102

103
106
108
111
280

CONTENTS

Corporate Information
Managing Director’s Statement
Management Discussion and Analysis
Operational Review
Financial Review
Project Review
e Major Property Developments
* Major Property Investments
e Other Investments
Particulars of Property Development
Particulars of Properties under Construction
Particulars of Property and Hotel Investments
Corporate Governance Report
Directors” Report
Independent Auditor’s Report
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Summary



2 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

o~ 8 & #
CORPORATE INFORMATION

EEg
BITES

RIEW - BIE/E
TR - EFAEEE

BR Edwin Lo King Yau

&L Tao Tsan Sang

FHTES Non-Executive Directors
FRIE - FE Lee Seng Hui, Chairman

B Moses Cheng Mo Chi
BYFHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors
BiEiE Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

EEE Jin Hui Zhi

WEL Ngai Wah Sang

HREER Lisa Yang Lai Sum
PBITERES EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
FRIE - FE Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Chairman
B Edwin Lo King Yau

MHEE Tao Tsan Sang

MR Chew Chee Choong
BERERE AUDIT COMMITTEE

BEL - TE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Song Zengbin, Deputy Chairman

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Managing Director

Ngai Wah Sang, Chairman
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi

SHE Jin Hui Zhi

SEBER Lisa Yang Lai Sum

FHEES REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

WiswE - TE

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Chairman

SHE Jin Hui Zhi

mEL Ngai Wah Sang

HREER Lisa Yang Lai Sum

REZE® NOMINATION COMMITTEE

BB 2H
H5HHE

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, Chairman
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

TEE Jin Hui Zhi
BEL Ngai Wah Sang
BR Edwin Lo King Yau



NAEH

CORPORATE INFORMATION

ERIRIT
£

PEIERTT (BB )GRAT
REHRITARAA
PEERTT(EFR) AR AT
FB LBESRITARAT
BRI (BB )BR AR
EHKFRITAERDA]

HEl Rt
RERTTAD AR A
RBIRTTIRMNBR A A]
RDFT(FE)BRAA]
PEERIRITR D AR AR
BRERITRNER AR
PETERITRMD AR AR
FLIRITIRDBRAA]
EFKZRIT(FE)ERAT]
AfNER

BEETETITE 1385
ERERE22E

B|&E 1 2533 3233

fHHE : 28453034

B I : info@tiananchina.com

RABFELE
PEWMERKERAT
BE

EREANER1839R
a5
AEME

N e

EED

=2« MEMRI SRTANTT
AP LR T 25 B RE LB

2Em
GEESCEIES
R A1 55%

28

Ak

http://www tiananchina.com

http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/tiananchina/

index.htm

KL EREARRAR
2021 3R

BANKERS
Hong Kong

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited

Mainland China

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.

OCBC Wing Hang Bank (China) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

22nd Floor, Allied Kajima Building

138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Tel. : 25333233

Fax : 28453034

E-mail: info@tiananchina.com

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Cindy Yung Yee Mei

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

SOLICITOR

P. C. Woo & Co.
STOCK CODE
28

WEBSITES

http://www.tiananchina.com
http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/tiananchina/
index.htm



4 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2021

EEARERSE

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT

AARREG_E_—Fr2FEE -
R E S

AEFEEZE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HLHF
BEZWAR25747BBF (2 F :
2,359.4B8ETT) + REFIEMI% o AR A%
REMRFAE1,4303 888 L(ZE_5F
618.0BEBABIL) BT _ZTFIEMNMI131% °

ARBIBREEZNIEMEEZRRAS

o ERPEIM455.9FEBIT c TEEHNER
E—IEEFEE 2 WABERITE - %88
REBEE-_Z-—F+-_A=1+—BILEE
NEMEMETKIBIGLETRS &

s DERINEGFEEBREREMEZAA(E
B ERIZIN - TBIRNI R T | —HR
ARk - ZWMET EETHMEAGZE T
BRANREER L ©

FRAFAE0ICEITL(ZZE_ZF 0418
L) RZEBEZ—FFE  ARRRRENE
EEEEEFEAI82BIL( T _TF
17.10787T) °

8=\

ApRlzEEg((EEg ) EEMEEEHEZZ
T+ A=+-BHUIEEEzTHBRAS
fE2078 M (RERBAKRE) (ZE = FF HIf%
BREREIRE) « BR2081) - R =
T FNAZ+NB(ER)HFIBIKMT T
RZBE-—_FMA+=R(BH=)ZIEAQT
REEREZMAZ A ARRE(ARE]) -

| am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2021.
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2021
was HK$2,574.7 million (2020: HK$2,359.4 million), an increase of
9% compared to the year before. The profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to HK$1,430.3 million (2020: HK$618.0
million), representing an increase of 131% from 2020.

The increase in profit attributable to owners of the Company was
primarily a combination of:

e anincrease in gross profit of HK$455.9 million, which was
mainly attributable to the revenue recognition of a residential
project in southern China with properties completed and handed
over to customers during the year ended 31st December, 2021;
and

e anincrease in the fair value gain on transfer of inventories
of completed properties to investment properties, which was
mainly attributable to the completion of Phase 1 of the “Tian An
1000 Trees” project, a landmark commercial and entertainment
complex in Shanghai.

Earnings per share amounted to HK$0.96 (2020: HK$0.41), while the
net asset value per share attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$18.82 at the end of 2021 (2020: HK$17.10).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) has declared an
interim dividend of HK20 cents per share (in lieu of a final dividend)
for the year ended 31st December, 2021 (2020 interim dividend
(in lieu of a final dividend): HK20 cents per share) payable on or
around Friday, 29th April, 2022 to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Wednesday, 13th April, 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(1)

(2)

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in
lieu of a final dividend)

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in lieu
of a final dividend) for the year ended 31st December, 2021, the
register of members of the Company will be closed on Tuesday,
12th April, 2022 and Wednesday, 13th April, 2022, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order for a Shareholder to qualify for the interim dividend (in
lieu of a final dividend), all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited of Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 11th April, 2022.

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“2022 AGM”)

The 2022 AGM is scheduled to be held on Friday, 20th May,
2022. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
2022 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 17th May, 2022 to Friday, 20th May, 2022
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order for a Shareholder to
be eligible to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited of
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 16th May,
2022.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged principally in the development of apartments,
villas, office buildings and commercial properties, property
investment and property management on the mainland in the PRC, as
well as property investment and property management in Hong Kong.

An outline of our achievements in 2021 is described below:

(M

Total attributable registered sales (including sales from joint
ventures and pre-sales of properties under construction) of the
Group amounted to 387,300 m? in 2021 (2020: 406,200 m?), a
decrease of 5%. A total attributable gross floor area (“GFA”) of
approximately 448,200 m? (2020: 210,000 m?) was completed,
an increase of 113% from last year. For 2021, a total attributable
GFA of approximately 2,021,900 m2 (2020: 1,647,400 m?) was
under construction at the year end, representing an 23% increase
over the last year.

Rental income increased by 9% as compared with 2020.

Tian An Cyberpark: There are a total of 20 Tian An Cyberparks
developed or under development over 13 cities. We concentrate
on developing new cyberparks and urban renewal projects
in regions where we have ample manpower and marketing
resources.

The entire Phase 2 of Tian An’s urban renewal project, Tian An
Cloud Park, in Bantian residential district, Longgang Shenzhen
comprising a GFA of approximately 599,400 m?2 is now
completed and ready for sale or lease. In addition, Guangming
Tian An Cloud Park in Guangming District of Shenzhen with a
GFA of approximately 382,800 m2 and Deqing Tian An Cloud
Park in Deqing, Zhejiang with a GFA of approximately 459,800
m? is under development.

The pre-sales of residential projects in Jiangsu and Zhejiang
Provinces acquired last year has been successful. In addition, we
have acquired new residential projects in Jiangsu and Liaoning
Provinces as well as in Shanghai during 2021. We expect these
projects will contribute a good return to the Group in the coming
years.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

(6)

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group
carried out a reorganisation, resulting in Asiasec Properties
Limited (“ASL”) incurring a loss on disposal of a subsidiary
of approximately HK$1,468.0 million. For the year ended
31st December, 2021, ASL reported a loss of approximately
HK$1,563.1 million (2020: HK$56.7 million) attributable to
its shareholders, and, if excluding the loss on disposal of a
subsidiary, ASL would have reported a loss of approximately
HK$95.1 million (2020: HK$56.7 million) attributable to its
shareholders. It is important to note that with the reorganisation
of ASL, a special dividend of HK$0.95 per ASL share amounting
to HK$1,178.6 million was returned to shareholders of ASL.

PLANS FOR 2022

Objectives for 2022 are as follows:

(1)

(4)

We will continue to adjust the quality of our landbank through
acquisitions and disposals and sale of our end products to
balance the demands of short term returns and long term capital
appreciation.

We will adjust our products and pricing as well as the speed of
construction where necessary to assist the sale of our products in
the current environment.

We hope to responsibly gear up our projects rather than over-
utilising equity in order to increase our return on equity.

We will review our management and cost structure so as to
improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible.

LONG TERM CORPORATE STRATEGIES

(1)

The Group will retain certain development properties for
investment where we believe these properties will provide
increasing rental streams and corresponding increases in capital
value.

We will concentrate our effort on developing our cyberpark and
urban renewal units where we believe our products are welcomed
by the government and the local market.
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COVID-19 RESPONSE

The Group continued to take preventive measures to protect the
health and safety of our workforce, their families, local suppliers and
neighbouring communities while ensuring a safe environment for
operations to continue as usual. For example:

* measures to maximise social distancing and staff protection
within the offices;

¢ meetings held off-site or by conference calls or video conference
as far as possible;

e cancellation of all non-essential travel;
e flexible and remote working plans for employees;

e restrictions on office access and temperature screening;

e self-isolation following travel, development of symptoms, or
interaction with a confirmed case of COVID-19 and requirement
to undergo a coronavirus test as and when necessary at the
Company’s cost; and

e increased inventory of face mask, hand sanitiser and hygiene
supplies and increased focus on cleaning and sanitation.

The Group also joined HKSAR Government’s “Early Vaccination
for All” campaign by offering vaccination leave and special cash
incentive to employees who completed two vaccinations on or before
31stJuly, 2021.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Although the economies of China and Hong Kong were on the road
to recovery in 2021, the development and containment of COVID-19
remain unpredictable, especially when presently faced with the
spread of the Omicron variant. Furthermore, geopolitical tensions
(such as the war in Ukraine and the resulting Russian sanctions), a
crackdown on the technology and private education sectors in China,
together with strict global travel restrictions have eroded market
confidence.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)

The China government always emphasises that houses are for living
in, not for speculation. Many provinces and cities of China have
introduced a series of measures to limit property speculation such
as setting guidance prices on homes sales and cracking down on
business loans that have been misused to buy homes. These policies
have affected housing prices. Furthermore, many China property
developers are encountering funding problems with many resorting
to selling assets to alleviate short term cashflow. In January 2022,
China’s central bank cut the one-year loan prime rate (“LPR”) by 10
basis points from 3.8% to 3.7% and five-year LPR by 5 basis points
from 4.65% to 4.6%, helping to reduce the financial burdens of the
property sector. In addition, the China government has introduced
a new policy to allow all couples to have three children. This will
help to increase the population of China in the long run. We remain
confident of the long term prospects of the property market in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and
the staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past
year, to the Shareholders for their understanding and support, and to
the customers for their trust.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 25th March, 2022
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
1. INCOME SOURCES

Income derived from operations in property development, property
investment, associate and joint venture investments in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) constituted the most significant source of
revenue to the Group. An analysis is as follows:

(1) Property developments

Revenue derived from property development of the Group (including
subsidiaries but excluding associates and joint ventures) increased
from HK$1,740.2 million to HK$1,884.8 million compared with
2020. Projects offered for sale during the year mainly consisted of
Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2), Wuxi Tian An Manhattan (Phases
1 and 2) and Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (Phase 3).

(2) Property investments
During the year, the rental income of the Group increased from
HK$477.4 million to HK$518.7 million, representing an increase of

approximately 8.7%.

(3) Associate and joint venture investments

2021 2020
FET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
wEHMER Contribution to profit:
RGBS =N A m A (E1E) Share of profit (loss) of associates 2,029 (68,545)
e A EREHM Share of profit of joint ventures 444,411 365,076
446,440 296,531
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2. TEHE 2. MAJOR SALES

B2 - —F+-"A=+—HILFE » &K% For the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group’s sales activities
BHEEFE(BIERAALDENEENE  (including sales from joint ventures and pre-sales of properties

EBHYENTEES)EZEFELTIER - under development) were concentrated principally on the following
projects:

FEfh

HEREEE

Attributable

Gross Floor

Area Sold

HH Project Az Use ¥ 75 Km?

FINKLZEN(ZE) Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 2) SEYA Commercial/ 23,900
Tz Residential

FIRARLZEAS Shenzhen Guangming Tian An Cloud Park F=E Residential 23,500

REXLThEEs AR/ ME(—H) Dongguan Tian An Zhongtang ECO Town (Phase 1) &% Commercial 15,400

BINR BB RIRE Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological BE/ Commercial/ 7,700
(MR LE) Park (Phases 4 and 9) F=x Residential

BMNEBALZEH(ZBR=8)  Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (Phases 2 &% Residential 17,100

and 3)
EILBHE SRR (—H8K%=#)  Kunshan Lan Ting Da Jing Hua Yuan (Phases 1 T= Residential 13,400
and 2)

BHAZSKE(—ER ) Wauxi Tian An Manhattan (Phases 1 and 2) F=x Residential 8,900

BIMRLRIE(ZH) Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2) = Residential 11,900

TR R8I (—HiZ= M Eg) Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 1 to 4) CEYE Commercial/ 11,000
Tz Residential

FRARTARRERLS(—H) Nanjing Tian An Intelligence ECO City (Phase 1) A% Residential 15,400

HR ERERESS Nanjing Shangchen Yunji Yayuan = Residential 9,000

HRALRAIEE(—H% —H#)  Nantong Tian An First Mansion (Phases 1 and 2) £ Residential 31,100

ERRLREM BRI Ningbo Tian An First Mansion FE Residential 44,000

MMNBERZEA Huzhou Deqjing Tian An Cloud Park GEYE Commercial/ 20,300
=z Residential

BERLEEM (MR TEH) Chongging Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 4 and 5) 5%,/ Commercial/ 15,400
= Residential

REE KRR Dalian Protagonist’s Life = Residential 11,800

RERRE (U= 4t) Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4 Part 3) = Residential 6,900

KERZZIEBEEY (—#Z=45) Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City (Phases 1 to 3) &%,/ Commercial/ 22,200
=z Residential

SERLEEN(—HE=H) Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 1 to 3) SEVA Commercial/ 46,100
= Residential

HipIEH Others projects CEY4 Commercial/ 32,300
F=E Residential

387,300
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(1) REFRIFZRYE

3. LAND PORTFOLIO

The Group currently has a landbank of total gross floor area (“GFA”) of
approximately 11,470,000 m? (total GFA attributable to the Group is
approximately 6,280,500 m2, consisting of approximately 1,116,000 m?
of completed investment properties and approximately 5,164,500 m?
of properties under development and for development), located mainly
in Shenzhen, Dongguan, Guangzhou, Huizhou, Shanghai, Kunshan,
Wauxi, Yixing, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Nanjing, Nantong, Ningbo, Huzhou,
Chongging, Dalian, Changchun, Tianjin, Qingdao, Hong Kong, Australia
and United Kingdom.

The major inventories of completed properties held for sale by the
Group are for residential use and mainly consisted of Huizhou
Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City of approximately 63,300 m2 and Wuxi
Tian An Manhattan of approximately 38,700 m? as at 31st December,
2021.

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group’s land portfolio principally
consisted of the following:

(1) Properties under development and for development

AEBEEAE

BEHEE

[GES {¥% GFA attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

ith & Region FEFHK m? FEHK m? FE K m?
iy Southern China 772,000 654,900 1,426,900
#H Eastern China 976,200 952,300 1,928,500
B3l Northern China 554,800 395,200 950,000
SEM Australia 42,500 816,600 859,100
HaEt Total 2,345,500 2,819,000 5,164,500
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2) BERETREYXE

(2) Completed investment properties

TEEEPELG

BEEE

[EES {¥= GFA attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

& Region 53K m? F K m? F 5K m?
% Southern China 356,700 58,200 414,900
R Eastern China 401,100 75,800 476,900
#=p Northern China 143,400 23,300 166,700
HA Hong Kong 47,700 3,800 51,500
HE United Kingdom 6,000 - 6,000
#agt Total 954,900 161,100 1,116,000

B % m
ESRBRAKEE

AEE-—BERNGERFBREAVHRERFESE
ZhEEL N TE—F+=-—_A=+—H"
NEE 7 RIRTTHEB IR S HELN4,345.588
BIL(ZZE-TF : 4,893588E7T) » AAE
B HBEEEHENEEES -

R-ZBE-—F+-A=+—H AEE®E
8,373 5BEBIL(ZZEZF ¢ 8,122.28
BEL) BEREAMGESNB24B8EFL(Z
T-TF :3,553.6B BB RIERBDAEE
441 BBAETL(ZZ2FF 1 4,568.6 B BB
L) c AREZBEEAER(AEFHERUER
BEE)B14%(ZZZTF 1 12%) - EREER
FERVERERPVERENTES - BE
RARLEEESBMENNE MR BERF Y
B RFHANFTER -

REE 7 REE B TRF K56%85 K M F A E
Hi o ARAEEZ KEIRE R EETEHE
T MABDRITEFIUAAREFERR
B o REEMSERPH25%RELMER - &4
TEARFRER -

BTREBEEMFERHRERAMBELEL R
THREERINRERRBMNTRER  A%5E
TERGERERSENABERITER - BB
BesBERAERBRRERREREBAN
HISNEREK

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financing

The Group always maintains its liquidity at a healthy level with
a balanced portfolio of financial resources. As at 31st December,
2021, the total bank balances and cash reserves of the Group were
approximately HK$4,345.5 million (2020: HK$4,893.5 million),
providing sufficient working capital for the daily operations of the
Group.

As at 31st December, 2021, the total borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$8,373.5 million (2020: HK$8,122.2
million), including current liabilities of HK$3,932.4 million (2020:
HK$3,553.6 million) and non-current liabilities of HK$4,441.1
million (2020: HK$4,568.6 million). The gearing ratio (net debt over
total equity) of the Group was 14% (2020: 12%). The borrowings
were mainly used to finance the properties for development and
properties under construction. Decrease in finance costs is mainly due
to the increase in capitalisation of finance costs in properties under
construction compared to last year.

Approximately 56% of the Group’s outstanding borrowings will
mature within 2 years. Since most of the investments and operation of
the Group are carried out in the PRC, most of the bank borrowings are
denominated in Renminbi which will be repaid in the same currency.
Around 25% of the Group’s interest bearing borrowings bear interest
at fixed rates while the remainders are at floating rates.

Due to maintaining flexible and sufficient cashflow for acquiring
the potential quality landbank and accelerating construction works
for our development projects, the Group intends to obtain proper
bank borrowings with reasonable pricing terms. The management
continuously monitors the gearing ratio and raises new external
borrowings when necessary.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals

On 9th November, 2021, FBRZERBEMEFR LR (“TA
Prosperity”, an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into a cooperation development agreement with
certain companies established in Mainland China in relation to the
deemed disposal of 40% equity interests in a subsidiary pursuant to
which, the deemed purchaser shall contribute RMB319.2 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$384.6 million) to the development
of a land in the Mainland China. Further details of the transaction is
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 9th November,
2021.

On 16th December, 2021, TA Prosperity entered into a cooperation
framework agreement (“Cooperation Framework Agreement”) with
certain companies established in Mainland China in relation to the
acquisition of the entire partnership interests in a limited partnership
(“Acquisition”) involving a 51% interests in a project company for
the development of a land in Mainland China. The consideration of
the Acquisition is RMB190.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$231.7 million). In addition, (i) TA Prosperity agreed to provide
reimbursement of RMB18.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$22.0 million); (ii) TA Prosperity and/or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries (as the case may be) agreed to provide guarantees
up to an aggregate amount of RMB687.3 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$838.1 million); and (iii) TA Prosperity agreed
to grant a loan of RMB352.5 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$429.9 million) according to the Cooperation Framework
Agreement. Further details of the transaction is set out in the joint
announcement dated 16th December, 2021 issued by the Company
and Allied Group Limited, the ultimate holding company of the
Company.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group is required to maintain foreign currency exposure to
cater for its recurring operating activities and present and potential
investment activities, meaning it will be subject to reasonable
exchange rate exposure. However, the Group will closely monitor this
risk exposure as required.

Pledge on Assets

As at 31st December, 2021, bank deposits of approximately HK$0.7
million, aggregate carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
development properties and investment properties of approximately
HK$45.0 million, HK$4,102.6 million and HK$12,148.6 million
respectively, were pledged for banking facilities granted to the
Group, mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and guarantees
in respect of utility supplies and government authorities for the
development works.



16

Annual Report 2021

EEREFNWR DM

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FEAE

RAKRE S EEEFEMERENR90.58
BRTHMEARERYE LEEMEEETRH
ETHHAE - ZEHELEERA 2L HHEA
ETRIMERRE o BREbD LR (ER(ER
BZHTHRI  BE—FHNLHEREER
PR IEAERE - N AAKEZ S —BE%
TEFAR  REEL2008E8BTZHER
MECWEMEBAOBAREL - — k=
MR EETREDTK MR
“H-HBRERLFERRA - AEERIEE
B IEZFELETRE D RAER LR
B BEREE L - I EREE RIS AR
FZEL RS ERFE DAL - SR
SHHERN BRI R AT - REBEEER
B AEEEHEERBEELFE - XRBE
ETHMEARTEGELE - REARREENE
R B LWREEELBEBR RN AT ML

o

nu}

R-E-—F+-"F=+—8 AEEARDE
BRERZIZBERRASTEMBBIBRE
PABEREEEREEERKEFAZER
BB EBITIERA R MEZEEEE mH
N BRTSHFE RIBUTHEEIR 1 404,636.6 A &5
TLZPER - NEBIRHZ TAEERTYERTT -
BRT RISk B A B - WARIE — AR &K
MEL - "EBEZ —HALCESRN—IEE
BT REELERBFABL2021EEBT -
AEBEEFTHZRERNBERZER URA
ZRENGERIT TS HGRAVHEBRREEEKR

Bl 48R
=

BERRER

RERRA BB ANEIR -

Contingent Liabilities

Two pieces of properties for development that are held by joint
ventures of the Group with carrying value of approximately HK$90.5
million are under idle land investigation by the local authorities.
These pieces of lands owned by the joint ventures were held under
several land use right certificates. The development of more than half
of the pieces of lands were either completed or under development,
except for the portions which are retained for the remaining
development of the whole project. Further, property for development
that is held by another joint venture of the Group with carrying value
of approximately HK$290.0 million had been identified as idle land
by the local authority. The construction works for Phase 1 and Phase
2 Part 1 of the development have been completed. The construction
works for Phase 2 Part 2 and Phase 3 Part 1 of the development have
started last year. The Group is currently working diligently to prevent
the possible classification as idle land for those under idle land
investigation and taking remedy action to prevent from prosecution
for those had been identified as idle land, including negotiating the
feasibility of development plans with local authorities. Based on legal
advices, the Group has assessed the issue and considers that the idle
land confiscation can be reversed. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the economic outflows caused by above cases are not
probable.

As at 31st December, 2021, guarantees given to banks and lenders
in respect of mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and loan
facilities granted to or utilised by the joint ventures and a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss as well as guarantees granted
in respect of utility supplies and government authorities for the
property development works amounted to approximately HK$4,636.6
million. All the guarantees provided by the Group were requested
by banks, government authorities or lenders and under normal
commercial terms. A legal action was taken against a joint venture of
the Group resulting in possible contingent liabilities of approximately
HK$262.1 million. The Group has assessed the claim and obtained
legal advice, and considers that the outcomes of the claim would not
have material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Event after the Reporting Date

There were no material events after the reporting date.
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PROJECT REVIEW

1. MAJOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENTS
Southern China

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Located at the heart of Shenzhen and adjacent to Shenzhen Golf
Club, this large-scale project occupies a site area of approximately
273,500 m2 with a total GFA of approximately 787,700 m2. The
Cyber Park consists of industrial buildings, office and commercial
buildings, cyber technology buildings, deluxe residential apartments
and multifunction clubhouse in an “Urban Industrial Complex”.

The lettable commercial GFA is 49,230 m?, including remaining areas
of Shenzhen Cyber Times Building, Shenzhen Tian An Innovation
Science and Technology Plaza (Phases 1 and 2) and Shenzhen Futian
Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park.

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park has expanded its successful pattern
to other cities, including Shenzhen Longgang, Dongguan, Huizhou,
Guangzhou Panyu, Foshan Nanhai, Wuxi, Changzhou, Jiangyin,
Nanjing, Nantong, Chonggqing, Tianjin and Qingdao, so as to develop
into a group company.

For accomplishing the upgrade industries transformation and urban
renewal of Shenzhen, Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park plans to have
area upgrade and redevelopment. The total GFA of the Park will
increase accordingly.

Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (50%)

This project is a “Model project of urban renewal” and located in
Bantian residential district, Longgang District, Shenzhen. Shenzhen
Tian An Cloud Park will have a site area of approximately 760,000
m? and plan to have a total GFA of approximately 2,800,000 m2.
The project is planned to be developed into a combination of new
technology and a modern city complex, including industrial R&D,
commercial, residential and apartments properties. The entire Phase
2 which comprises a GFA of approximately 599,400 m?2 is now
completed and ready for sale or lease.
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Shenzhen Guangming Tian An Cloud Park (21.50%)

Located in Guangming District of Shenzhen, with a site area of
approximately 81,556 m? and a total GFA of approximately 382,800 m2.
The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
commercial/residential/educational/medical composite and to build
an international intelligent industrial city district. Construction work
of the project with a GFA of approximately 382,800 m? is expected to
be completed in 2022.

Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (50%)

Located in the core area of Longgang in Shenzhen, this project
has a site area of approximately 118,856 m2 and a total GFA of
approximately 454,400 m2. The model of Shenzhen Tian An Cyber
Park is used to develop this project. Construction works of Phase
4 Parts 3 and 4 with a total GFA of approximately 136,700 m? are
expected to be completed in 2022 and 2023 respectively.

Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (39%)

Situated right at the new city central area — Nancheng District of
Dongguan, covers land area of approximately 278,989 m? with a
total GFA of approximately 823,200 m2. The project is planned to
be developed into an integrated business park with comprehensive
science and technology buildings, commercial and residential
composite. Phase 7 with a GFA of approximately 90,000 m2 was
completed in 2021.

Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park (45.05 %)

Located in Fenggang Town of Dongguan, this project has a site area of
approximately 172,796 m? and a total GFA of approximately 524,700
m2. The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
innovation and technology, industrial research and development,
regional management headquarters base and productive service centre
in the district. Phase 3 with a GFA of approximately 180,400 m? was
completed in 2021. The project was fully completed.
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Dongguan Tianan Shenchuang Valley (45.05 %)

Located in Fenggang Town of Dongguan, this project has a site area
of approximately 184,114 m2 and a total GFA of approximately
735,000 m2. The project is planned to be developed into super high-
rise industrial building, detached headquarters building, industry
workshop, enterprise residence, international apartment, characteristic
commercial street, star-rated hotel and nine-year system school, with
the ultimate integration of industry, ecology, technology and business,
to create an enterprise innovation ecosystem that promotes the
transformation and upgrading of urban industries. Construction works
of Phases 1 and 2 with a total GFA of approximately 671,400 m? are
expected to be completed in 2022 and 2023 respectively.

Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park (25 %)

Located in Songshan Lake of Dongguan, with a site area of
approximately 98,148 m2 and a total GFA of approximately 176,700
m2. The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
commercial/industrial composite. Part of Phase 1 Part 2 with a GFA of
approximately 85,700 m? was completed in 2021. Construction work
of remaining Phase 1 Part 2 with a GFA of approximately 6,200 m? is
expected to be completed in 2022.

Dongguan Tian An Zhongtang ECO Town (27.03 %)

Located in Zhongtang Town of Dongguan, with a site area of
approximately 145,490 m? and a total GFA of approximately 484,300
m2. The project is planned to be developed into an intelligent
ecological town with a concept of interconnection and ecological
efficiency. Construction work of Phase 1 with a GFA of approximately
149,300 m? is expected to be completed in 2022.

Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (50%)

Located in the central district of Panyu in Guangzhou, this large-
scale project has a site area of approximately 513,088 m? and a total
GFA of approximately 712,500 m2. The park development consists of
industrial/office buildings, science and technology buildings, high-
class residential buildings and multi-function clubhouse. Construction
work of Phases 9 and 10 with a total GFA of approximately 72,600 m?
are expected to be completed in 2022 and 2023 respectively.
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Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (100%)

Located in Huiyang of Huizhou and lying by both sides of Danshui
River, this project has a site area of approximately 321,447 m? and a
total GFA of approximately 783,000 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into a comprehensive commercial/residential composite.
Since the local government had modified the surrounding planning
of the land, the master planning for property development had been
modified accordingly. Part of Phase 3 with a GFA of approximately
114,600 m? was completed in 2021. Construction work of Phase
1 Part 3 and remaining Phase 3 with a total GFA of approximately
71,800 m2 are expected to be completed in 2023 and 2022
respectively.

Huizhou Tian An Cyber Park (45.05%)

This project is situated in Huicheng District of Huiyang with a site
area of approximately 156,841 m? and a total GFA of approximately
420,000 m2. The project is planned to be developed into a
commercial and residential district under a new industrial-use
mode with industrial, residential, commercial and ancillary space
composite. Construction work of Phase 1 with a GFA of approximately
102,200 m? is expected to be completed in 2022.

Eastern China
Shanghai Tian An Place (100%)

This project is situated at the Shanghai Golden Honggiao District
where the oriental and international residents like to reside and
adjacent to the entrance of the transit station of Subway No. 9. The
project will be developed to a deluxe residential district with a site
area of approximately 291,960 m? and a total GFA of approximately
494,400 m2. All demolition and resettlement works had been
completed. Construction work of Phase 2 Parts 1 and 2 with a total
GFA of approximately 122,400 m?2 are expected to be completed in
2023 and 2024 respectively.

Shanghai Tian An 1000 Trees (100%)

Located in the Putuo District of Shanghai, this project is to be
built along the 1,100 m bank of Suzhou River with a site area
of approximately 58,930 m2. Western Phase with a GFA of
approximately 62,700 m2 was completed in 2021, being a landmark
commercial and entertainment complex in Shanghai. Construction
work of Eastern Phase with a GFA of approximately 114,400 m? is
expected to be completed in 2024.
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Shanghai Tian An Xiangyu The Poetry (40.80%)

Located in Baoshan District of Shanghai, with a site area of
approximately 47,141 m2 and a total GFA of approximately 75,400 m2.
The project is planned to be developed into residential buildings.
Construction work of the project with a GFA of approximately 75,400
m2 is expected to be completed in 2024.

Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu (30%)

This project is located in Shanghai Songjiang Industrial Zone,
with a site area of approximately 185,590 m?, and a total GFA of
approximately 297,000 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an industrial district. Construction work of Phase 1 and Phase 2
Part 1 with a total GFA of approximately 122,100 m?2 are expected to
be completed in 2022.

Kunshan Lan Ting Da Jing Hua Yuan (12.80%)

Located in Bacheng Town of Kunshan, with a site area of approximately
83,781 m?2 and a total GFA of approximately 192,600 m2,
The project is planned to be developed into a residential district.
Phase 1 with a GFA of approximately 96,200 m2 was completed in
2021. Construction work of Phase 2 with a GFA of approximately
96,400 m? is expected to be completed in 2022.

Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park (50%)

This project is located in Wuxi New District with a site area of
approximately 118,330 m2 and a total GFA of approximately 236,700 m2.
The project is planned to be developed into an integrated business
park with comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Construction work of Phase 2
with a GFA of approximately 48,100 m? is expected to be completed
in 2022.

Wouxi Tian An First Mansion (80%)

Located in Wanshi Village, Wanshi Town of Yixing, with a site area of
approximately 41,533 m?2 and a total GFA of approximately 62,200 m2,
The project is planned to be developed into residential buildings
together with commercial/retail space. Construction work of the
project with a GFA of approximately 62,200 m? is expected to be
completed in 2023.
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Changzhou Tian An Villa (100%)

This project is located in Wujin District, the planning and
development focus of the Changzhou government. With a favorable
location, it is one of the largest deluxe villa districts in Changzhou.
The project occupies a site of approximately 473,082 m2. Phase 2 Part
3 with a GFA of approximately 23,800 m? was completed in 2021.
Construction work of Phase 2 Part 4 with a GFA of approximately
21,700 m? is expected to be completed in 2023.

Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Changzhou Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone,
with a site area of approximately 190,190 m? and a total GFA of
approximately 492,400 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into a comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial
and residential composite.

Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Jiangyin Economic Development Zone,
Jiangsu, with a site area of approximately 173,204 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 363,700 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite. Phase 4
with a GFA of approximately 38,600 m? was completed in 2021.

Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Nanjing Baixia Hi-Technology Industrial
Development Area, with a site area of approximately 93,160 m? and
a total GFA of approximately 210,100 m2. The project is planned to
be developed into an integrated business park with comprehensive
science and technology buildings, commercial and residential
composite. Construction work of Phase 4 with a GFA of approximately
69,200 m? is expected to be completed in 2023.
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Nanjing Tian An Intelligence ECO City (50%)

The project is located in Lishui District of Nanjing, with a site area
of approximately 1,047,000 m2. Since 2020, the land of site area of
approximately 223,686 m? and a total GFA of approximately 568,100 m?2
is obtained. The project follows the development trend of regional
scientific and technological innovation, green health, intelligent
operation, and sticks to the “Healthy China, Lishui Sample” strategic
direction, to break through the traditional closed system of industrial
park and to build the open and vibrant industrial park “Healthy Park”.
At the same time, the project will join hands with Lishui to build
“World Health Network Conference” to promote the innovation and
upgrading of emerging industries, and set a new benchmark for the
integration of industry and city. Construction work of Phase 1 with
a GFA of approximately 110,700 m? is expected to be completed in
2023.

Nanjing La Vita (60%)

This project is located in Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, with
a site area of approximately 8,359 m2. The project is planned to
be developed into a commercial building. Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 19,200 m? was completed in January 2022. Phase 2 is
still under the planning and design stage.

Nanjing Shangchen Yunji Yayuan (26.40%)

Located in Jiangning Development District of Nanjing, with a site
area of approximately 46,365 m? and a total GFA of approximately
115,000 m2. The project is planned to be developed into residential
buildings. Construction work of the project with a GFA of
approximately 115,000 m? is expected to be completed in 2024.

Nantong Tian An First Mansion (80 %)

Located in Jiuhua Town, Rugao City of Nantong, with a site area of
approximately 70,000 m2 and a total GFA of approximately 140,300 m2.
The project is planned to be developed into residential buildings
together with commercial/retail space. Construction work of Phases 1
and 2 with a total GFA of approximately 140,300 m? are expected to
be completed in 2022 and 2023 respectively.
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Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Nantong Gangzha Economic Development
Zone, with a site area of approximately 160,367 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 398,200 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings and commercial composite.

Ningbo Tian An First Mansion (80%)

Located in Xiaolin Town, Cixi City of Ningbo, with a site area of
approximately 69,515 m? and a total GFA of approximately 134,800
m2. The project is planned to be developed into residential buildings
together with commercial/retail space. Construction work of the
project with a GFA of approximately 134,800 m? is expected to be
completed in 2022.

Huzhou Deqing Tian An Cloud Park (30%)

Located in Deqing District of Huzhou, with a site area of approximately
204,336 m? and a total GFA of approximately 459,800 m2.
The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
commercial/residential/educational composite. Construction work of
the project with a GFA of approximately 459,800 m? is expected to be
completed in 2022 and 2023.

Chongqing Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Chongging Tian An Cyber Park is located in commercial centre area
of Dadukou District, Chongqing, with a site area of approximately
357,768 m2 and a total GFA of approximately 894,900 m2. The
project is planned to be developed into an integrated business park
with comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial
and residential composite. Construction work of Phase 6 with a GFA
of approximately 96,600 m? is expected to be completed in 2023.

Northern China
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (100%)

This project for high-class residential development is located in
Dalian Economic & Technical Development Zone. Phases 1 and 2
with a total GFA of approximately 85,800 m2 have been completed.
Construction work of the last phase — Phase 3 with a GFA of
approximately 17,400 m? is expected to be completed in 2023.
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Dalian Protagonist’s Life (39.20%)

Located in Lvshunkou District of Dalian, with a site area of
approximately 90,080 m? and a total GFA of approximately
141,800 m2. The project is planned to be developed into residential
buildings. Construction work of Phases 1 and 2 with a total GFA of
approximately 141,800 m?2 are expected to be completed in 2022 and
2023 respectively.

Changchun Tian An City One (100%)

This high-class residential project is situated within the Changchun
High-Tech Industrial Development Zone. Erected on a site of
approximately 414,192 m2, the project with a total GFA of
approximately 408,400 m? is being developed by stages. Construction
work of Phase 4 Part 3 with a GFA of approximately 57,500 m? is
expected to be completed in 2022.

Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City (50%)

This project is located in Dongli District, Tianjin, with a site area
of approximately 581,907 m2 and a total GFA of approximately
1,319,300 m2. The project is planned to be developed into an
urban integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Phase 2 Part 1 with a GFA of approximately
63,900 m? was completed in 2021. Construction works of Phase
2 Part 2 and Phase 3 Part 1 with a total residential GFA of
approximately 122,100 m? are expected to be completed in 2022 and
2023 respectively.

Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Zhangjiawo Industrial Zone, Xiging District,
Tianjin, with a site area of approximately 312,279 m?2 and a total GFA
of approximately 513,000 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.
Phase 5 with a GFA of approximately 70,900 m? was completed
in 2021. Construction works of Phases 2 and 6 with a total GFA of
approximately 168,200 m? are expected to be completed in 2022.
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Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Chengyang District, Qingdao, with a site
area of approximately 313,466 m? and a total GFA of approximately
635,400 m2. The project is planned to be developed into an
urban integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Construction works of Phase 2 Part 3 and Phase
3 Part 2 with a total GFA of approximately 140,300 m? are expected
to be completed in 2022.

Qingdao Tian An Sci-tech Innovation Park (45.05%)

This project is located in the demonstration area of Qingdao rail
transit industry, with a site area of 86,397 m? and a total GFA of
approximately 220,600 m2. The project is positioned as a garden-
type industrial park, an intelligent digital park, a bullet train themed
block, and a regional supporting park to meet the development
needs of upstream and downstream enterprises in the high-speed
train and intercity railway industries. Phase 1 Part 1 with a GFA of
approximately 21,900 m? were completed in 2021. Construction
works of Phase 1 Part 2 with a GFA of approximately 122,600 m? are
expected to be completed in 2023.

Australia
Western Australia Point Grey Site (76.70%)

This site is located in Western Australia, Point Grey, with a site area
of approximately 2,751,864 m? and a total GFA of approximately
1,109,400 m2. Management is currently considering alternate
masterplan options for the site and considering the timing to continue
further development works.

New South Wales Enfield Site (76.70%)

This site is located in Enfield, Sydney, New South Wales, with a site
area of approximately 12,619 m? and a total GFA of approximately
10,700 m2. The application of redevelopment of the site into
residential accommodation has been approved. The project is planned
to be developed into 70 townhouses on the site and the application
has been submitted. The construction work is planned to commence
in early 2022.
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2. MAJOR PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Shanghai Tian An Centre (98%/100%)

The office building is situated at the hub of Shanghai central business
district of Nanjing Road West and People’s Square, adjacent to
the entrances to the transit platforms of Subway Nos. 1 and 2. It
is a 30-storey Grade A commercial building with a total GFA of
48,910 m2. 18,320 m2 were sold, 1,620 m? were self-occupied and
the remaining GFA of 28,970 m? have been transferred to property
investment. Most of the tenants are multinational companies. The
occupancy rate is more than 90%.

Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments (100%)

This project is located in the Minhang District, Shanghai, and adjacent
to the Honggiao International Airport, Honggiao Transport Hub and 6
International Schools. The properties include (1) 262 apartments with
68,660 m?; (2) a clubhouse with 10,600 m? and ancillary facilities;
(3) 116 car parking spaces with 2,510 m?; and (4) 218 storage rooms
with 980 m2. The project is a leased property. Most of the tenants are
overseas top management from multinational companies.

Nanjing Tian An International Building (100%)

The project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, the most
flourishing shopping district in Nanjing City. The building links up to
the subway station. The shopping arcades with a GFA of 66,400 m?
(including basement GFA of 6,900 m2) have been leased to a
department store. The office building with a GFA of approximately
10,700 m? have been transferred to property investment.

Beijing Park Apartments (100%)

This premium residential project is located at the Beijing Chaoyang
District to the west of Chaoyang Park and adjacent to the Embassy
area. The project has a total GFA of approximately 42,100 m2. Around
half of the total number of units have been sold and the remaining
units kept for leasing purpose.

Dalian Tian An International Tower (100%)

This Grade A office building is situated in the Zhongshan Road central
business district and faces the Victory Square in Dalian City. The total
GFA is 67,210 m2. This 52-storey building has ever been the tallest
landmark building of Dalian. The GFA of 14,790 m? were sold and
the remaining GFA have been transferred to property investment.
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Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre (74.98%/59.99 %/29.99 %)

Located at Tsimshatsui East, the heart of Kowloon, the shopping
arcade with a GFA of approximately 13,700 m? and car parking
spaces with a GFA of approximately 2,340 m?2 as investment properties
recorded an average occupancy of 96% and the performance of the
rental income was satisfactory.

Hong Kong Harbour Industrial Centre and Oceanic Industrial Centre
(33.33%)

The two industrial buildings with a total industrial and godown GFA
of approximately 93,630 m2 and 133 car parking spaces located at Ap
Lei Chau recorded an average occupancy of 54%. With the opening
of South Island Line of MTR, the region becomes more accessible.

Hong Kong Queen’s Centre (50%)

Located at Wanchai, a prime district of Hong Kong Island, the total
retail and office spaces of approximately 2,550 m? recorded an
average occupancy of 82%.

Hong Kong Wah Shun Industrial Building (50%)

An industrial building located at Yau Tong with a total industrial GFA
of approximately 12,470 m? and 10 car parking spaces recorded an
average occupancy of 86%.

Hong Kong The Redhill Peninsula (33.33%)

It was built at a round-shaped peninsula situated in Southern District
of Hong Kong towards Tai Tam Harbour and Turtle Cove comprising
of townhouses and apartments. The remaining 27 houses are being
launched for both sale and leasing in batches in the year of 2022.
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3. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Dongguan Long Island Golf & Country Club (75%)

It was built on a site area of approximately 999,990 m? having a
27-hole golf, driving range, club houses, members’ lodge and other
amenity facilities. The golf course is currently in operation. The club
house renovation was completed in May 2021 and provide high
quality services to the members with a new look.

London South Place Hotel (100%)

Situated at 3/4 South Place, London, the United Kingdom. The
property leased to South Place Hotel Limited comprises an 80
bedroom luxury boutique hotel with ancillary facilities arranged over
basement, ground and 7 upper floors with a total net internal area of
approximately 6,050 m2.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

L E%H EEIR &8
SEER gEER  SEEE  FbER
Buildable EHEE Completed Gross Floor Interest
BEER/ 1Y WRER R# Gross Floor ~ Project Gross Area under Held hy
Project Name/Location Site Area Use _ Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction the Group
Fhk m FhKkm Fhk Fhkm
MIRZER [ AREIRR
R EEE R 138,161 Commercial 883,100 Phased 863,100 - 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park B Construction
Bantian, Longgang District, Shenzhen Apartment 130400 Stage 130,400 - 50%
1,013,500 1,013,500 -
ﬁﬂ\lﬁéﬂﬂif?—iﬁ . A% D LER
R RRE - FAGE 81,55 Commercial 172,100 Phased - 172,100 21.50%
Shenzhen Guangming Tian An = Construction
Cloud Park Residential 188,100  Stage - 188,100 21.50%
thuLe Road, Guangming District, 0B
Shenzhen Apartment 22,600 - 22,600 21.50%
362,800 - 362,800
RIRZEEARY [ ABIIER
R e BRI 118,65  Commercial 454,400 Phased 313,700 136,700 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang — Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Huangge Road North, Longgang
District, Shenzhen
ERRNEA E AHETRS
REm - AR BT 278989 Commercial 739,100  Phased 508,300 - 39%
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park =z Construction
No. T Huangjin Road, Nancheng Residential 84,100 Stage 84,100 - 39%
District, Dongguan -
823,200 592,400 -
EERARERES - BT
Rxm BEEE - EEN 172,79 Commercial 482,300 Construction 482,300 - 45.05%
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An g Completed
Cyber Park Apartment 42,400 42,400 - 45.05%
Yan Tian Village, Fenggang Town, -
Dongguan 524,700 524,700 -
REXRERAD [ AEHIER
R BmE - EEf 184,114 Commercial 532,400 Phased - 468,800 45.05%
Dongguan Tianan Shenchuang Valley g Construction
Yan Tian Village, Fenggang Town, Apartment 202,600 Stage - 202,600 45.05%
Dongguan -
735,000 - 671,400
FEERARRARAE - ABHTRS
Fem e RS TES 98,148 Commercial 176,700 Phased 170,500 6,200 25%
I%WHMW —— Construction
Dongdguan Coolpad Tian An Stage
Cloud Park

North of South Industrial Road,
Songshan Lake North Industrial City,
Dongguan
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Bk E%H ERIR
BAER BAER BEER Fria
Buildable EREE Completed Gross Floor Interest
BEAR/ B BEEE  RR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross Area under Held hy
Project Name/Location Site Area Use _ Area Progress Floor Area Construction the Group
Fhkm FhKm Fhkm FhK m
REAZHEEHARE [ AHEIRR
BEm mEE  BEIH 145,490 Commercial 484,300 Phased - 149,300 27.03%
Dongguan Tian An Zhongtang Construction
ECO Town Stage
Chajiao Village, Zhongtang Town,
Dongguan
BNRZEBBRNRE i3 AEHIER
Bhm B8R 513,088 Commercial 667,200 Phased 571,500 72,600 50%
EENCH AT 0B Construction
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Apartment 45300 Stage 45,300 - 50%
Hi-Tech Ecological (Ij’ark h
No. 555 Panyu Road North,
Panyu Districyt, Guangzhou 712500 616,800 7800
INSRAZES [ ARIBIRE
BT BRE - AkE 447 Residential 705,800 Phased 263,200 50,900 100%
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun HEREER Construction
Life City Ancillary & Commercial 77,200 Stage 36,200 20,900 100%
Danshui Town, Huiyang District, -
Huizhou 783,000 299,400 71,800
)R E8Es S ABRTHE
B BE - TEREE 156,641 Commercial 252,000 Phased - 62,500 45.05%
ity iz Construction
Huizhou Tian An Cyber Park Residential 168,000 Stage - 39,700 45.05%
Hushan Village, Henanan Street, —
Huicheng District, Huizhou 420,000 _ 102,200
LBRERR i DA IRE
Ham BE EER 291,960 Residential 421,800 Phased 140,600 97,500 100%
TEETIMR HERER Construction
Shanghai Tian An Place Ancillary & Commercial 72,600 Stage 18,800 24,900 100%
Lot No. 52, Qibao Town, Caobao
Road, Minhang District, Shanghai
494,400 159,400 122,400
LERZTH Az DB IRE
LT ERR- 58930 Commercial 177,100 Phased 62,700 114,400 100%
EFIL5E120% Construction
Shanghai Tian An 1000 Trees Stage
No. 120 Moganshan Road,
Putuo District, Shanghai
LERZIE MEREE BITH
L - HERB00F 4203 Ancillary & 500 Construction 500 - 100%
Shanghai Central Garden Commercial Completed
Nong 800 Jinxiu Road, Shanghai
LERZSHAIH FE HIBR
LEm - BE - BEHE 4714 Residential 75,400 Construction - 75,400 40.80%
Shanghai Tian An Xiangyu Stage
The Poetry

Luodianxin Town, Baoshan District,
Shanghai
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L E%H EEIR &8
BETR BEE BEER Fria
Buildable EHEE Completed Gross Floor Interest
BEAR/HH bEER A2 Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Areaunder Held by
Project Name/Location Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction the Group
FhKm Ak m FhKm Ik m
LBRIAZEA [ AREIRR
L 0iIE MITEE 185,590 Commercial 266,700  Phased - 91,800 30%
Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu g Construction
Songjiang Industrial Zone, Songjiang Apartment 30300 Stage - 30300 30%
District, Shanghai
297,000 - 122,100
EUNS AR % LA
BT - B R ARA 83,781 Residential 192600 Phased 96,200 96,400 12.80%
[l ——— Conslruction
Kunshan Lan Ting Da Jing Hua Yuan Stage
South of Linhu Road and East of
Zuchongzhi Road, Bacheng Town,
Kunshan
RERRESY A% NERIER
5T 2HNR 118,330 Commercial 236,700 Phased 107,200 48,100 50%
ZHRE265 ——— Construction
Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park Stage
No. 228 Linghu Road,
Wuxi New District, Wuxi
RERZARNE £ BIRE
2l ERE BRN 41,533 Residential 62,200 Construction - 62,200 80%
RERml BERRA —  Suge
Wauxi Tian An First Mansion
South of Chating Road and East of
Wanyuan Road, Wanshi Village,
Wanshi Town, Yixing
FHRZRIZ [ AREIRR
B - AERAERYE 473,082 Residentia 138500 Phased 116,800 21,700 100%
Bk ——— Construction
Changzhou Tian An Villa Stage
No. 2 Fengyuan Road,
Wajin Economic Development
Zone, Changzhou
ENREHEY [ DR IRR
B AERMRER 190190 Commercial 304700 Phased 223,200 - 50%
FER " HER500% s Construction
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Residential 187,700 Stage 187,700 - 50%
No. 588 Wunan Road, Wujin -
Hi-Tech Industrial Zone, Changzhou 492,400 410,900 ~
TRRZYES [ DR IRR
T - RIAESSH 173204 Commercial 226,700 Phased 123,400 - 50%
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park =z Construction
No. 55 Changshan Road, Jiangyin Residential 135,000 Stage 135,000 - 50%

363,700 258,400 -
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Bk E%H ERIR
BAER BAER BEER Fria
Buildable EREE Completed Gross Floor Interest
BEAE/4E bEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name/Location Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction the Group
FhAm FhKm Fikm Pk m
BRREHEY A% AHRIRER
R REE  KEAE6R 93,160 Commercial 210,100 Phased 111,700 69,200 50%
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park — Construction
No. 36 Yongfeng Road, Qinhuai Stage
District, Nanjing
BRREARERY i3 LA
BRm e BKE 223,686 Commercial 239,300 Phased - - 50%
Nanjing Tian An Intelligence ECO fx Construction
City Residential 328,800 Stage - 110,700 50%
Lishui District, Nanjing -
568,100 - 110,700
BRRIE i3 LA
Brm RIE100% 8,359 Commercial 19200 Phased - 19,200 60%
Nanjing La Vita — Construction
No. 100 Changjiang Road, Nanjing Stage
BRLRERIER e BIER
BRT  TEREE 46365 Residential 115,000 Construction - 115,000 26.40%
ERRBIL - ERENE — g
Nanjing Shangchen Yunji
Yayuan
West of Zhekuang Road and
North of Zhengfang Avenue,
Jiangning Development District,
Nanjing
EERZRRTE [ N IER
Bl R AZE BFHE 70000 Residential 140300 Phased - 140,300 80%
1212213 1488 — Construction
Nantong Tian An First Mansion Stage
Lots 1,12, 13 and 14, Guoli
Community, Jiuhua Town,
Rugao City, Nantong
BRRZYEY [ NERIES
B - ARE - REE1995 160,367 Commercial 398,200  Phased 114,000 - 50%
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park — Construction
No. 199 Shennan Road, Stage
Gangzha District, Nantong
ERRRBERALA [ IR
B - T 69515 Commercial 6,000 Construction - 6,000 80%
TRH fix Stage
Ningbo Tian An First Mansion Residential 128,800 - 128,800 80%

Hong Yue Village, Xiaolin Town,
Cixi City, Ningho 134,800 _ 134,800
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g B%H EEIR £
BEER BEE BEER it
Buildable EHEE Completed Gross Floor Interest
BEAR/HH bEER A2 Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Areaunder Held by
Project Name/Location Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction the Group
TARm ThHAm Fhkm FhKm
MNEERZEA [EH AREIRR
B EER - gE 204,336 Commercial 263,200 Phased - 263,200 30%
SR
Huzhou Deging Tian An Cloud Park =z Construction
Jin £ Shan Village, Qianyuan Town, Residential 196,600  Stage - 196,600 30%
Deging District, Huzhou -
459,800 - 459,800
ERRZURA A% L
BEM AEOR B 357,768 Commercial 586,100 Phased 262,800 96,600 50%
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park =z Construction
Chunhui Road, Dadukou District, Residential 308,800  Stage 148,000 - 50%
Chongging -
894,900 410,800 96,600
RERZERTE i DHEIRR
KED  BERRIEYE 58652 Residentia 103,200 Phased 85,800 17,400 100%
i, — Consiruction
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Stage
Liaohe Road West, Economic &
Technical Development Zone,
Dalian
KEEXRH [z AREIRR
AEM  KIEOE - 90,080 Residential 141,800 Phased - 141,800 39.20%
KEElE - =)\ Bff — Construction
Dalian Protagonist's Life Stage
Sanbali Village, Shuishiying Street,
Lvshunkou District, Dalian
RERRE— BEREE AREIRR
K& EAKHGS 414192 Commercial & 408,400 Phased 350,900 57,500 100%
Changchun Tian An City One Residential — Construction
No. 661 Guigu Street, Changchun Stage
RERZSUESH [EH AREIRR
KEm 2R 581,907 Commercial 934,100 Phased 185,800 - 50%
EEMRRRNRLE =z Construction
Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City Residential 385,200 Stage 124,700 122,100 50%
Between Jinhan Gonglu No. 2 I
Bridge and No.3 Bridge, 1319300 310500 122,100
Dongli District, Tianjin
RERZHEA Az gL
KA BER - RER1H 312279 Commercial 215900 Phased 175,100 40,800 50%
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park =z Construction
No. T Tianan Road, Xiging District, Residential 297,100 Stage 169,700 127,400 50%

Tianjin
513,000 344,800 168,200
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T2 B3 ERIE
BAER ‘ BEE BEER Fria
Bulldable R EE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
BEAE/4E bEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name/Location Site Area Use _ Area Progress Floor Area Construction the Group
Fhk m Fhk m Fhk m Fhk m
E8RRNES G SRR
EEM - HRE - ERkosH 313466 Commercial 381,900 Phased 193,900 45,300 50%
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park = Construction
No. 88 Chunyang Road, Chengyang Residential 238,600  Stage 158,500 80,100 50%
District, Qingdao 0B
Apartment 14,900 - 14,900 50%
635,400 352,400 140,300
sRREMEE a2 PiTIS
M 4GE  WigaE. 86,397 Commercial 152,100 Phased 21,900 122,600 45.05%
FhRERE-EIR =z Construction
Qingdao Tian An Sci-tech Residential 68,500  Stage - - 45.05%
[nnovation Park -
Chunyang Road crossing
Jinchengsan Road, Jihongtanjie 220,600 21,900 122,600
Road, Chengyang District, Qingdao
ERH Point Grey 113 % #EIR
FEN - Point Grey * 2,751,864 Residential 1,054,000 g - - 76.70%
Carrabungup Road - MERESR Planning &
$ER138 139 67281132 Ancillary & Commercial 55400 Design Stage - - 76.70%
Western Australia Point Grey Site
Lots 138, 139, 672 & 1132, 1109400 _ _
Carrabungup Road, Point Grey, -
Western Australia
PR £z a8n
HEEmEN - BE 12619 Residential 10700 ke - - 76.70%
BIERIE - Mitchell Sreet 45 Planning &
New South Wales Enfield Site Design Stage

No. 4 Mitchell Street, Enfield,
Sydney, New South Wales
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION

SEEN
EHEE
£E Gross BIRIER
BEEE Frib s Floor Area Estimated
NEER Gross Interest Held  Attributable to Completion
Property Name Floor Area by the Group the Group Year
F7 Km? FHRm?
RIEHRLES 382,800 21.50% 82,300 2022
Shenzhen Guangming Tian An Cloud Park
AR ZBEE BRI (M =3t kmit) 136,700 50% 68,400 2022/2023
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (Phase 4 Parts 3 and 4)
RERZREIA(—HR=_H) 671,400 45.05% 302,500 2022/2023
Dongguan Tianan Shenchuang Valley (Phases 1 and 2)
RERRRER AR/ E(—H) 149,300 27.03% 40,400 2022
Dongguan Tian An Zhongtang ECO Town (Phase 1)
EMRZEBEEMEENBRTH) 72,600 50% 36,300 2022/2023
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park
(Phases 9 and 10)
BNEBRLEN(— =8t R=1) 71,800 100% 71,800 2022/2023
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (Phase 1 Part 3 and Phase 3)
EMRZEER(—H) 102,200 45.05% 46,000 2022
Huizhou Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
FERZER(ZH—#R-H#) 122,400 100% 122,400 2023/2024
Shanghai Tian An Place (Phase 2 Parts 1 and 2)
EERZTH(RER) 114,400 100% 114,400 2024
Shanghai Tian An 1000 Trees (Eastern Phase)
LBRZREFRTH 75,400 40.80% 30,800 2024
Shanghai Tian An Xiangyu The Poetry
EBMIRZeA(—HR=E—#) 122,100 30% 36,600 2022
Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu (Phase 1 and Phase 2 Part 1)
BRARZHER (M) 69,200 50% 34,600 2023
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 4)
BRAZARRELS (—H) 110,700 50% 55,400 2023

Nanjing Tian An Intelligence ECO City (Phase 1)
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ERPUWEESR
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION
KEES
BEER
£ Gross  HEFTIEH
BEAR FribiEs Floor Area Estimated
VESE: Gross Interest Held  Attributable to Completion
Property Name Floor Area by the Group the Group Year
T KM F77Km?
BRARLEMEE (AR =H) 140,300 80% 112,200 2022/2023
Nantong Tian An First Mansion (Phases 1 and 2)
BERAREMFRILNR 134,800 80% 107,800 2022
Ningbo Tian An First Mansion
AMNEBERLES 459,800 30% 137,900 2022/2023
Huzhou Deqjing Tian An Cloud Park
BEERZEEN () 96,600 50% 48,300 2023
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 6)
ABEXRM(—HR_H) 141,800 39.20% 55,600 2022/2023
Dalian Protagonists’s Life (Phases 1 and 2)
REARFH(DH=H) 57,500 100% 57,500 2022
Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4 Part 3)
RERZZBEEEH (B HR=8—4) 122,100 50% 61,000 2022/2023
Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City (Phase 2 Part 2 and Phase 3 Part 1)
RERZEBH(ZHRAH) 168,200 50% 84,100 2022
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 2 and 6)
BERZUBH(ZH=HR=H_H) 140,300 50% 70,200 2022
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 2 Part 3 and Phase 3 Part 2)
BERLZMAM(—H=1t) 122,600 45.05% 55,200 2023
Qingdao Tian An Sci-tech Innovation Park (Phase 1 Part 2)
HftIBH 386,200 190,200
Other projects
ag
Total: 4,171,200 2,021,900

Hiat - EPRBEBE-Z-—F+-_A=+—H2ZER4E - Note:The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2021.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

SEERL
S BEEE
BEE® £H Gross
Gross Frib s Floor Area HRES
NELZRE,/ WY Floor Area Interest Held Attributable B Lease
Property Name/Location of Property by the Group ~ to the Group ~ Use Expiry
FAK m FHAm
FIX RGBS
Y, BHEE, RANE
Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park
Tairan 4th Road, Futian District, Shenzhen
- R RZAF N ES 8 10,540 50% 5270  EERBLE 2038*
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 1
-RNRRAFNHEES - 4,400 50% 2200 FEERRBAE 2052%
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 2
- FBERRKE 20,530 50% 10,260  PERMAE 2051*
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Commercial and office
- BRERZNEAEEAE 13,760 50% 6,880 HERNAE 2053+
Shenzhen Futian Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park Commercial and office
A BBERAAE 890 100% 890  HNiE 2051
FYm, BEE, ALK Office
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building
Tairan 4th Road, Futian District, Shenzhen
RNXZERKE 850 100% 850 g 2041
W, R, ARER Office
Shenzhen Tian An International Building
Renmin South Road, Luohu District, Shenzhen
R BRI 2,190 100% 2190 f= 2068*
FYT o BER - RERI21% 0 BRI Residential
Shenzhen Jun An Garden
Nong Ke Centre, No. 121 Longxuan Road,
Futian District, Shenzhen
FYRZRE 22,460 100% 22,460  H{E 2076%
Fm, BAR, TA—K Residential
Shenzhen Tian An Park Place
Tairan 1st Road, Futian District, Shenzhen
RYIRZER 241,700 50% 120,850  HERELE 2063/2065*
o EEE 0 RA Commercial and office
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park
Bantian, Longgang District, Shenzhen
FNRZER 54,130 50% 27,070  AB 2065*
AT R RE Apartment

Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park
Bantian, Longgang District, Shenzhen
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EEEL
n= BEER
BEER £E Gross
Gross Frib#s Floor Area KRER
MELE/ Y% Floor Area Interest Held Attributable % Lease
Property Name/Location of Property by the Group  to the Group ~ Use Expiry
FIrA m? FIK m?
AYIR &8 IR 3,300 100% 3300 @EE 2052*
A BEEE - BRI Commercial
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park
Huangge Road North, Longgang District, Shenzhen
RY| XL H B 49,730 50% 24870 ERRHFLE 2042/2052/
AT EEE - BREILR Commercial and office 2055*
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park
Huangge Road North, Longgang District, Shenzhen
A ERBARREARE LG 170 74.98% 130 f=% 2071*
AT - EILE - AEERAIRER Residential
FEIHE ()
Shenzhen Juning Villa, Xili Golf Course
Juning Villa (1), Xili Golf Course, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen
RERRBHRY 6,070 50% 3,040 HE 2060/2062*
REm - BRE B2K15% Commercial
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park
No. T Huangjin Road, Nancheng District,
Dongguan
REXZBHEY 86,190 39% 33,610 X 2060*
REm - BRE - BERIR Commercial
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park
No. T Huangjin Road, Nancheng District,
Dongguan
REXRRBRY 1,510 39% 590  EE 2080+
REm - BRE 22K1% Residential
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park
No. T Huangjin Road, Nancheng District,
Dongguan
ZREXZHBS 18,610 45.05% 8380 1E 2065*
R BREE - RO Apartment
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park
Yan Tian Village, Fenggang Town, Dongguan
REBRAZEIEH 7,990 45.05% 3,600 FEE 2065*
REM - BEE - EAN Commercial

Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park
Yan Tian Village, Fenggang Town, Dongguan
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SEEE
nE BEER
BEER £E Gross
Gross Frib s Floor Area KRER
MELRE /1% Floor Area Interest Held Attributable ~ F# Lease
Property Name/Location of Property by the Group ~ to the Group ~ Use Expiry
FhA m? FIK m?
REBRAZERERE 46,410 25% 11,600 BHX 2062*
RE - UL IS - TEERLH Commercial
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park
North of South Industrial Road, Songshan
Lake North Industrial City, Dongguan
BN ERHENEE 126,270 50% 63,130 % 2052*
BN BERE - HEAEIL5555 Commercial
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech
Ecological Park
No. 555 Panyu Road North, Panyu District,
Guangzhou
BN ERHENEE 4,450 50% 2230 1 2052*
BN™ - BBE - #EKEILS555H Apartment
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech
Ecological Park
No. 555 Panyu Road North, Panyu District,
Guangzhou
HLRZESHE 62,650 50% 31330 EE 2052/2054/
BT - EER - BYHI% Commercial 2056*
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park
No. 1 Jianping Road, Nanhai District, Foshan
ENEB R RN 30,230 100% 30230 EE 2052*
BT BB - AKE Commercial
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City
Danshui Town, Huiyang District, Huizhou
LBXRZZE 13,760 100% 13,760 H% 2073*
LB BR - BER - tEERIR Commercial
Shanghai Tian An Place
Lot No. 52, Qibao Town, Caobao Road,
Minhang District, Shanghai
LBRRTH 63,190 100% 63190 % 2051/2061*
L - BIRE - BT L1205 Commercial
Shanghai Tian An 1000 Trees
No. 120 Moganshan Road, Putuo District, Shanghai
EBRZHD 22,350 98% 21,900  BERBLE 2044*
L BRE - mRAERE338% Commercial and office

Shanghai Tian An Centre
No. 338 Nanjing Road West,
Huangpu District, Shanghai
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SEERL
S BEEE
BEER 58 Gross
Gross Frib s Floor Area HRES
MELE/ Y% Floor Area Interest Held Attributable % Lease
Property Name/Location of Property by the Group  to the Group ~ Use Expiry
FAR m FHAm
EBRZHH 6,620 100% 6,620 BN 2044*
LT BRE - mRAERK338% Office
Shanghai Tian An Centre
No. 338 Nanjing Road West,
Huangpu District, Shanghai
LERERRALTNLE 68,660 100% 68,660 fF=E 2068/2071*
HEm BIR - EEES ZR5555 Residential
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments
Lane 555 Jinfeng Road, Huacao Town,
Minhang District, Shanghai
LETERE 1,520 99% 1500 H@% 2066*
BT 2R - EEMNE668H Commercial
Shanghai The Riverside
No. 668 North Suzhou Road, Jingan District,
Shanghai
LEREAE 2,880 100% 2,880 HE 2062*
HEm RER - 22K 189% Residential
Shanghai Elegant Garden
No. 189, Long Xi Road, Changning District,
Shanghai
EHXRENE 2,130 100% 2130 EE 2044*
gHm  ORXBEEEERYA - Commercial
B 809%:
Wauxi Tian An Manhattan
No. 809 Hubin Road, the intersection of Taihu
Avenue and Hubin Road, Wuxi
BHEXRAE 1,420 95% 1350  HDE 2043*
BHT 0 2R0E - FLR270% Office
Wauxi Tian An Building
No. 270 Zhongshan Road, Chongan District, Wuxi
BRALEE 2,830 95% 2,690 EE 2041*
&/HmOBRR - RZTEA Commercial
Wauxi Redhill Peninsula
South of Liangxi River, Binhu District, Wuxi
ERRAREEY 87,270 50% 43,640 HE 2060*
EBT - BETE - EHAE2285 Commercial

Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park
No. 228 Linghu Road, Wuxi New District, Wuxi
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SEEE
n= REER
BEER L3 Gross
Gross Frib s Floor Area KRER
NELR/ Y Floor Area Interest Held  Attributable ~ fii% Lease
Property Name/Location of Property by the Group ~ to the Group ~ Use Expiry
FhA m? FIK m?
ENFHHEE 9,090 100% 9,090 HX 2038/2068*
BN - Bt - RTER5 Commercial
Changzhou New City Garden
No.1 Zhujiang Road, Xinbei District, Changzhou
ENRR BT 50,390 50% 25190 E% 2057*
BMm - RESFRNERFRER - Commercial
H A BE5805
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park
No. 588 Wunan Road, Wujin Hi-Tech
Industrial Zone, Changzhou
TRRZHRE 33,190 50% 1659 X 2060*
TR RILKES5% Commercial
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park
No. 55 Changshan Road, Jiangyin
IRRZ W 8,550 50% 4,280 % 2080+*
TR RIIKES55 Residential
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park
No. 55 Changshan Road, Jiangyin
HRARZERAR 70,220 100% 70220  EERRELE 2042/2062*
mRm - BTE - PILERE1225% Commercial and office
Nanjing Tian An International Building
No. 122 Zhongshan South Road, Baixia District,
Nanjing
BRRZEEY 79,100 50% 39550 @EE 2057*
MR RER - KERE36H Commercial
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park
No. 36 Yongfeng Road, Qinhuai District, Nanjing
HEHBEAE 1,450 100% 1450 HDE 2043+
mEmn - FIE - BFAER15H Office
Nantong Sun Hai Tung Building
No. 15 Qingnian West Road, Chongchuan District,
Nantong
BERAR 1,300 100% 1300 E% 2050*
mEm - RIE - REE Commercial
Nantong Jin Xiu Court
Haonan Road, Chongchuan District, Nantong
HEXRTE 6,550 100% 6,550  H%E 2070*
T IRE Commercial

Nantong Tian An Garden
Gongnong Road, Nantong



KL EREARRAR
2021 3R 43

MERBEBEREEHN
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

SEEE
n= BEER
BEER &M@ Gross
Gross Frik s Floor Area KRER
MELE/ Y% Floor Area Interest Held Attributable % Lease
Property Name/Location of Property by the Group  to the Group ~ Use Expiry
FIrA m? FIK m?
HEXZBEY 85,220 50% 42,610 BE 2061*
AT BRE - REE199% Commercial
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park
No. 199 Shennan Road, Gangzha District, Nantong
ERRRBY 63,660 50% 31,830 EE 2061*
BEM KEOE  BER Commercial
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park
Chunhui Road, Dadukou District, Chongging
ERXZRE 22,170 100% 2,170 % 2064
R BGE - AHAERK75% Residential
Beijing Park Apartments
No. 17 Chaoyang Park Road West,
Chaoyang District, Beijing
SR 560 100% 560  {FE 2064*
R BBE - AHAERRSE Residential
Beijing Lakeside Garden
No. 5 Chaoyang Park Road West, Chaoyang
District, Beijing
ERBEPD 270 74.98% 200 fEE 2074*
bR - BHE - ZEFMAE4SE Residential
SRFDAE
Beijing Yintai Center
Tower A, Yintai Center, No. 4 Jianguomenwai
Avenue, Chaoyang District, Beijing
TRIFHELES 210 74.98% 150 @B 2043*
bR ®ERE - IR RS Commercial
Beijing Wangfujing Century Square
Wangfujing Century Square, Wangfujing Avenue,
Dongcheng District, Beijing
LRIMALLRS 50 74.98% 40 % 2063*
IR RHE - TR LEES Residential
Beijing Wangfujing Century Square
Wangfujing Century Square, Wangfujing Avenue,
Dongcheng District, Beijing
REXZERAE 52,420 100% 52420 AR 2035+
AED - PIUE - PILFRB8SE Office

Dalian Tian An International Tower
No. 88 Zhongshan Road, Zhongshan District,
Dalian
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MERBEBEREEHN
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

SEER
nE BEEE
BEE® £H Gross
Gross Frib s Floor Area HREH
MELRE /1% Floor Area Interest Held Attributable % Lease
Property Name/Location of Property by the Group ~ to the Group ~ Use Expiry
FAK m FHR m?
AEXZBSTEE 290 100% 290 fFE 2043*
RET  EEREMAEER  BIRR Residential
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden
Liaohe Road West, Economic & Technical
Development Zone, Dalian
RERZE-Y, 21,210 100% 21,210 EES 2051*
REM - BAKE6615% Commercial
Changchun Tian An City One
No. 661 Guigu Street, Changchun
REXRSEEBH 55,450 50% 27,730 EE 2051
KEM BER - EELRFBRNEZH Commercial
Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City
Between Jinhan Gonglu No. 2 Bridge and
No. 3 Bridge, Dongli District, Tianjin
RERZYES 52,080 50% 26040 EE 2060*
K2 BER  RZRIR Commercial
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park
No. 1 Tianan Road, Xiging District, Tianjin
BEEXRRUEH 31,650 50% 15,820 W% 2052/2054*
E5m  HBRE - BHEesH Commercial
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park
No. 88 Chunyang Road, Chengyang District,
Qingdao
FREREDD 12,880 59.99% 7730 EE 2053*
BB R ADERE - MEREE100% Commercial
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre
100 Granville Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
BEERTL 830 29.99% 250 EE 2053+
BB B RDERE - MEEEE100% Commercial
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre
100 Granville Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
ERBETIEH 24,720 33.33% 8240 I% 2055*
B - BAE - BN - FIEE0% Industrial

Hong Kong Harbour Industrial Centre
No. 10 Lee Hing Street, Ap Lei Chau, Aberdeen,
Hong Kong
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NMERBEREEH
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS
SEEL
I BHER
BEER &8 Gross
Gross Frib s Floor Area HREH
NELR/ 1Y Floor Area Interest Held Attributable B Lease
Property Name/Location of Property by the Group  to the Group ~ Use Expiry
FHAm FRA m
EBBEIEDL 68,910 33.33% 22970 I% 2055*
B - BB BHN - FI2E%R Industrial
Hong Kong Oceanic Industrial Centre
No. 2 Lee Lok Street, Ap Lei Chau, Aberdeen, Hong
Kong
EREEHRTD 2,550 50% 1280 WERBLE 2843**
BE - BIF  EREAER58-64% Commercial and office
Hong Kong Queen's Centre
58-64 Queen’s Road East,Wanchai, Hong Kong
EHRERTIEAE 12,470 50% 6,230 I%¥ 2047*
B8 ONE BB ERE4R Industrial
Hong Kong Wah Shun Industrial Building
4 Cho Yuen Street, Yau Tong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
BBAILYE 10,100 33.33% 3360  fFE 2056*
EE KR BELE185 Residential
Hong Kong Redhill Peninsula
18 Pak Pat Shan Road, Tai Tam, Hong Kong
BRERRL 1,280 74.98% 9%0 HE 2047*
BE - ONE OEE BREIR Commercial
Hong Kong Billion Centre
No. 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
BERE 210 74.98% 160 fF 2057+
R FR BE - REHR Residential
Hong Kong The Wings
No. 9 Tong Yin Street, Tsueng Kwan O,
New Territories, Hong Kong
ERRE 220 74.98% 160 (% 2047
B N XA BEBR Residential
Hong Kong Forfar
No. 2 Forfar Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
ERBNEE 100 74.98% 80 = 2040
B BAT - BRN - BlaE25% Residential
Hong Kong South Horizons
No. 22 South Horizon Drive, Ap Lei Chau, Aberdeen,
Hong Kong
RARESEE 6,050 100% 6,050 B KAFE
3/4, South Place, fa 2l EC2M 2AF Hotel Freehold

London South Place Hotel
3/4 South Place, London, EC2M 2AF

1,873,060 1,116,040



46

Annual Report 2021

MERBEBEREEHN
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

NEZR/ b8

Property Name/Location

ES
BEEE
Gross
Floor Area
of Property
N

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

Parking Space

SEERS
BEER
Gross

Floor Area
Attributable
to the Group
FAHK m

BEE
BEEE %8
Gross Floor FribER
Area of Car Interest Held
by the Group

FhHRm

B#
Use

HREH
Lease
Expiry

LEXRERL-EE

LigT - BRE - ERERI6H

Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space
No. 338 Nanjing Road West, Huangpu District,
Shanghai

LEXRERL-EE

g BRE - ERER36H

Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space
No. 338 Nanjing Road West, Huangpu District,
Shanghai

LERZTE-ERE

LT - REAKS00F

Shanghai Central Garden, Car Parking Space
Nong 800 Jinxiu Road, Shanghai

TERERRALTBNAE-EE
8T BTR - EERRERS55R
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments,
Car Parking Space

Lane 555 Jinfeng Road, Huacao Town,
Minhang District, Shanghai

LEREARBLNNLE - S
BT B7E - BEES 5555
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments,
Clubhouse

Lane 555 Jinfeng Road, Huacao Town,
Minhang District, Shanghai

ERERRENE-SF

mipm e ORKEEPERZIA
WA 8095k

Wuxi Tian An Manhattan, Clubhouse
No. 809 Hubin Road, the intersection of
Taihu Avenue and Hubin Road, Wuxi

ERRRTO-EE

B - LB RPERE IEHEE1005
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre,

Car Parking Space

100 Granville Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

10,600

3,670

7,780 98% 7,620

330 100% 330

1,950 100% 1,950

2,510 100% 2,510

- 100% 10,600

- 100% 3,670

2,340 74.98% 1,760

14,270

14,910 28,440

Wit - ERBB-ZE - —F+-_A=+—HZERGEH -

*

ok

ZEYEAP PR ASE -
ZEYEARREOTAEEE -

E1:
Car Parking Space

E1:
Car Parking Space

g
Car Parking Space

BE
Car Parking Space

2
Clubhouse

2
Clubhouse

BE
Car Parking Space

2044*

2044*

2068*

2068*

2068*

2044*

2053*

Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2021.

*

*k

These properties are held on medium lease.

These properties are held on long lease.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis
on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence.
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and
to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), the Board
has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the Company
with the adoption of the various enhanced procedures which are
detailed in this report. The Company has applied the principles of,
and complied with, the applicable code provisions of the CG Code
during the year ended 31st December, 2021, except for certain
deviations as specified with considered reasons for such deviations as
explained below. The Board will review the current practices at least
annually, and make appropriate changes if considered necessary.



48

Annual Report 2021

CEEABRE

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEg

ExgApAmtRESF(ER AKX - &P
MEBHITEE  ME/FRTEEROES
BIYFRTER(VBULIFATES]) - RFER
RBEARERSL  EFEXEHIILT

BITESE
RIGW (FIZE/E)
TR (EFARLIE)

U=
YR

MHRE

FHTES:
FRIE(EE)
BRE

BYFHTES:
Hi8IE
s
BER

EEVERFBEENESTEREE4EES
7IEZIEEZRSMEBABZEAER | —H
NeREFEIFEFTUERERARAESR
RIEPREREZESRI EFGXNE 2L
BEARBAEMERDEK

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises ten directors (“Directors”) in total,
with four Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors and four
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman)

Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director)
Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui (Chairman)
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

INEDs:

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in
the Directors’ Report on pages 74 to 79. Other than that Mr. Lee Seng
Hui, the Chairman of the Board, is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng
Wei, the Managing Director of the Company, there are no family or
other material relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process

During the year, the Non-Executive Directors (a majority of whom are
independent) provided the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Group”) with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their
active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has had four INEDs representing not less than one-third of the
Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received
from each INED an annual confirmation of his/her independence and
considers that all the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad
hoc matters which need to be dealt with. During the year, six Board
meetings were held and the individual attendance records of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and general meeting during the year ended 31st
December, 2021 are set out below:
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-3 {C )

EEgRFE)

Name of Directors

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board Process (continued)

HE/ BITEEZRE
Number of meetings attended/held

BRRAE

General

Exg FHEEE

Remuneration

ERZEE
Audit
Committee

Committee Meeting

HITES: Executive Directors:

RIEW (FIF/E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) 6/6 0/1
BRR (EFAEHEIE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) 6/6 0/1
L2 Edwin Lo King Yau 6/6 1/
R~ Tao Tsan Sang 6/6 11
FHTES: Non-Executive Directors:

TRIE(EE) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) 5/6 17
R Moses Cheng Mo Chi 5/6 1/2 0/1
BUFHTES: INEDs:

Lf ey Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 5/6 11 2/2 11
=Yt Jin Hui Zhi 6/6 11 2/2 0/1
Es Ngai Wah Sang 6/6 7 2/2 7
BEE Lisa Yang Lai Sum 6/6 1 22 0/1

HE &Ei%)“qz$ﬁ£§ BREREEE
RBER  2FLERE  2FLTHEE B
%i&:ﬁzi%ﬁi&Zﬁt)&(ﬁz}E%ié\ZE

CEBERRORRS  EER - AREM
BEABRMIBEEE -EFSCHATRE
ZRTITHREEAR  YHHATEZEG(HA
BEEE ﬁﬁﬂé%ﬁlﬁaﬁ/ﬁg cEEER
ARAREEREZBAEE DRI EZIL AE @S
o WAEFREESELRN RER - ARRK
HBRe IR TR A ARG — 2

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, approval of Directors’
appointment or re-appointment (based on the recommendations
made by the Nomination Committee), material contracts and
transactions, corporate governance as well as other significant
policy and financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive management under the instruction/
supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific
written terms of reference. The respective functions of the Board and
management of the Company have been formalised and set out in
writing and will be reviewed and updated by the Board from time
to time to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and
regulations.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process (continued)

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists
the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a
regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
The articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a
Director shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close associates
has a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management. Directors
will be continuously updated on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In
addition, a written procedure has been established since June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost
to be borne by the Company.
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EEE2E) THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

EECRHEEXRR Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

EREEERRITE  EERUFEIHLEN For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’

AARRBERERL 2 U RBRIN EEL attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by the

B EBBEWNT management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities
including the following:

BEKEEXRRED
Participation in Continuous
Professional Development Activities
HERERZEEEAR
ZIE e
BE/ 83
BIBEREN Attending trainings/
Reading briefings/seminars/
Regulatory conference relevant to
Name of Directors Updates Directors’ duties
HITES: Executive Directors:
RIEW (BT E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) v v
BN (E(EFAEHE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) v/ v
B4 Edwin Lo King Yau v v
TR E Tao Tsan Sang v v
FHITES : Non-Executive Directors:
BROE(FE) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) v/ v
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi v/ v
BYFHITES: INEDs:
if =y Francis J. Chang Chu Fai v/ v
SEE Jin Hui Zhi v 4
BES Ngai Wah Sang v v
GRBE Lisa Yang Lai Sum v/ J



LEEARE

KL EREARRAR
2021 3R

53

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEg)
EEgREZ Tt

AARBERZZE—=ZF+_ARMNEZTGKE
Ltk - BEHEBESeXNE Sl
ZBERRE  AEATER NERKARE
EEEeKEZ LT ARG FEZREEEE -
EZCMELZABUBAMA BRE - RIZA
SEEEEEANE  WHSBARRZEBKLE

go

ME AR RIS TBEALE - B3
BFRRIER - 58 - XEREESS - &
B TREBREL  BEORTHEARNE
BRAAEEEREOTEE -

FRERITRARZAG

PEERTAZTFAEXA2I(BEZE ==
—A—BREFNRFEATIIEXC2.1)8EE
FRMTBEH([THRER ) 2 ABREAT
En  WTAERA—ARBRZE -EZEEF
TRBEAETEAEBREEET  BROATE
BARREENSESS UK RER M
B (VTEESELEHESEES SR
AR BIR  MGi) T EE B ERE -
TR NOBM 2 BR o TR BB AATE
BB TRESREET  HAEAELEZA
EEBER  WERM2BECEWES AU
EARAEA TR _ZTRFEAREES
HEREBEA-_E——FNWAR_Z—hE
—AEH -

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy in December
2013 which sets out the objectives and principles regarding board
diversity for the purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board as far as practicable.
Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against measurable objectives, taking into account the
Company’s business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, knowledge, professional experience and skills. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and the contribution that the
selected candidates may bring to the Board.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (re-numbered as code provision
C.2.1 since 1st January, 2022) stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive (“CE”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, being the
Chairman of the Board, is primarily responsible for the leadership of
the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely and constructive manner; (ii) all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and (iii)
the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The
functions of the CE are performed by Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei,
the Managing Director of the Company, who is responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Their responsibilities
are clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved
by the Board in June 2005, and subsequently updated in April 2012
and January 2019.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her
appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations
to be observed by a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance,
Listing Rules and Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this
induction package includes materials briefly describing the operations
and business of the Company, the latest published financial reports
of the Company and the documentation for the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Board. Directors will be continuously
updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep
of good corporate governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) of the Company were
appointed for a specific term, but subject to the relevant provisions
of the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws whereby
the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but eligible for
re-election. The term of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors
(including INEDs) has been renewed for further two years commenced
from 1st January, 2021.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company whilst for those appointed as an addition
to the Board shall hold office until the next following AGM and in
both cases, those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at
the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
and has adopted the written terms of reference on its corporate
governance functions in April 2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed
the corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of
reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a
Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by
the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and
the committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section
headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for the
committee meetings so far as practicable.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since March 2012
and is chaired by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of five members,
including Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Messrs. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Jin Hui Zhi and Ngai
Wah Sang, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, being
an Executive Director. The Nomination Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access
to independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which
are available on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out the
nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”) in its terms of reference. The
objective of the Nomination Policy is to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business. To ensure changes to
the Board composition can be managed without undue disruption, a
formal, considered and transparent procedure is in place for selection,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in
place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including
periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director
(to be an additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it
arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by
the Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by
the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is
qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity
of the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of
the responsibilities. Further details of the selection criteria and the
procedure are set out in the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with matters
by way of circulation. In 2021, no Nomination Committee meeting
was held while the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by
way of circulation. In 2021 and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring Directors at
2021 AGM and 2022 AGM;

(ii) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and assessed the independence of each INED; and

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
extension of the retirement age under the employment contract of
the Managing Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since June 2005
and currently consists of four members, including Messrs. Francis J.
Chang Chu Fai (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Jin Hui
Zhi, Ngai Wah Sang and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs.
The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and has access to independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are
included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code (re-
numbered as code provision E.1.2 since 1st January, 2022), but with a
deviation from the code provision that the Remuneration Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors only and not senior management
(as opposed to executive directors and senior management under the
code provision). The reasons for the above deviation are summarised
as below:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not
properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process is more effectively
carried out by the Executive Directors;

(ii) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and

control senior management and thus must be able to control their
compensation; and

(iii

=

there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus Shareholders
will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of such compensation
packages.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held in 2021 and the attendance of each member is set
out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 2021. In 2021 and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the existing
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors;

(ii) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive and
Non-Executive Directors (including the INEDs) for the year ended
31st December, 2020;

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus
for the year ended 31st December, 2020 and the salary for the
year 2021 of the Executive Directors;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
Directors’ fee for the year 2021; and

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal
of the employment contract of the Managing Director.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee. Further remuneration
payable to Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs) for their
additional responsibilities and services will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their employment contracts or service
contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements whereas
detailed changes in the emoluments of certain Directors during the
interim period and up to the date of the Interim Report were also
disclosed in the Interim Report of the Company dated 20th August,
2021. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are also set out
in the “Employee and Training” section contained in the Directors’
Report on page 90.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since November 1999 and
currently consists of five Non-Executive Directors, four of whom are
INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee
is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The current
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Dr. Moses
Cheng Mo Chi, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and has access to independent professional advice according
to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles
and functions of the Audit Committee are included in its terms of
reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are revised from time
to time to comply with the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code
(re-numbered as code provision D.3.3 since 1st January, 2022), but
with deviations from the code provision of the audit committee’s
responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to
supply non-audit services;

(ii) ensure the management has performed its duty to have effective
risk management and internal control systems; and

(iii

=

ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the listed company.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall recommend (as
opposed to implement under the code provision) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for
the following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to
develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;

(ii) the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation of
such policy and recommendations is through the Executive
Directors and management; and

(iii) INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and
follow up the same on a day-to-day basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee only possesses
the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to ensure under the
code provision) whether management has performed its duty to have
effective risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee is not equipped to ensure that the same is in place as
this would involve day-to-day supervision and the employment of
permanent experts. The Audit Committee is not in a position either
to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors
but it can promote the same. Similarly, the Audit Committee is not
in a position to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced but it can check whether it is adequately resourced.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were held
in 2021 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2021. In 2021
and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the
works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the
external auditor in respect of the final audit for the year ended
31st December, 2020 (“2020 Final Audit”), the interim results
review for the six months ended 30th June, 2021 (“2021 Interim
Review”) and the final audit for the year ended 31st December,
2021 (“2021 Final Audit”) of the Group;

(ii) reviewed the audit completion reports/independent review
report/audit planning report from the external auditor and the
management’s response in relation to the 2020 Final Audit, 2021
Interim Review and 2021 Final Audit;

(iii

=

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
financial reports for the year ended 31st December, 2020, for
the six months ended 30th June, 2021 and for the year ended
31st December, 2021 together with the relevant management
representation letters and announcements;



62 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2021

CEEABRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BEEFZEEH)
EREES(E)

(v) B PO Rb R Th A ([ BB £
S RBLY PO SHBI R A HE R0
s

(v BHRZZFEFSHAERAKEE
NEPER MM B ERBE T EMNER
BTEERERIANERE TS
ElESENS S A R

(vi) FHRERZESFERBRELCR - #A R
ERAERISINEF NEBEERZEBER
LERER - R RANEBEIEREF 2 R
VEFERET

i) EHLEZREFERAREZARE
MBI R SIEF R - &

BN

(vii) FHMERESSHELETRAIMESR
RERXZNEF REEIIRREALRS
ZHR IR

il
B

BITE

MOTZEERN _TTME_AKY > BH
mMOEREBAK  BEATEETFNER
EBITZESEXRE)  SRMEERMTEE
£ UREEZSERETELERE - TE
AE.Zﬁx%i%AFM‘ﬁ&%ZF%F%XE@%fi

ZHA—REBERIZEGE  EREATEZES
Ziﬁﬁﬂféﬁalﬁ% TEFERERMEZS

BN - MITRE S Zﬂ%&ﬁéﬁﬁf&ﬁﬁ"ﬁ%%
BHREFRERECR —_FT/N\F=AFEHES
REBRR T~ \F+ - AEHER -

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

(iv) reviewed the internal audit plans and internal audit review
reports prepared by the Internal Audit Function of the Group (“IA
Function”);

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the updated
reports on substantiation of the resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and

budget;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review
the Whistle Blower Policy, Procedures for the Identification
and Monitoring of Connected Transactions, Policy on the
Disclosure of Inside Information and Policy on Risk Management,

=

(vi

Compliance and Internal Control Procedures;

(vii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and

(viii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised
Procedures for the Identification and Monitoring of Connected
Transactions and revised Related Party Transaction Policies and
Procedures.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since February 2004
and currently consists of four members, including Messrs. Patrick Lee
Seng Wei (Chairman of the Executive Committee), Edwin Lo King Yau
and Tao Tsan Sang, all being Executive Directors, and Mr. Chew Chee
Choong, being the Group Chief Operating Officer. The Executive
Committee is vested with all the general powers of management and
control of the activities of the Group as are vested in the Board, save
for those matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision and
approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of the Executive
Committee. The terms of reference of the Executive Committee were
revised in March 2008 following the adoption of the Whistle Blower
Policy by the Company, and subsequently updated in December
2018.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Executive Committee (continued)

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss
the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters by
way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible
for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day management and is
empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(ii) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group as
determined by the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cindy Yung Yee Mei is the Company Secretary of the Company.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with the Shareholders and management.

Ms. Yung is an associate of The Chartered Governance Institute and
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries). During the year,
Ms. Yung undertook over 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update her skills and knowledge.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in
the securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be likely in possession
of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing,
with the support from the Finance Department, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2021, the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been
adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe
that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 93 to 100.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. In 2021, the Board, through the Audit Committee, had
reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely
eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in the achievement
of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals. They have a key role
in the management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of
business objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for
the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in the
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and
manage the risks of different businesses and activities. The annual
assessment is performed through the completion by the relevant
business units and department heads of their respective responsibility
statements as co-ordinated by the IA Function. The result and findings
are reported to the Chairman of Executive Committee who puts
forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
which have been considered effective and adequate.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of
each of the major types of risk which the Group is facing is included
in note 45b to the consolidated financial statements and under the
“Principal Risks and Uncertainties” section contained in the Directors’
Report on pages 69 and 70.

Internal Audit

The Head of IA Function reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
Audit Committee. The IA Function generally carries out the analysis
and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The internal audit plans and internal audit review reports were
prepared by the IA Function and issued to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review.

Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside
Information (“Policy”) in January 2013 with respect to the procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Policy sets out guidelines and procedures to
the Directors and relevant officers of the Group to ensure inside
information of the Group is to be disseminated to the public on an
equal basis and in timely manner. Directors and relevant officers in
possession of potential inside information and/or inside information
are required to take reasonable measures to ensure that proper
safeguards are in place to preserve strict confidentiality of inside
information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their obligations
to maintain the information confidential. The Policy shall be updated
and revised as and when necessary in light of changes in circumstances
and changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and relevant statutory and regulatory requirements
from time to time.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
External Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group’s external
auditor is set out as follows:
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Services rendered for the Group FAT
HK$’000

Audit services 5,040
Non-audit services (including review of

compliance of Occupational Retirement

Scheme Ordinance, and review of interim

results, continuing connected transactions and

working capital forecast) 1,199
Total 6,239

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with Shareholders. The Chairman actively
participates at the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to
answer any questions from Shareholders. The chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
or in their absence, another member of the respective committees
or failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also
available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of any
independent board committee formed as necessary or pursuant to the
Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed, at least a member
of the independent board committee) should also be available to
answer questions at any general meeting of Shareholders to approve
a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

During the year, the 2021 AGM was held on 18th May, 2021. The
attendance record of the Directors at the 2021 AGM is set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings as at the date
of deposit of the requisition can request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) by sending a written request
to the registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”). Such
requisition must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the EGM and must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it. Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal (“Proposal”) at
a Shareholders’ meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board
at the Registered Office in accordance with the Companies Ordinance
and the Articles of Association where applicable. The Proposal shall
be in the form of a proposed resolution, which shall clearly and
concisely set out the Proposal for discussion and be relevant to the
Company’s business scope.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy
in April 2012, and subsequently updated in December 2015. A
Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board at the Registered
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall state
the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company, for any questions about their
shareholdings.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the Dividend Policy in January 2019. The
Company’s Dividend Policy aims at providing reasonable and
sustainable returns to its Shareholders whilst maintaining a position
of financial stability which allows the Company to take advantage of
any investment and expansion opportunities that may arise from time
to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual basis and/
or may declare interim dividends or special dividends. Proposal or
declaration of dividends by the Board is subject to consideration
of the Company’s and the Group’s operating results, accumulated
and future earnings, gearing, liquidity position, capital commitment
requirement and future expansion plan as well as general economic
conditions and external factors that may have impact on the financial
performance and position of the Company and the Group. In addition,
as the Company is a holding company, the Board will also consider
the dividends received from its subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as the ability to pay dividends by the Company is dependent
on the dividends received from those subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

The Board will regularly review the Dividend Policy and will amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy if necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also
about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory
changes and developments. Any views and suggestions from our
Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also
welcome.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25th March, 2022
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents its annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December, 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2021 are set out in notes 47, 48 and 49
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The breakdown
by principal activities of the Group’s revenue and the contribution to
profit before taxation for the year ended 31st December, 2021 is set
out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Detailed review of the Group’s business is set out in the Managing
Director’s Statement (“MDS”) on pages 6 and 7. Future development
of the Company’s business is set out in the MDS on page 7. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the MDS and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 16.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react to changes in market conditions and the
Group’s business strategy. The audit committee of the Company
(“Audit Committee”) reviews risk-related policies and scrutinises that
management has performed its duty to have effective risk management
and internal control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling
major risks arising from the Group’s business activities, changing
external risks and the regulatory environment, and reports to the
Board on the above.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Financial Risk

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Market risk concerns that the value of an investment will change due
to movements in market factors and which can be further divided
into interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. Credit
risk is the risk of losses arising from clients or counterparties failing
to make payments as contracted. Liquidity risk concerns that a given
security or asset cannot be traded readily in the market to prevent a
loss or make the required profit. Further discussion on financial risk
management is outlined in note 45b “Financial risk management
objective and policies” to the consolidated financial statements.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by
inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or external
events. Operational risk is mitigated and controlled through
establishing robust internal controls, setting out clear lines of
responsibility, proper segregation of duties and effective internal
reporting and contingency planning. It is our corporate culture that
the business and operating line management are fully aware of, and
responsible for, managing the operational risks of their business
units on a day-to-day basis. Independent monitoring and reviews are
conducted by the Internal Audit Function of the Group which reports
regularly to the Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee.

Uncertainties

The Group’s business and profitability growth in the year under
review are affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-
economic conditions in China. The policy change, interest rate
change, reserve requirement ratio change, demand-supply imbalance,
house price indexes and the overall economic conditions may induce
a material adjustment on the Group’s business, financial position and
results.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with the laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection legislated by the local government for developing and
managing the properties. The Group meets the criteria and standard
of noise pollution control, air pollution control, sewage drainage
system and construction waste treatment for construction as well as
encourages to make green in our projects.

The Group is also committed to building an eco-friendly corporation.
It is the Group’s aim to reduce the impacts of its operations on the
environment. The environmental policies of the Group include
minimising consumption of paper and electricity, reducing waste and
promoting the use of electronic communication and storage.

For further information about the environmental policies and
performance of the Group during the year, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report which will be
separately released on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the website of the Company
under the “ESG Reports” section, the discussions of which form part
of this report.

To access the online version of the ESG Report, please refer to the
website addresses set out in the “Corporate Information” on page 3 of
this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on page 101 and in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board has declared an interim dividend of HK20 cents per
share (in lieu of a final dividend) for the year ended 31st December,
2021 (2020 interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend): HK20
cents per share) payable on or around Friday, 29th April, 2022 to
the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
13th April, 2022. Details are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group acquired investment properties totalling
approximately HK$1,639,000 in value and certain inventories
of completed properties to a value of HK$2,155,341,000 were
transferred to investment properties. The Group revalued all of its
investment properties as at the year end date. The surplus arising
on the revaluation amounted to HK$1,201,593,000 and has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$55,069,000.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31st December,
2021 are set out on pages 30 to 46.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DEBENTURES
The Group has not issued any debentures during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the
end of the year.

BORROWINGS

Bank loans and other borrowings which are repayable within one year
or on demand are classified as current liabilities. Repayment analysis
of interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings are set out in notes 33
and 34 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Song Zengbin
Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles of Association”), Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei,
Dr. Moses Cheng Mo Chi, Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai and Mr. Jin
Hui Zhi shall retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company (“AGM”).

A list of names of all the directors who have served on the boards
of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of
this report are available on the website of the Company under the
“Corporate Governance” section.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Song Zengbin, aged 67, was appointed the Deputy Chairman and a
Non-Executive Director of the Company in June 2008 and was re-
designated as an Executive Director of the Company in April 2010.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Song
graduated from the Civil Engineering Department of Dalian University
of Technology with a Master’s Degree in Engineering and is a state
registered construction engineer. He has more than forty years of
experience in the fields of engineering and management by serving in
various senior roles in a design institute, several large state companies
and municipal government. Mr. Song has also been invited as a guest
professor for Dalian University of Technology since 2003.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 70, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in June 1996 and became the Chairman and
the Acting Managing Director of the Company in February 2004
and December 2005 respectively. He relinquished his role as the
Chairman and was re-designated from the Acting Managing Director
to the Managing Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Being an architect,
he worked for IBM Australia before becoming involved in property
development in Malaysia and Hong Kong more than thirty years
ago. He has extensive experience in the property field. Mr. Lee is
the chairman and an executive director of Asiasec Properties Limited
(“ASL”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He is a
cousin of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 61, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in August 1999. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo holds a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and is a
Chartered Secretary and a Chartered Governance Professional. He
had served various executive roles in several companies in Hong
Kong including as company secretary for public listed companies.
Mr. Lo is also an executive director of each of Allied Group Limited
(“AGL"), the ultimate holding company of the Company, and ASL, a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 57, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in October 2009 and was re-designated from the Financial
Controller to the Finance Director of the Company in July 2019. He is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the
Company in May 1994. Mr. Tao holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has
extensive experience in accounting, financial management and China
business field. Mr. Tao is an executive director of ASL, a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors

Lee Seng Hui, aged 53, was appointed the Chairman and a Non-
Executive Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated from the
Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours. Previously, he
worked with Baker & McKenzie and N M Rothschild & Sons (Hong
Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is also the chief executive and an executive
director of AGL, the ultimate holding company of the Company.
He is a non-executive director of APAC Resources Limited (“APAC
Resources”) and the non-executive chairman of Mount Gibson Iron
Limited (“Mount Gibson”). Mount Gibson is a company listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange. Mr. Lee was the chief executive and
an executive director of Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (a company
previously listed in Hong Kong). He is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee
Seng Wei (the Managing Director of the Company) and the brother-
in-law of Mr. Chew Chee Choong (the Group Chief Operating Officer
of the Company).
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Moses Cheng Mo Chi, aged 72, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in May 1997 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He is a practising solicitor and the consultant of P. C. Woo &
Co., a Hong Kong firm of solicitors after serving as its Senior Partner
from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng is currently a member of the Financial
Leaders Forum. Dr. Cheng was the founding chairman of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors of which he is now the Honorary President
and Chairman Emeritus. He was a member of the Legislative Council
of Hong Kong and the chairman of the Main Board Listing Committee
and the GEM Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and a member of the Financial Reporting Council in
Hong Kong. He was also the chairman of the Insurance Authority,
the Education Commission, the Free Kindergarten Education
Committee, the Advisory Committee on Post-office Employment for
former Chief Executives and Politically Appointment Officials, the
Advisory Committee on Post-service Employment on Civil Servants.
He also serves on the boards of various listed companies in Hong
Kong as independent non-executive director and non-executive
director, including China Mobile Limited, China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited, Guangdong Investment Limited, K. Wah
International Holdings Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited,
The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited and Towngas
Smart Energy Company Limited (formerly known as Towngas China
Company Limited). He was previously a non-executive director of
Kader Holdings Company Limited.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Francis Johnson Chang Chu Fai, aged 67, was appointed an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia
University in Montreal, Canada since 1976 and a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada
since 1977. He has over forty-four years of experience in banking,
corporate finance, investment and management and has held various
executive positions at financial institutions and directorships of listed
companies. Mr. Chang is currently an independent non-executive
director of APAC Resources.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Jin Hui Zhi, aged 62, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 2010. He holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration. He has extensive experience in the
business market. Mr. Jin is currently the chairman of Shanghai
Horizon Technology Development Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Horizon”,
formerly known as Shanghai Horizon Investment Co. Ltd.) and the
deputy president of the Youth Entrepreneur Association of Shanghai.
Shanghai Horizon is a company principally engaged in the investment
of three major industries, namely bio-engineering, environmental
protection and energy-saving and medical. Mr. Jin was formerly chief
member of Youth Work Ministry, chief member and deputy director
of Research Department, member of Standing Committee and minister
of Youth Work Ministry of China Communist Youth League Shanghai
Committee.

Ngai Wah Sang, aged 63, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science from the University of London in United
Kingdom and is a fellow of Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia) and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Hong Kong respectively. He has broad experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and dealing with business
development and investments and previously worked for international
accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
Mr. Ngai was appointed an independent non-executive director of
Alpha Professional Holdings Limited in October 2020. He served as
an independent non-executive director of Real Nutriceutical Group
Limited (a company previously listed in Hong Kong).

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 55, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in November 1999 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. She was re-designated from a Non-Executive Director to an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2007.
She graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Law and Economics and is also qualified as a solicitor in
Australia and England. She is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and
a consultant of ONC Lawyers. Ms. Yang is also an independent non-
executive director of each of AGL, the ultimate holding company of
the Company, ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and China Medical & HealthCare Group Limited.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Senior Management

Chew Chee Choong, aged 50, is the Group Chief Operating Officer
and a member of Executive Committee of the Company since January
2019. He joined the Group in October 2005 and was previously the
General Manager of the Group. Mr. Chew is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over twenty years of experience in
the fields of property construction and development. Mr. Chew is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).

Hu Aimin, aged 73, is the Director — Special Projects of the Group.
He joined the Group in April 2010 and was previously Deputy
Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company from April 2010
to September 2012. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Hu graduated from the Hunan University of China
with a Master’s Degree in Management. He has over forty years of
experience in administrative management, corporate governance and
human resources management.

Qu Hongliang, aged 51, is the Director — Investment Department of
the Group. He joined the Group in March 2019. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Qu holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Civil Engineering from Tongji University and an Executive
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from China Europe
International Business School. He has over twenty years of experience
in corporate operation and management.

Liu Kin Sun, aged 51, is the Group Financial Controller since July
2019. He joined the Group in June 1999. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an
associate of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The
Chartered Governance Institute. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu
had worked in an international accounting firm for six years. He has
extensive experience in accounting, financial management and China
business field.

Chen Saifang, aged 70, is the General Manager of the Southern
China Region. She joined the Group in April 2004. She is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Chen was
graduated with specialization in finance. She worked at the provincial
level institutions and listed companies in the mainland and Hong
Kong for more than forty years. She has extensive exposure and
working experience in finance, investment, project and corporate
management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Senior Management (continued)

Song Zhu Feng, aged 61,
Department of the Group. He joined the Group in December 2003.

is the General Manager of the Contracts

He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Song graduated from The Civil Engineering Department of Tsing Hua
University in Beijing with a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering. He
has over thirty years of experience in the fields of engineering and
property development.

Zhou Zhimin, aged 61,
Management Department of the Group. He joined the Group in April
1998. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Zhou graduated from the University of Mannheim in Germany with a
Licentiate’s Degree in International Economic Relations. He has over

is the General Manager of the Property

twenty years of experience in the fields of real estate development
and property management.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs”)) were appointed for a specific term of
two years which shall continue until 31st December, 2022 but subject
to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office.
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As at 31st December, 2021, Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Director, had
the following interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”), as recorded in

the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO:

BEEHR

Name of Director

NCIRE

Name of companies

BERHAR
HER 28 A
Number of
shares and
underlying shares
interested

HEBTRAG
HE oA L
Approximate %
of the total
number of

issued shares

REEME

Nature of interests

ZEp RRaEl(HiaE2) 745,269,096 50.83% Hibiges
Lee Seng Hui the Company (Note 2) (Bizt1) Other interests
(Note 1)
A SEER AR 2,635,105,180 74.96%  458,4200% 8 B ARz
(THE KB 1) (HaE3) (B1a1) (AE=HEB A
Allied Group (Note 1) S0RR)
Limited (“AGL") $22,634,646,7608%
(Note 3) B E fth iz
Personal interests
(held as
beneficial owner)
in 458,420 shares
and other interests in
2,634,646,760 shares
TEMERRAT 930,376,898 74.98% H s
([EEFEE |) (Arat4) (Kiz1) Other interests
Asiasec Properties (Note 1)
Limited (“ASL”)
(Note 4)
MBEARAR] 1,442,182,575 73.08% H s
([FTBE L) (Ki7#5) (Kiz1) Other interests
Sun Hung Kai & Co. (Note 1)

Limited (“SHK”)
(Note 5)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are
the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee
Trust controlled approximately 74.96% of the total number of issued shares of
AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests).

2. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by virtue of his interests in AGL, was deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company in which AGL was interested.

3. As at 31st December, 2021, AGL was the holding company of the Company
and therefore an associated corporation of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO.

4. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by virtue of his interests in the Company via AGL, was
deemed to be interested in the shares of ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and therefore an associated corporation of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

5. As at 31st December, 2021, SHK was a non wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL
and therefore an associated corporation of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO.

6. All interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2021, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the
businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with
the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out
below:

1. Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao
Tsan Sang are directors of ASL which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money lending,
property investment and property management;

2. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of a non wholly-owned subsidiary
of SHK which is engaged in the business of money lending;

3. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APAC Resources which, through
its subsidiary, is partly engaged in the business of money lending;

4. Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Edwin Lo King Yau are directors of
AGL which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment and property management; and

5. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust
which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, SHK,
APAC Resources, ASL and Tian An Australia Limited (“TIA”).
AGL and SHK through their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in
the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment and property management. APAC Resources, through
its subsidiary, is partly engaged in the business of money lending.
ASL, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the
businesses of money lending, property investment and property
management. TIA, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly
engaged in the business of property development.

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in
other companies by virtue of their respective common directorship or
shareholding, they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure
that they will act in the best interests of the Shareholders and the
Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of
carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the businesses of such companies.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the
Directors or an entity connected with the Directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts and the agreements relating to the
sharing of administrative services and management services as well as
internal audit services and management information system services as
detailed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”
on pages 87 to 89, no other contracts, relating to the management
and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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FERREREMALT ES SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

MEEMN R_ZT-_—F+=-_A=+—H"  To the best of Directors’ knowledge, as at 31st December, 2021,
RIEELS RS GOE36IERTEITELZE  the following Shareholders had interests in the shares or underlying

DS HAARRAFMMEAEIMIERZ 2  shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
MR under Section 336 of the SFO:

EERORAERD 2HE

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

(EPN £ i
(LBRERA . HEBT
B6EHR) LSt

Personal Corporate BB
Interests Interests Approximate %
(held as (interest of HipfEz EREH of the total
REER beneficial controlled Other Total number of
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests issued shares

BEKEARAR(HMEEE)) - 745,269,096 - 745,269,096 50.83%
Allied Group Limited (“AGL") (Hriz1) (Hi7z2)
(Note 1) (Note 2)
Lee and Lee Trust = 745,269,096 = 745,269,096 50.83%
(H1723) (fia2)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
PIA Ltd - - 273,946,570 273,946,570 18.69%
(VBB A (Hizt4)
F0hHE) (Note 4)
(held as
investment
manager)
Vigor Online Offshore Limited 139,796,000 - - 139,796,000 9.54%
(“Vigor Online”)
China Spirit Limited (“China Spirit”) = 139,796,000 - 139,796,000 9.54%
(Hiets)
(Note 5)
FE5Em - 141,796,000 - 141,796,000 9.67%
Chong Sok Un (Hiit6)

(Note 6)
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Name of Shareholders

SKK Special Situation Fund (“SKK”)

Argyle Street Management Limited
(“Argyle Street Management”)

Argyle Street Management Holdings
Limited (“Argyle Street Holdings”)

PR i
Chan Kin
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

BARER
(LAERBEBA
S5 EH)
Personal
Interests

(held as
beneficial
owner)

99,420,400

EERORABRG2HA

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

EEER
(8%
ZHEE)
Corporate
Interests
(interest of
controlled
corporation)

103,070,400

103,070,400

HitfEz
Other
Interests

103,070,400
(AREBEEEA
FFE)
(held as
investment
manager)

SRR
Total
Interests

99,420,400

103,070,400
(Hizt7)
(Note 7)

103,070,400
(Hiz8)
(Note 8)

103,070,400
(#1:£9)
(Note 9)

BT

R EE 2
BABEDH
Approximate %
of the total
number of
issued shares

6.78%

7.03%

7.03%

7.03%
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Br EXPTIEEIN

AR HFine Class Holdings Limited 2 & & F1/&
A@China Elite Holdings Limited([ China Elite])
A mMAERAMSME(FB)BERAA(HE
WE )z 2 EWBRR - BaRED R B E K EE
(FiBCapscore Limited * AR EBR AT LG
WIREBRAR - HABMAEEZEER2ENER
A BEAAMES BTN AEE H100% o B
A EEWIRVEH A China EliteFTHS B 2 IR 15 2 #2 o

LB TR S EB R A 2 A —1#6745,269,096 1% 1%

,f/'\ °

EEFTNEBEEERFNEL T RFKRELEY
FAlee and Lee Trust(ZHE(E1E) ZEFEA © Lee and
Lee TrustZ B & B B B1TR0D B 24 74.96%
(BREFFOBSEZEAER) SRR ERERS
£E(EBChina Elite) FTisH 2 8D 2 #x -

ZEREBIE()272,811,57008 881D 2 #EE ¢ (i)
FEE 1,135,000 AR RIMEBER D 2 AN A FIFE &
MRS HEE 2 TET A2 ik -

China Spirit#i B Vigor Online® &2 B1TARA - 5
WARVERE A Vigor OnlinePT#5 A 2 IR0 2 #s o

B RARERSBHE() A China Spiriti$ 8 .2139,796,000/%
A&7 : K(i)FaDiamond Success Limited([ Diamond
Success |)¥545 22,000,0000% &7 » LT L5
5||#%% Diamond Success 2 China Spirit2 B2 #1 T
AR - WS VEBEA Diamond SuccessChina Spirit
FESE 2 B fn 2 #at -

EHEArgyle Street ManagementfZ {2 E#} - Argyle
Street Management# 5 SKKE HE BT BIRFMRE
B - BUAR VEE B SKKPTH A 2 I 1 2 #2s -

Argyle Street Holdings# & Argyle Street Management
B EITRA - AR /EH A Argyle Street
ManagementffT#54G 2 I H 2 #eas o
BRIZSC A B Argyle Street Holdings B 81 TARANKY)
50.43%E 5 - HARIR/ESEB Argyle Street Holdings
FisE 2 Bty 2 #ess »

BirEESEBITE -
AREHEDERE—F+A=+—BAERQA
BTN AEEN,466,069,491 AR {EH o

RZE—_—F+=_H

=t—H ARAYEENSFERMEMAL
RAR R ABRA A 12 o B B AR SR INMR IR
EFMHBEGRIIEGREMFE ZERMH
R EfIERETOXR ©

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1.

10.

11.

The interest was held by China Elite Holdings Limited (“China Elite”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Fine Class Holdings Limited which in turn was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”). AGL directly
and indirectly (through Capscore Limited, Citiwealth Investment Limited and
Sunhill Investments Limited, all being direct wholly-owned subsidiaries of
AGL) owned in aggregate 100% of the total number of issued shares of APL.
AGL was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which China
Elite was interested.

This represents the same interests of AGL in 745,269,096 shares.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee
Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust.
The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.96% of the total number
of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests)
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL was
interested through China Elite.

These include (i) an interest in 272,811,570 shares; and (ii) an interest in
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 1,135,000
underlying shares of the Company.

China Spirit owned the entire issued share capital of Vigor Online and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Vigor Online was
interested.

The interests include (i) 139,796,000 shares held by China Spirit; and (ii)
2,000,000 shares held by Diamond Success Limited (“Diamond Success”).
Ms. Chong Sok Un owned the entire issued share capital of Diamond Success
and China Spirit respectively and was therefore deemed to have an interest in
the shares in which Diamond Success and China Spirit were interested.

Based on the information provided by Argyle Street Management, Argyle Street
Management owned the entire issued voting share capital of SKK and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which SKK was interested.

Argyle Street Holdings owned the entire issued share capital of Argyle Street
Management and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in
which Argyle Street Management was interested.

Mr. Chan Kin owned approximately 50.43% interests in the issued share
capital of Argyle Street Holdings and was therefore deemed to have an interest
in the shares in which Argyle Street Holdings was interested.

All interests stated above represent long positions.

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,069,491 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31st December, 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2021, the Company

was not notified of any other persons having any interests or short

positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 2nd January,
2020 and the 2020 Annual Report of the Company, on 2nd January,
2020, (i) the Company entered into a sharing of administrative
services and management services agreement (“2020 TACI Services
Agreement”) with AGL, pursuant to which the Company agreed
to reimburse AGL the actual costs incurred in respect of (a) the
administrative services, including the corporate secretarial services,
provision of registered office address, utilities services including
water, electricity, telephone (including international telephone
services) and internet, photocopying, postal, courier, delivery and
other services ancillary to the day-to-day administration and operation
of the Group (“Administrative Services”) provided by AGL and (b)
the management services, including the management, consultancy,
strategic, internal audit, management information system consultancy
and business advice services (“Management Services”) provided by
the senior management and the selected staff of AGL to the Group
for a period of three years commenced from 1st January, 2020 to 31st
December, 2022; and (ii) ASL entered into an internal audit services
and management information system services agreement (“2020 ASL
Services Agreement”) with AGL, pursuant to which ASL agreed to
reimburse AGL the actual costs incurred in respect of the internal
audit services and the management information system services (“IA
and MIS Services”) provided by the senior management and the
selected staff of AGL to ASL and its subsidiaries (“ASL Group”) for
a period of three years commenced from 1st January, 2020 to 31st
December, 2022.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by being the Chairman and a Non-Executive
Director of the Company, a member of the management staff
providing the Management Services and also one of the trustees
of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust which, together
with his personal interests, controlled approximately 74.96% of the
total number of issued shares of AGL as at 31st December, 2021, is
deemed to be interested in the 2020 TACI Services Agreement. Mr.
Edwin Lo King Yau, by being an Executive Director of the Company
and a member of the management staff providing the Management
Services, is deemed to be interested in the 2020 TACI Services
Agreement.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The aggregate amount of the costs paid by the Group in respect of
the Management Services provided by AGL under the 2020 TACI
Services Agreement for the year ended 31st December, 2021 was
HK$52,486,000, which was within the annual cap of HK$69,300,000
as set for such financial year. The aggregate amount of the costs paid
by ASL Group in respect of the IA and MIS Services provided by
AGL under the 2020 ASL Services Agreement for the year ended 31st
December, 2021 was HK$340,000, which was within the annual cap
of HK$396,000 as set for such financial year.

As AGL, a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company, is regarded as a connected person of the Company,
the entering into of the 2020 TACI Services Agreement, the 2020 ASL
Services Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules. The transaction regarding the
sharing of the Administrative Services under the 2020 TACI Services
Agreement is fully exempt under Rules 14A.73(8) and 14A.98 of
the Listing Rules. Whereas, the transactions regarding the sharing of
the Management Services under the 2020 TACI Services Agreement
and the sharing of the IA and MIS Services under the 2020 ASL
Services Agreement are subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent
shareholders” approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions regarding (i) the
sharing of the Management Services under the 2020 TACI Services
Agreement; and (ii) the sharing of the IA and MIS Services under the
2020 ASL Services Agreement, and are of the view that although the
transactions were not conducted in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, they have confirmed that the transactions were
entered into:

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(ii) according to the respective agreements governing the transactions

on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions regarding the sharing of the Management
Services under the 2020 TACI Services Agreement and the sharing
of the IA and MIS Services under the 2020 ASL Services Agreement
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued its unqualified letter confirming that nothing has come
to its attention that cause it to bring to the attention of the Board
pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor's
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

OTHER INFORMATION
Financial assistance to affiliated companies

Since that the financial assistance by the Group to affiliated
companies and guarantees given by the Group for facilities granted
to affiliated companies together in aggregate exceeded 8% under the
assets ratio defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules continued
to exist as at 31st December, 2021, the Group is required to comply
with Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary
of unaudited combined statements of financial position of those

affiliated companies prepared from their financial statements as at
31st December, 2021 and adjusted, where appropriate, to conform
with the Group’s accounting policies:

TR
HK$’000

FEMBEE Non-current assets 26,648,976
mBNEE Current assets 40,936,222
mENEE Current liabilities (29,824,580)
FEmBEE Non-current liabilities (27,394,711)
JEPE R A A Non-controlling interests (217,400)
BESE Net assets 10,148,507
REBRGEEEFE Net assets attributable to the Group 4,804,297




90

Annual Report 2021

EEERSE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BEREI

W-B-—F+-"F=+—H0 A&£BE(H
FEWBAR  BTEEBRLATIRASD
EVEM1329( T -TF+_-_A=+—8":
1,337)% BT o ANEE R E BN E E 1548
H o WikE BRI IE & RICALEE) - A&
EFARBESXEHERBERNEZ N - THA
BELZHABEREY MREREREZENE
BIRHEAL -

RZTE_—F+_A=+—H8 KEFEEA
BB

RAEEAL

Qualified
Professionals

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

EMPLOYEE AND TRAINING

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group including its subsidiaries
but excluding associates and joint ventures, employed 1,329 (31st
December, 2020: 1,337) persons. The Group maintains a policy of
paying competitive remuneration packages and employees are also
rewarded on performance related basis including salary and bonus.
The Group recognises the importance of continuing professional
education and development, and appropriate courses are arranged on
a periodical basis as well as subsidies are granted to employees who
take job-related courses.

The profile of the Group’s management staff as at 31st December,
2021 is listed below:

REEHESE
University
Graduates

55 AT
Age 55 or Below

55 A E
Age Over 55

B

Hong Kong
21t

Northern China
25

Eastern China
7

Southern China

Hit - BN TRAEBABNSHR Z BN

EREEETNASE AR BILEE
RENBBABIBEIIRE - IR AIRET
MWmZEENRHETHRAREE - TEER
AEH M S REREMBHMARME12 - 137
43 °

27 (77%)

26 (74%)

59 (50%)

9 (50%)

31 (89%) 11 (31%) 24 (69%)

34 (97 %) 28 (80%) 7 (20%)

86 (72%) 81 (68%) 38 (32%)

18 (100%) 15 (83%) 3 (17%)

Note: The numbers in bracket show the percentage of management staff in the
region.

Quality staff has always been the Group’s indispensable intangible
asset. Training programmes were organised during the year to ensure
that both the market sensitivity of the front line people and the cost
consciousness of the back office staff were well maintained. The
emoluments of key management personnel can be seen by reference
to notes 12, 13 and 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 10% and 37% of
the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares, had a beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Save for the Company’s purchase of its own shares on the Stock
Exchange which were subsequently cancelled as disclosed below,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31st

December, 2021. The Directors believe that the repurchase of shares
would lead to an enhancement of the net asset value per share and/or
earnings per share of the Company.

ENRERE

(Ret ABAZAN)

ERER G E BEE Aggregate
Number of Purchase price consideration
shares Ba BIK paid (before
repurchased Highest Lowest expenses)
ABTT BT BT

HK$ HK$ HK$

20,609,000 4.50 4.50 92,740,500
7,378,000 4.50 4.41 33,140,720
6,569,000 4.50 4.50 29,560,500
22,000 4.21 4.15 92,360
34,578,000 155,534,080
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$2,532,000 during the
year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 47 to 68.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25th March, 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte
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TO THE MEMBERS OF
TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
An China Investments Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
101 to 279, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st December, 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

RRELEE
Key Audit Matter

BARBELTEEFARELSRZLE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FREUE BRVUEXFEURCRINEFEZMGE
Valuation of properties for development, inventories
of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties

s BEREZHFERDE(SFERDE]  BHERTY
XEE((BERTYEDRERIVEFE((HEEWE]D
MEEEESBREZER AABEFERYMEZAIK
ElE R RERTPYERFHEYER 2 AIERFE(ATER
FEDSRERAEG Kb R T —F+ A=+~
A BEEEEAFEREY2,048561,00087T  EHEF
#2£5,977,771,0007%8 7T KA 3H & ¥151,792,970,00078 7T
(%D - BamESUNFPEARKMBE([HE])
R -

We identified the valuation of the Group’s properties for
development (“PFD”), inventories of properties under
development (“PUD”) and inventories of completed
properties (“PFS”) as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgments and estimations involved in the
determination of the recoverable amount of PFD and
the net realisable value (“NRV”) of PUD and PFS.
As at 31st December, 2021, the Group had PFD of
HK$2,048,561,000, PUD of HK$5,977,771,000 and
PFS of HK$1,792,970,000 (collectively referred to the
“Properties”), all of which are situated in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Australia.

BPEREERBEYE 2 HEZNERERFBHE
Our procedures in relation to evaluating management’s
assessment of the valuation of the properties included:

o HARHARIZBSED - BN REEIE
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

s FRUBERBBTEMRMSEE  SHEGBETER
EZ2H(BREEBLEMREMZYETE - &
REE FERZEMRBER) 2B

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
techniques and the significant inputs including
properties market price, gross development value,
developer’s profit and discount rate adopted by
management and the Valuers by comparing to
entity-specific information and market data;

o BBHRERFERRMERBERPME A REK
A BREBRUMEZERFERAN - MEFEZ
RAZ &R K

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
cost to completion of PFD and PUD, on a sample
basis, by comparing them to actual development
costs of similar properties of the Group; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BMRELhRERRERSERZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BFRERYE  BEDYEFEURERIVEFE 2HGE
(%)

Valuation of properties for development, inventories
of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties (continued)

ERESEIE LA ERE RGN ([HEE ) ETZ
HEEESERMEZAROSBERERPYE 2T E
BRE - MERERSNEEBEAEG M A z2ETEES
¥ BRBRAE  REBIENREEEX - I B
E2%Z BEHRBECDRTHEBZERFAERANGRTRFHE
BRMERBERTYERIRLKA

Management determined the recoverable amount of PFD
and the NRV of PUD with reference to recent valuations
performed by independent and qualified professional
valuers (the “Valuers”). The valuations are dependent
on certain significant inputs that involve management’s
judgments and estimations, including gross development
value, developer’s profit and discount rate. In addition,
the management estimated future cost to completion of
PFD and PUD with reference to the actual development
cost of the Group’s completed projects.

BEEEEEETEEZ BREETEEMNZERER 28R
DMEBRSBUNER G ORHE - E2EHEED
RZfhrtmEETHEEM R 2T FE -

Management determined the NRV of PFS with reference
to the estimated market prices of PFS, which takes into
account a number of factors including recent market
prices achieved for similar property types in the same
project or by similar properties in the PRC and Australia.

HIEEYE 2 RMER L1500 TERBEE_T_—F
T-A=t—BULFEZBETEZ -

A reversal of write-down of PFS of HK$815,000 was
credited to the profit or loss for the year ended 31st
December, 2021.

o BBSEMRFBEBXAELBYMEMSIOHMERFN
HEREBMAHREENEZGAEEERNE - B
REHZMYE BEREXFELPEERMNEHEDSZ
2R SHAEREMAZAELBYEZERE -

e Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
selling prices of PFS used by management with
reference to recent market prices achieved in
the same projects or by comparable properties,
including an evaluation of the appropriateness of the
comparable properties used by management based
on our knowledge of the Group’s businesses and the
real estate markets in the PRC and Australia.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BMRELTRERRERSER 22X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREWMEZGE

Valuation of investment properties

BARREME 2 HEERSBREZSEE  RESES
HREFAMBRABEMS cERLERBEAABEY
REEHE AR

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the significant judgments and estimations
associated with determining the fair value.

IR A M BRERM T 18 RE - EXEZREMEE
R E  HEEREEZHNE 85 FEEL - F
EEM BHREE KT —F+A=t—HZA
7t E1E%316,686,312,000/E T

As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties which
represent office buildings, car parking spaces, residential
units, retail stores, a shopping mall and hotel located
in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom were
carried at fair value of HK$16,686,312,000 as at 31st
December, 2021.

BERBZMARENEINSEFEMET ZAERRIAE
BEE - HEDE  GREMBZEERRLIZ2HZH
BRERE MG IRRM 184 FE - MEKRER SR EREH
B ETERRRIREIRZ2H - SRERKER
BBk @RS s MEENES - MISEMHEE
& BRABOENMMERE  BRE  EREXREEES -
All of the Group’s investment properties are measured
at fair value with reference to the valuations performed
by the Valuers. Details of the valuation techniques,
significant assumptions and key inputs used in the
valuations are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements. The valuations are dependent
on certain significant assumptions and key inputs that
involve management’s judgments and estimations,
including term yield, reversionary yield, market unit rent
of individual unit, market unit sales rate, developer’s
profit and risk rate, discount rate, growth rate and
estimated rent.

BB ERENR 2 BEZRZFERE
Our procedures in relation to evaluating the valuation of
investment properties included:

o FHMARHERIZBSESN - BB REEIM
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

o IEBMMETS 2 RBAANFHER 2 EETE - (AEMR
RNz E2RR - HEMAZERHHFELLRTES
2

e Understanding the performance of the property
markets and the Valuers’ valuation techniques,
significant assumptions adopted and critical
judgmental areas on key inputs used in the
valuations;

o FHETTERRB2MEETNERBRRZAEN &
e Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
techniques and assumptions to industry norms; and

s EBRUBEBBTEZEAMLTSHE FHEEER
FHER AT IR 2 T2 2Bz AR -

e Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
adopted by management and the Valuers by
comparing them, on a sample basis, to entity-
specific information and market data.
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SEERIZIELE - bR 2N EE A E
BRAIITH % - BRIBRANBESE RER
PRI

SEHE ©

i e =
BERERARER

A]

ERENMBHREEE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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# Py B R RRIBEEE LR BERDIFE 405 ¥ 47
BV BHRRERESD N FEANKEFHHERM
BYHNEAHERBOARGEERE - LHAS

BRMBERNZEENRE - ROITERANRES
WABRRERNEMALTE ESAEEAEE -
BEAFRERSKFHORE  ETERERRE
BETERETOER - ER - EXRERRM
TRERT AR 3E IR - $RARMR LA A fh KRR kg8 AR
51 - IREERHT MIEBRELEKA A
FEGEMBRREMERBY BRRMED
MR EIRTE - A B B A SRR A IR AR (F
%) o

ERBEEBENEUETESTBIET - A
ERTERHE  REFREREE - &
DI

o BRI N EHE R EREF S B AR T E BUAR A BT
BHRRFEERBRAORR - ReT R
HITEREFABREZERAR - ARER
FERMEE R ERE  (FREFERD
Eit - XN EFFA RS R BER - B - &
BER- ?ﬁ@t&é%ﬁ%%ﬁmﬁ
N B R AL IR A IKGF M B B A
AR R SRR R AR MG
M EKSARRERAM AR ©

o THREERSHBOANMES - ARFTEE
EZIER - XIS Y E%IW%
ZHRINERIEERER -

o FHEEFEAEAEBRINREEREL
SR MERE R EN QIR -

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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s HEERAKERKESTERNREEIE
HER - WIRIBFAERNEZRE  #E
EEFERFHEIBREBENEATEE
- WA AREERY AEKENRELE
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THEEN AV EEZBERETIRSG
EREIRGEAMBRETOEBKE -
MAEBBENR - RIBMIELASFERE
BR - BMNERDERBEREARE
HHEIEFTERIS B RIERE - AT - RKRZE
HHIERA SN EREEESELE -

o FERAMBEBRNERIHRSA - BB
MR  BERE  UREEHB®REKE
BRFERRBERXHMER -

e B BEEBEAERIEBTBHOUBKES
ERRR  BENBRREE UWEHHE
MHHRRBERER - ZAMBAEREEZD
A BEEMRT - RASES B RAE

2EEE-

FrREMEIRIN - RPIEDRIRERE T 5B
FTEE - BETH  EAEFERRE B8R
PR AT Rl N ERES R O T A EREA

BfYEFREERRBHA  SARMACTAE
BB MEMARERERER  YEMFIEE
BrIgEABEMKR RS ERMIBILENAE
FAEMEMER - UAREERNIBERT - 86
KB 815 ©

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Keung To Wai, David.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25th March, 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021
2021 2020
k=3 TET FAET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 5 2,574,680 2,359,440
THER A Cost of sales (1,154,749) (1,395,361)
EF Gross profit 1,419,931 964,079
PN E Other income and gains 7 334,918 407,282
5 Mo HE R Marketing and distribution expenses (118,610) (93,813)
1TEE F Administrative expenses (346,920) (323,365)
Hith & & Other operating expenses (2,794) (22,363)
FBIBRIEAABERE  Netincrease (decrease) in fair value of
ZEMEEZAAEE financial assets at fair value through
AN CRLA) profit or loss 40,712 (30,040)
FBEFEAABMERE  Net decrease in fair value of equity
ZBEARBH 2 AAEE securities at fair value through
SR profit or loss (3,765) (3,678)
JRE W &R S R MR B 2 Net impairment losses on loans receivable
FREERE and interest receivables (154,192) (123,545)
DR TYHEFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
KEMEZ R BAE of completed properties to investment
Was properties 847,607 76,470
WEWEAREEZ Increase (decrease) in fair value of
#anCE L) investment properties 353,986 (166,467)
FERMZE Impairment loss on properties for
R EEE development 19 = (140,279)
G ES Amortisation of properties for
5y development (26,929) (40,485)
HENE QG2 W Gain on disposals of subsidiaries 8 = 322,034
BB Finance costs 9 (167,541) (207,629)
FE(REE S AN BLEF(E1E) Share of profit (loss) of associates 2,029 (68,545)
FE(HE SR Share of profit of joint ventures 444,411 365,076
BRA A A Profit before tax 2,622,843 914,732
A Taxation 10 (1,226,507) (346,890)
I A Profit for the year 11 1,396,336 567,842
AEERF(EE)EWET © Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
VNN Owners of the Company 1,430,348 618,037
I IR Non-controlling interests (34,012) (50,195)
1,396,336 567,842
BT #BTT
HK$ HK$
BREAT| Earnings per share 14
BN Basic 0.96 0.41
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B2 2 —Ft+t-A=1t—HLHFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2021 2020
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEE @A Profit for the year 1,396,336 567,842
ErmkzE(BER) Other comprehensive income (expense)
TEEFHEEZERT Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
IBH :
BERZNERMEL Exchange differences arising on translation
ZIERER to presentation currency 493,471 825,323
JEIRERE R A k& EME  Share of other comprehensive income of
2 E A 2 E S associates and joint ventures 212,909 373,694
FRHEMEEBERE Net change in fair value of equity instruments
’\fi BERE 2 IR at fair value through other comprehensive
BERARBEFED income (96,786) (91,539)
% ﬂﬁ\ T EE Deferred tax effect on change in fair value of
NRBEREZBRA an equity instrument at fair value
TARREBEZES through other comprehensive
IR TER e A income 523 1,004
610,117 1,108,482
BEzrlge B DEE Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
BHEMIER : or loss:
MEIBINEISES 2 Exchange differences arising on translation of
EHER foreign operations (17,759) 32,930
EHAh Others 424 340
(17,335) 33,270
REEEMEEWEE Other comprehensive income for the year 592,782 1,141,752
AEE2EU BT Total comprehensive income for the year 1,989,118 1,709,594
AEE2EWEE(EBH)4A% Total comprehensive income (expense)
JEETT for the year attributable to:
ViNNE )i 323 Owners of the Company 2,024,530 1,746,354
el Non-controlling interests (35,412) (36,760)

1,989,118 1,709,594
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RZZE_—F+=ZA=+—H
At 31st December, 2021
2021 2020
B EE FHET FA&T
NOTES HK$/000 HK$’000
FREBEE Non-current assets
WE -~ BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 16 318,984 259,525
EREEE Right-of-use assets 17 38,002 37,984
WEWEE Investment properties 18 16,686,312 13,083,211
SR ES Properties for development 19 2,048,561 2,304,242
Hih EE - EER Other assets — properties interests 16,685 16,608
REEE QB2 Interests in associates 20 2,369,865 2,768,634
RELEE#ER Interests in joint ventures 21 8,665,117 7,536,982
FEWE K Loans receivable 28 488,027 210,464
BBBHERAABEREZ  Financial assets at fair value through
TRIEE profit or loss 22 505,614 388,878
FBEMEBEKEL AL Equity instruments at fair value through
BEEEZIRATA other comprehensive income 23 187,952 283,981
BLEass Club memberships 4,261 4,261
BEIETIEEE Deferred tax assets 38 116,437 125,698
31,445,817 27,020,468
REEE Current assets
MEFE Inventories of properties 24
— RS — under development 5,977,771 5,932,953
—B®T — completed 1,792,970 1,334,419
Hiiz & Other inventories 25 7,195 11,069
AN DG Amounts due from associates 26 = 25,772
BEBFERNR Amounts due from joint ventures 27 2,392,230 1,450,735
FEWE TR Loans receivable 28 613,345 1,204,005
R 5 B A FEUBR R - Trade and other receivables, deposits and
e RIARR prepayments 29 457,010 431,882
FBBERAAEERIELZ  Financial assets at fair value through
TREE profit or loss 22 51,866 255,822
BBBHERAABERIEZ  Equity securities at fair value through
P AN7E 7 profit or loss 30 54,903 56,324
TR IR Prepaid tax 53,850 3,747
FRYEHEIR Z SRITER Pledged bank deposits 44 683 709
RITHEGF MRS Bank balances and cash 4,344,831 4,892,742
15,746,654 15,600,179
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

WZZE-—F+=-A=+—H
At 31st December, 2021

2021 2020
FEE THET FAET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
mEEE Current liabilities
R 5 R EAERBRFK Trade and other payables 31 2,093,571 1,390,988
AHaE Contract liabilities 32 2,965,991 1,708,450
MIEEE Tax liabilities 1,973,396 1,594,960
M EER Interest-bearing borrowings 33 3,114,959 1,827,289
LBEER Interest-free borrowings 34 817,509 1,726,296
10,965,426 8,247,983
REBEEFE Net current assets 4,781,228 7,352,196
HEERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 36,227,045 34,372,664
BARF#EE Capital and reserves
RN Share capital 35 3,788,814 3,788,814
B Reserves 36 23,806,545 21,870,541
RABIRREGEZ Equity attributable to owners of
s the Company 27,595,359 25,659,355
IR i Non-controlling interests 616,357 1,313,704
R Total equity 28,211,716 26,973,059
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R-ZB——%+-A=1—H
At 31st December, 2021
2021 2020
bz FER FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
f SR Interest-bearing borrowings 33 4,441,074 4,568,576
—ZMPZIEIEAS WA Deferred rental income from a tenant 37 = 8,461
MPzHEEES Rental deposits from tenants 28,284 23,591
RETHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 38 3,545,971 2,798,977
8,015,329 7,399,605
36,227,045 34,372,664

TEHNFI101BEF2798 2 A BB HERD K The consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 279 were
TE-—F-A -+ RHHELEESEBLIXE  approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25th

TEE - WHTIHIESRREE March, 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau

FHE BRth

Director Director

EF EF
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ARRRRER
Attributable to owners of the Company
ik E%
KR SDER SFRRES
e Special  Echange  Effi  HApREE  ZHER Non-  B&HEE
Share capital  translation  Revaluation Other Retained & controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserves reserves earnings Total interests equity
TR TEL TEL TR T TEL TEL TEL TR
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
(itss)  (Hitz6)
()
(note 36) (note 36)
(Note i)
“5%-A-H At Tst January, 2020 3,788,814 1,417,669 (111,852) (138,847) (326,154) 19,621,346 24,250,976 1344195 25,595,171
HERZIERAELL Exchange differences arising on translation
35353 to presentation currency - - 810,575 - - - 810,575 14,748 825,323
BERISHIEE. Exchange differences arising on translation
HEE of foreign operations - - 32,930 - - - 32,930 - 32,930
ElBeRAARAELEL Share of other comprehensive income of
Eth2ENE associates and joint ventures - - 373,694 - - - 373,694 - 373,694
EREMEZERERAAEERE  Net change in fair value of equity
LBATEDAEE instruments at fair value through other
32 comprehensive income - - - (90,226) - - (90,226) (1313) (91,539)
BREMZENERLA Deferred tax effect on change in
EfEREZRALE fair value of an equity instrument at
AnBEZED fair value through other
EHENYE comprehensive income - - - 1,004 - - 1,004 - 1,004
-4 Others - - - - 340 - 340 - 340
RERRMNEE) Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 616,037 618,037 (50,195 567,842
TEERENG(BR) 48 Total comprehensive income (expense)
forthe year - S99 8922 M0 61807 174635 (67600 1,709,59
REFEARES Capital contribution from a
EIEYSIN non-controlling interest - - - - - - - 222 210
WE-EREARNENMER  Acquisition of additional interest
(Hiii) in a subsidiary (Note i - - 9,970 - (48,373) - (36,403) (7,153) (45,556)
—AHBLFEER Repurchase and cancellation of
Racl U shares of a subsidiary - - - - 557 - 557 (1,033) (476)
HENBARRHES Transfer on disposal of subsiiaries
(Hrzs) (note 8) - - 15,195 (65) - 15130 - - -
REE Dividend recognised s distribution
(W215) (note 15) . . . : SB01Y (300129) S B0
REDETHER Dividend distributed to
Ex non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (7,767) (7,767)
RIZZFETf=T-H At31st December, 2020 3,768,814 1,417,669 1,130,512 (228,134) (373,630) 19,924,124 25,659,355 1,313,704 26,973,059
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HE_Z-_—F+-A=+—HItFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

AARRRES
Attributable to owners of the Company
K EX
BARE  YERR FERES
BA  Special  Exchange  Efiff  EttRE A Non-  REEE
Share capital ~ translation  Revaluation Other ~ Retained @zt controlling Total
capital reserve reserve  reserves  reserves  earnings Total interests equity
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR T T
HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
(Wss)  (Hitss)
(i)
(note 36) (note 36)
(Notei)
- At st anuary, 2021 3708814 1417669 1130512 (2813 (73630) 19924124 25639355 1313704 26973059
BERSTIEHAELL Exchange differences arising on translation to
EfzE presentation currency - - 495,987 - - - 495,987 2,516) 493471
BEBNSBHELL Exchange differences arising on translation of
EXEE foreign operations - - (17,759) - - - (17,759) - (17,759)
EEBERARAEREL Share of other comprehensive income of
ErEka associates and joint ventures = - 211,5% = = - 211,5% 1,315 212,909
FEEMZERGERAABE Net change in fair value of
EEZWYIEMLF B2 equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income - - - (96,587) - - (96,587) (199) (96,786)
%@H%ME ERRERE Deferred tax effect on change in fair value of
E BIRATEDAEEL an equity instrument at fair value through other
Y RN E comprehensive income - - - 523 - - 523 - 523
e Others - - - - 424 - 424 - 424
TEERH(EE) Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 1,430,348 1,430,348 (34,012) 1,396,336
TERRENE(BR)EE Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year - - 689822 (96,064) 44 1430348 2024530  (35412) 1,989,118
~EHELIAELANELTER  Transfer of a subsidiary from a non-wholly owned
E2EMBAR i) subsidiary to a wholly-owned subsidiary (Note i) - - - - 367,137 - 367,137 (367,137) -
HEMBRARLER Transferred and realised on deregistration of
K25 a subsidiary - - (529) - - 529 - 21) (1)
BREATEEEAZNET Transfer from special capital reserve to
(Hiso) retained earings (note 50) - (1,417,669 - - - 1,417,669 - - -
ﬁxﬁ (TS Dividend recognised as distribution (note 15) - - - - - (300,129)  (300,129) - (300,129
RENRFHERER Dividend distributed to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (294,777 (294,777)
IR B Hit35) Repurchase of shares (note 35 - - - - - (155534)  (155,534) - (155,534)
R-E--F+-fA=+-H At 31st December, 2021 3,788,814 - 1819805 (324,198) (6,069) 22,317,007 27,595,359 616,357 28,211,716

Hist - Notes:

(i) REZ_—F—-A-BAR-ZT_—F+_A=4— () Revaluation reserves of the Group as at Tst January, 2021 and 31st
B AEEEGHRFEREEBEMEEVERAA December, 2021 comprise the investment revaluation reserve arising from
BERE/ BATARABEABMELZIRES the fair value adjustment on equity instruments at fair value through other
b f#E LA&FL%?&ﬁ%%%%%EEPﬁEE comprehensive income and property revaluation reserve arising from
ZEE LR revaluation of properties upon transfer to investment properties.

(i) REBE_ZT_-F B=+—HIEFER - & (i) During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Company acquired an
A R LA (B 45,556, OOO/%TE( LR BEEReNRE additional 40% interest in a subsidiary at a consideration of HK$45,556,000,
27,778,000/ 7T & ez 17, 78,0005 7T) W BE which comprises cash consideration of HK$27,778,000 and loan assignment
— B 8 1 By RSN O%FEm B NGI AL of HK$17,778,000. The subsidiary was established in the People’s Republic
EARAMB([HEDFMEZIAFEREYE of China (“PRC”) and principally engaged in property development. The
?é)?%% o JEVERR o 4E R B (G B B R E7,153,00078 difference of HK$48,373,000 between the relevant share of net assets by the

I B B X,)F 8 4 859,970,00075 7T B non-controlling interests of HK$7,153,000, exchange translation reserve of
1%1%45,556,0005%7‘52?@E’\J%%ma,sn,oooféﬁa HK$9,970,000 of the subsidiary and the consideration of HK$45,556,000
RE M R o was recognised in other reserves.

(i) RBEE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIFERN - —M (i) During the year ended 31st December, 2021, a subsidiary had been
WEAREIFEZEMBLREEETLEWB AR - transferred from a non-wholly owned subsidiary to a wholly-owned
B MBARSEANEEETHBAR - WHE subsidiary. The subsidiary transferred holds certain subsidiaries and indirectly

HEXEEETREAARCECE i xe

B2 N B 2 s BB A EL R

[EE48P 55 -

holds interests in certain associates and joint ventures of the Group. For the
changes in percentages of ownership of the principal associates, it has been
disclosed in note 48.
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RERETRY X
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

B2 2 —Ft+t-A=1t—HLHFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2021 2020
THERT T
HK$'000 HK$’000
LEXY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BR 74 A % Profit before tax 2,622,843 914,732
. Adjustments for:
ﬁf@ﬂﬂl/\&ﬂﬂlﬁ?& Other income and gains
% BUA - Dividend income (6,264) (2,914)
—fﬁﬂf AN JERE R ~ Interest income on bank deposits and
FEHA loans receivable (163,231) (225,977)
—5?5@/\ E TSI ~ Interest income from joint ventures (93,327) (79,961)
BRBRERAE TEFEEEZ Net (increase) decrease in fair value of
SRMEEZ AL BES financial assets at fair value through
(i mgEd profit or loss (40,712) 30,040
BiRER ?Tz’&ﬁfgfﬁféiﬁz Net decrease in fair value of
BAZESZ 2 DA BEE equity securities at fair value through
A profit or loss 3,765 3,678
—RMPZEERS KA Deferred rental income from a tenant (8,771) (8,461)
E&I%%Tmﬁﬁéi Fair value gain on transfer of
HEMRZ RAEE inventories of completed properties to
e investment properties (847,607) (76,470)
BEMERABEZGEM)HEY  (Increase) decrease in fair value of investment properties (353,986) 166,467
ERINERFE Reversal of write-down of inventories of
ZR(ERE completed properties (815) (268)
HERME 2 RERE Impairment loss on properties for development = 140,279
Jﬂl&(% o K% U 2, Net impairment losses on loans receivable and
FREER interest receivables 154,192 123,545
[EREE AR (ARl B Share of (profit) loss of associates (2,029) 68,545
1 ElEE & EET Share of profit of joint ventures (444,411) (365,076)
pﬂléﬁkﬂi Finance costs 167,541 207,629
TEREHE Depreciation and amortisation 40,844 53,415
HENB AR M Gain on disposals of subsidiaries = (322,034)
PERTEDE  HWEREZEZ  Loss (gain) on disposal and write-off of property,
BRME) plant and equipment 64 (73)
HEECEHR Operating cash inflows before movements
EEREMA in working capital 1,028,096 627,096
MEFE(EM) R (Increase) decrease in inventories of properties (1,621,768) 318,270
FERMERMBEEE Increase in properties for development and deposits for
MEZREEM acquisition of properties for development (340,200) (1,529,912)
HevrEm A (8m) Decrease (increase) in other inventories 3,874 (9,608)
R 5 REA YRS - (Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables,
e RANROEM)FD> deposits and prepayments (104,687) 444,625
FRRRRAABEREL Decrease in equity securities at fair value
BRAEFR D through profit or loss 618 836
RHE ZIRIFRRL () Decrease (increase) in restricted bank deposits 271,917 (664,092)
RHREMBEFEFIEMCAL)  Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 648,227 (256,263)
BHBEEN Increase in contract liabilities 1,195,037 577,814
HPzBemEEm Increase in rental deposits from tenants 3,830 1,025
KRE(BR)BEER ES Cash from (used in) operations 1,084,944 (490,209)
EPEMEMER - LHEER  PRC Enterprise Income Tax, Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”),
(THHIBER ) - BIMUER overseas tax and Hong Kong
BRMEH Profits Tax paid (265,506) (231,504)
PRI G TR PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded 388 4,834

RE(BR)EELBK2BEELFE  NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 819,826 (716,879
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HE_Z-_—F+-A=+—HItFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021
2021 2020
i THET TET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
REXH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
EIFIE Interest received 348,467 244,698
BUREBEAFMRE Dividends received from associates 70,123 65,215
BUCREAEBENRE Dividends received from joint ventures 65,567 11,630
BEUREBREM2ENREZAR  Dividends received from equity instruments at

BEEEZBRATANRE fair value through other comprehensive income 1,500 1,500
PUREEBIERIRALBERE  Dividends received from financial assets

JERBENRE at fair value through profit or loss 3,777 578
BENE  BELEE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (55,069) (59,305)
HEME BERRENSIIE  Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 185 374
BEIREME Purchase of investment properties (1,639) (2,022)
HEREMENR Proceeds from disposal of investment properties,

BEVMRERE net of value added tax 167,710 74,327
BABRATAEEDE Capital contribution to joint ventures (249,221) (93,912)
BEABBRIRAABMEREL  Purchase of financial assets at fair value through

SREE profit or loss (100,786) (423,892)
RERREMIEBRERAR Purchase of equity instruments at fair value through

BEREZBRATIA other comprehensive income = (19,335)
KEBEBIERIEALBEREY  Proceeds from return of capital of financial assets

SREENERRRAGHE at fair value through profit or loss 199,760 34,185
RELEMBARZASFERA  Net cash inflow from disposals of subsidiaries 8 - 998,076
AEREER Advances to joint ventures (1,848,836) (435,452)
RELEEN Repayment from joint ventures 93,669 3,296
B NEIEN Repayment from associates 25,772 67,020
BEER Loans repaid 426,455 301,742
LYER Loans advanced (265,931) (400,846)
PRERR 2 TR IR Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits = 611,556
FEIER 2 RITER 2 EA Placement of pledged bank deposits - (8,070)
[REIHR A=A AR IERR Withdrawal of non-pledged time deposits with

EHF T R original maturity of over three months 27,772 -
[RE| 8 AR B = A A 3R Placement of non-pledged time deposits with

EHERZEA original maturity of over three months (97,951) (27,365)
(AR)REREEB2REFE NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,188,676) 943,998
RMEXH FINANCING ACTIVITIES
SHABRHEE Payment on repurchase of shares 35 (155,534) -
ERFE Interest paid (327,210 (257,685)
ERRE Dividend paid (300,129) (300,129)
BN FIEERERR S Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (294,777) (7,767)
FERTREMER New bank and other loans raised 3,411,084 1,990,457
FRBIREMER Repayment of bank and other loans (2,441,280) (1,504,073)
REBEQAIER Advances from associates 1,432 _
REAELERHK Advances from joint ventures 36,793 777,492
BEBENAER Repayment to associates - (17,236)
BRAELERER Repayment to joint ventures (24,922) (9,583)
il ENIEE- Y& Repurchase and cancellation of shares of a subsidiary = (476)
W — B 2 B ME R Purchase of additional interest in a subsidiary = (27,778)
REFFERERNETRA Capital contribution from a non-controlling interest - 22,222
(AR REBELY NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING

ZEEFE ACTIVITIES (94,543) 005,444
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FRERERD X

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HE-Z-_—F+-A=+—BLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2021 2020
THER FEL
HK$/000 HK$'000
BeRBALEEER NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
(R B nF5E AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (463,393) 892,563
R-B—HBRzEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re&ZEER AT 1ST JANUARY 3,992,037 2,818,065
SNERBENE yHE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 116,218 281,409
Wt=A=t+-82 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
ReRBLEEER AT 31ST DECEMBER 3,644,862 3,992,037
RekBe%E ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND
BREFEDIM CASH EQUIVALENTS
RITEGFRRS Bank balances and cash 4,344,831 4,892,742
W RRE2RIERNZ) Less: restricted bank deposits (Note) (601,423) (873,340)
B REEABB=EAN Less: non-pledged time deposits with original
JHEITE BT maturity of over three months (98,546) (27,365)
3,644,862 3,992,037
Kzt - SRERTEIBEERTEERRS B85 Note:The restricted bank deposits are included in bank balances and cash which
THREREANIETHYEEREE - can only be applied in the designated property development projects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE—T - F+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

1. —RER

AEZHRRAEFEEBRAR(ARA])AE—HESR
BHRMK 2 ARBRAR  EROHES B
ERPAERARI([HRAT]) L o &EIZER
NaABAEEEERAT([BMAER] K&
MR REB R ET) o AABZ &K
24|75 BlLee and Lee TrustZ XsEA c B
——F+AE  B5%E KlLee and Lee Trust
ZXFEADBIRBANR T Z AR A R M &
BAZEHIT o AR RGN ERMUL IR EE
EEMBTARNFIRI A B ER —EPHEE -

ARRIREMBAR(AEIAEE DI BERE
MEERIIE - REMEEERREER
ARBZNEEEBARETARE]) - AR
SEZ KRB EBDETRLE - REMBER
FZAFREEE (B2 - BRARTNY
BEEBAMTR - EREARAF 2 LM
ARRIZEE([EF)R/ETLIRHZRRELZ
2HE% -

2. ERAEEBMBHRERERN(EFEMK
|EER ) 2 #r 7T RAEFT A

RAEERSENZERMBREER
PAL IS

RAFE  AEBEEEREA T BEEST
A ([ZESTMAG RGN _FT-—F
—RA— Bz &Rk 2 FE BB ERNE
BUBHRELRNZERA - RHAEELLRS
FATSERER

BRMBHREERE16%
PACHIES

BEMTRELEA RN, -
BEGEAIFI9M -
BEMHREENE7
% BENHREER
FARRBBHBREE
RIE165% 2 BRI

FTUERRSRENEERS

MEEENE - F R

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and its
securities are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”). The ultimate holding company is Allied Group
Limited (“AGL”, incorporated in Hong Kong and listed on the Stock
Exchange). The ultimate controlling party of the Company is the
trustees of Lee & Lee Trust. AGL and trustees of Lee & Lee Trust have
become the Company’s ultimate holding company and ultimate
controlling party respectively since October 2021. The address of
the registered office which is also principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of this
annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are property development
and investment, provision of property management and investment
holding. The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB”) as the Group conducts most of its operations in the PRC.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in the currency
of Hong Kong (“Hong Kong Dollars”) which is different from the
functional currency of the Company, as the directors of the Company
(“Directors”) consider that Hong Kong Dollars is the most appropriate
presentation currency in view of its place of listing.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
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BE-ZT-—F+-A=1t—RHILLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2. BAEEMBHREREN(EEMK
WEEQ ) 2 FET RAEFT A (48)

REFEBRFERZEBYBHREER
ZAERT A ()

BEAN - AR BB e EAE S S BIFRRM
BHREERERZES((ZEE )N _"F—_—
FARNABMNRIBRE  HREHMAEREES
FEFE R R S IR FE R B ARSI B HETT
BBt A ]

BRI ESN - NEERBEEMBHREE
A BRI AHAREERANFEE SBEFE 2/
BN RRBL,SENZEREUBIRRZ

2.1 ERERMBHREENFEIN - BES
FEERISE395E - BARMBRELERE7
0 BERMRREENEIRREEBY
BREZERB16R BT AN REE
RE-F_RERNTE

AEEERAFEERERERA - DZ#{?ET
AEBNEEENEFEYBESREE
Eﬁfﬁl%&%EETE\%E’\J/E}%@fﬁiméﬁﬁgﬁﬁ
£ -BEHHEFRELEAEBENRER
EERABMBHREEAF7RI SR TA  KE
([BEMBHRELANF7HR])

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (continued)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee
(“Committee”) of the International Accounting Standards Board issued
in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include as
“estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the
net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group'’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform - Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related
disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:

Disclosures” (“HKFRS 7”).
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BE_Z-—F+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2. EER
|2

21 BASENBRSEA SR - HER
SOERIE30% - B BES A ERIEE7
8 EBHBHEEAEIGRE LY
B8 EERE 163 > 15 5] RAIREE
BE - E-HRNTEE)

R_ZT—_—F—F—H XEEHFEETHR
fE R - BRELAE R R 2 F) S0 3 AT BEAETT
MEREENS - TRBARAEESGONES

B MERRNERRAKREEIR -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (continued)

As at Tst January, 2021, the Group has several interest-bearing
borrowings, the interests of which are indexed to benchmark rates
that will or may be subject to interest rate benchmark reform.
The following table shows the total amounts of these outstanding
contracts. The amounts of the interest-bearing borrowings are shown
at their carrying amounts.

BLEBRIT RERBBT
CE3/9-8 GE 33}

([ BBRT ([ fRZRT
GEI/=W) GES73-N))

HK$ GBP

Hong Kong London
Interbank Interbank
Offered Offered

Rate (“HIBOR”) Rate (“LIBOR”)
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bt EfE K Interest-bearing borrowings 300,000 445,684

HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—HBUEFER ' K
& B AR (E A425,454,0005 7T 2 fm SR 1T
¥RBBRITERCEREMABPZTREERE -
HARALBEE I E R AT EMRITERD
MEEENEMEFNENRESRE2ELIRA
T—H‘_IE'JTEHﬁ’I C REEBMEIR A ISR E
WEERTE - BFEYBHREENE/RRTE
EI’J%E%TBZE%%ZEAW&% °

22 BRZEEERRRE-HWEFEM
%ﬁﬁﬂi(ﬁiﬁgi ERF2REFE)NY

\\3‘*}'

Eéfq'_—i/\ﬂ  REEBBEBREARTE
RERAETFEMN A 2R FERERKAT
RUETIHEMR® 2t ] - LERBRX
ELERNEEZREKAN - REERS -
EITHEMRT 2 At AT ERINMNEEKA
NEEEREBHLEFERVAAEZRA(E

W IRFREHEIRE ZRA)

ERZE A‘%&/}&
RAEEBATE

EIRN S0l R S

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group’s LIBOR bank
loan with carrying amount of HK$425,454,000 has been transitioned
to the relevant alternative benchmark rate. Such transitions have had
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements as the
Group has applied the practical expedient in relation to the changes
in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark
reform for bank loans measured at amortised cost. Additional
disclosures as required by HKFRS 7 are set out in note 45.

2.2 Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee — Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2
Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories. In particular, whether such costs should be limited to
those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee concluded that
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale should not be limited
to those that are incremental but should also include costs that an
entity must incur to sell its inventories including those that are not
incremental to a particular sale.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2021

2. BAEEMBHREREN(EEMK
WEEQ ) 2 FET RAEFT A (48)

CHEMEERERNE M BERELEH
7] RAEFT A

ZRES B IR T PR A A TS B AR (B i R AR B
BB REERNFRT RIEFTA -

EEMBREENES  RREORBEE
EEMBRERANEF e BIRMERS| A2
EHES
ERMBRERANEI0RR REFEABZEARNGE
ARG LS8R TEZRNBEHER
EHEN E@
ERUMBRERAE 6 T -FA=tHkEA
CHES %ﬁ*“mﬁtf SRR
HERE!
BERETENEIRBIA BEIEARDIGERBR
BBRREST 2HEE
EAIAR(ZZ-Z4F)
BERGHRAEIRRERY SHERIRE
BREENEBREHR2HR
ZIBRIAR
BRGIHERESREIR Bt ER

BRGEAF12R BE-QHELNEER

EEIES AEERNETHE
BAGT L1652 nx - BERRE-HT
CHEN IR SR
BAGTERFIHRL BREAH-BTEHZ

EEIES KA
BRMBREENZBIR —F-\FE-T-FTHFY

BRBYBHREEAN

FRYE
RSB -FNA- A ARRZ FERREXR
: RIEB--F-A-HRZEMARZ FEHREER
SR TEC=F-A-HAz AR FERRER
¢ INBEER B R FRBRAR

B NPl 2 B SRS EANET AN - E
ETRHERMAE R BB EREERFET R
ERTARRA] R AT & SR & M IS R A
EARE -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

& w o oN o

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30th June, 2021!

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies3

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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2. EAEEAMBHRERED(BFEMK
HEEA ) 2 H 7T RISRT A ()

BBUBHEENEIR ZETEHRR
e b

o EHMEBEBEMBREERIEINRZHEH P
BEIA - EESIBZE—N\FRARMGH
[ 2= \FHBREBRSHERI(THSE
ZRDMIE FERERRRAMZINER (B =
Z-ZF+ ARG —E-ZFUKRE
BESAEZR JAAR)

o ME—IEMTE  AEHRNEZTBSGERE
3755 B - AR RABERIBEEINEE
(BAEMBREREZES) -2EF215%
(B | BEANIZNEMEMF - WEE
EREB G ELEI7RAFE (BERE
KHRERBREE) -REE215%mM IR
SERRBETEEXBEHTAAENR
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o HIE—IRMARMBH  AWEETER
EBAFFTIRBNSBEE -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments:

e update a reference in HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” so that
it refers to the “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018” issued in June 2018 (“Conceptual Framework”) instead
of “Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements” (replaced by the “Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2010” issued in October 2010);

e add a requirement that, for transactions and other events within
the scope of HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets” or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 “Levies”, an acquirer
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination; and

e add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
and HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” deal
with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the
amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement
of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end
of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within twelve
months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants,
the right exists if the conditions are met at the end of the
reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance
until a later date; and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial
Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings
with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31st December,
2021,
reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

the application of the amendments will not result in
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group but may
affect the disclosures of the Group's significant accounting policies.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
An accounting policy may require items in financial statements to
be measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty — that
is, the accounting policy may require such items to be measured at
monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead
be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate
to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions
based on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS
8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” so that it no longer applies to
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets
and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after Tst January, 2023, with early application permitted.
The Group is still in the process of assessing the full impact of the
application of the amendments.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether
a contract is onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, the unavoidable costs
under the contract should reflect the least net cost of exiting from
the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of
fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes
substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or the
lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16
removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating
to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any
potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements in
HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” by removing the requirement
in paragraph 22 of HKAS 41 to exclude taxation cash flows when
measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties, certain equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) which are transacted at
fair value and a valuation technique that uses unobservable inputs is
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique
equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Inventories of properties

Inventory of completed properties held for sale and inventories
of properties under development for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the cost of land,
development expenditure, other attributable costs and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
property when there is a change in use to hold the property to earn
rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the
ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the inception of
an operating lease to another party. Any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Properties for development

Right-of-use assets for leasehold lands included in properties for
development is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any identified impairment loss. Cost comprises the consideration for
acquisition of land use rights and other costs are directly attributable
to bringing the leasehold land to the condition necessary for it to
be capable of development of the properties. The consideration for
acquisition of land use rights represent leasehold land held for future
development. The costs that are directly attributable to bringing the
leasehold land to the condition necessary for it to be capable of
development of the properties are capitalised as costs of properties for
development.

Amortisation of properties for development are recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.



e MB | R ME

KL EREARRAR
2021 3R

123

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ki—

BE_Z-—F+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

3. RAUGESUBRRNEEREES
s (%)

32 EESTBE®E)
REYH

REMERRRIES K HEAREE - KE
MEBRBBEREERRMBE 2 L H
BRIEHEEREERE -

BENFENERCHERSEAREETHASE
ERELEHEFRHNBEYE -

BREMEERERARRAA(BERMAEBN
HEXH)FE - RERERR  REVER
HER R EBERELABEABRMEATEN &R
REHBEWA - REMEZ RAEBEEDME
gz W s ERA AR B HIE 2 85 o

ERRENEELNR
EMENESREE -

SERARERNCRER

EREMERRELSRFERRRNE  KEY
X¥BeEETYE  BERRE - BREME
FIARSR AREEMEZHRENRE - REY
EBeEEERRFPWE - BRIRAREET
RMRENFEEREE AYE  ZWERREE
BABRZRBERATIZELRABRREZEZAN
NABEME °

REMERHERHEREVMFR KA AHBE
A E HEZIREMEAP TG EEEAIARK
LEN BB TER - BUBERYEMEEZ
E s EE (RZEEZ HEMBRIAF
BMREE ZRAE)NZEBBUEBRRZ
FEAGEERRE -

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties include land
held for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for
capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties also included leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Transfer from investment property to property, plant and equipment
will be made when there is a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of owner occupation. Transfer from investment
property to property under development will be made where there is
a change in use, evidence by the commencement of construction for
property for sale. For a transfer from investment property carried at
fair value to owner-occupied property, the property’s deemed cost for
subsequent accounting are determined by reference to its fair value at
the date of change in use.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
year in which the item is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through sale, except
for freehold land, which is always presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised to profit or loss, except when
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation decrease under that standard.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in
an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group's
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises sales commissions as an asset if it expects to
recover these costs. The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised
to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests are having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of
the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the
equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in
the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on
the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group, except
for the case of which the Group disposes subsidiaries that contain a
business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is
accounted for using equity method, the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in full in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
For the transaction between equity-accounted investees, the Group
eliminated any unrealised profit or losses from these transactions to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events
but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will be
required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a
provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, except in
the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can be
made.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 applies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term;

e oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income and gains” line item in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net increase (decrease) in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL” and “net decrease in fair value of equity securities at FVTPL”
line items.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, amounts due from associates/joint ventures, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and loans receivable) and other items
(financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within twelve months after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, and factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually, taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.



REMB®KR MW

KL EREARRAR
2021 3R

141

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ki—

BE_Z-—F+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

3. MURCHBERRNEERERE
aTBUR (4)

3.2 EEETTREE)

ERITAE)

SRMEE(E)

EREEZBIERY EEREF(E)

(i) EEREAIEEN

EHEE AR ERREERREE AEE M
B AEEHRRE B @R T EEEZELNE
fRERERER A SR AL ZONERE
TR - FEEATIHLRT AR - AEEZEAIEE
ASEMEEMEEEN  BREFEZHRAN
%5 ) BN R EAS HO B SL A B A B RE MR B Y

LER  GEHEEERRES D ARG
UTEREWER :

s TRMTAMMNS(MA)XANBEEFRE
R FAEARIERAL

« FERE
BEEE -
#o

RINBTISIEEARRE - BlIA(E
BEHANEEEQEPERKR

o BRAHFAMES - MBILERRTHT
MECEFEEREFABTEEBREME
BEIKIE TFZ -

o EMAMKEERE
)53

AERITFARKERIC

s BEHANETE  ©EBEIMREHERNK
BHNEA TR EREFABTHRE
BEIERE S KIB TE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default; (ii) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per
globally understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition for financial
assets.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and
to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Other than financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and loans receivable where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation
reserves is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash flows
are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received,
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial asset.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not result
in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial assets
will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual
cash flows discounted at the financial assets’ original effective
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are amortised
over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount
of the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities that include interest-bearing and interest-free
borrowings, trade and other payables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are

subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Land and buildings transferred from investment properties are stated
at deemed cost equal to its fair value at the date of change in use. The
transferred properties are depreciated over their unexpired lease term.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration are allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-
use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the leasehold land and building elements, the entire
property is generally classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use assets) at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be
transferred directly to retained earnings.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of property,

plant and equipment less their residual value over their estimated

useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Owned properties Over the unexpired lease term of
the leasehold land or 40 years,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 20% — 30% or over the lease term
of the leasehold land, whichever
is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 20% — 33%

equipment and motor vehicles
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components, including
contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component and are
accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of properties that have a lease term of twelve months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

* an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of their useful
lives. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease
terms.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of inventory and investment properties as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets
that meet the definition of inventory are presented within “properties
for development” and “inventories of properties (properties under
development and completed properties)” respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever the lease
term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise
of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

Lease modiification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in

scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modification (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value model.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as lessor (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness
or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as
part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualified assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into
the Group presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong Dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation which are attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net
assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong
Dollars) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in exchange translation reserve. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the exchange translation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Retirement benefit costs

The contributions to the Group’s defined contribution retirement
benefit plans, state-managed retirement benefit schemes,
Superannuation and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions, unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses, the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the Directors
have reviewed the investment property portfolios of the Group and its
associates and joint ventures and concluded that investment properties
held by the Group and its associates and joint ventures are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the
deferred taxation on investment properties of the Group and its
associates and joint ventures, the Directors have determined that
the “sales” presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised the
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as the
Group is subject to income taxes and LAT on the fair value changes of
the investment properties on disposal.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies (continued)

Revenue recognition from sales of properties at a point in
time

Under HKFRS 15, control of the asset is transferred over time when
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. Significant judgment is required
in determining whether the terms of the Group’s contracts with
customers relate to creation of an enforceable right to payment for the
Group. The Group has considered the relevant local laws that apply
to those relevant contracts. Based on the assessment of the Group’s
management, the terms of the relevant sales contracts do not create
an enforceable right to payment for the Group. Accordingly, the sales
of properties is considered to be performance obligation satisfied at a
point in time.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of properties for development and inventories of
properties

Properties for development of HK$2,048,561,000 (2020:
HK$2,304,242,000) are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any identified impairment loss (for leasehold lands) or the lower
of cost and net realisable value (for freehold lands), while inventories
of properties of HK$7,770,741,000 (2020: HK$7,267,372,000) are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The management
determined the recoverable amounts of properties for development
and the net realisable value of inventories of properties under
development with reference to recent valuations performed by Norton
Appraisal Holdings Limited, the firm of independent and qualified
professional valuers (the “Valuer”) which is not connected with the
Group. The valuations are dependent on certain significant inputs that
involve the management’s judgments and estimations, including gross
development value, developer’s profit and discount rate. In addition,
the management estimated future cost to completion of properties for
development and inventories of properties under development with
reference to the actual development cost of the Group’s completed
projects.

The management determined the net realisable value of inventories
of completed properties with reference to the estimated market prices
of inventories of completed properties, which takes into account a
number of factors including recent market prices achieved for similar
property types in the same project or by similar properties in the PRC
and Australia.

Based on the management’s assessment, the reversal of write-
down of inventories of completed properties of HK$815,000 (2020:
HK$268,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31st December, 2021, and no impairment loss on properties for
development (2020: impairment loss on properties for development of
HK$140,279,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31st December, 2021.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. The determination
of the fair value involves certain assumptions of market conditions
which are set out in note 18.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation
is reflective of the current market conditions. Whilst the Group
considers valuations of the Group’s investment properties are the best
estimates, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in greater
market volatility depending on how the COVID-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve which have led to higher degree of uncertainties
in respect of the valuations in the current year. Changes to these
assumptions, including the potential risk of any unexpected incidents
as a result of change in macroeconomic environment, travel
restrictions implemented by many countries, increased complexity in
international trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction
and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents
would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain
or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31st December, 2021, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties is HK$16,686,312,000 (2020:
HK$13,083,211,000).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have to determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are
not available, the Group engages Valuer to perform the valuation. The
Directors work closely with the Valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of financial instruments.

When determining the fair values of investment properties,
assumptions and key inputs that involve significant judgements,
including term yield, reversionary yield, market unit rent of individual
unit, market unit sales rate, developer’s profit and risk rate, discount
rate, growth rate and estimated rent, are adopted.

Notes 18 and 45c provide detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and significant assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Land appreciation tax

PRC LAT is levied on properties developed by the Group for sale
in the PRC at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including sales charges, borrowing costs
and all property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The details of implementation
have been announced by local tax bureaux in certain major cities,
however, the Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and
payments of the development projects with local tax bureaux in those
cities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgements and estimations
are required in determining the amount of land appreciation and its
related taxes. The Group recognises these liabilities based on the
management’s best estimates according to the understanding of the
tax rules. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Provision of ECL for loans receivable and interest receivables

The Group determines the ECL for loans receivable and interest
receivables based on probability of default and loss given default for
each individual loan as each of them have different loss patterns.

The provision of ECL was determined by the Directors, with reference
to a valuation performed by the Valuer. The Group engages the
Valuer to perform the calculation of ECL for majority of the loans
receivable and interest receivables taking into account on each of
the borrowers and their guarantor’s background, repayment history
of their loans and forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. The Directors
work closely with the Valuer to determine the appropriate default rate
and loss given default rate. At every reporting date, the probability
of default and loss given default are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Information
about the ECL for loans receivable is disclosed in note 45b.

Based on the management’s assessment, net impairment losses on
loans receivable and interest receivables of HK$154,192,000 (2020:
HK$123,545,000) were recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31st December, 2021.
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5. WA 5. REVENUE
i) WADHE (i) Disaggregation of revenue
2021 2020
TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REE R B At a point in time
Bk TYIEHE Sales of completed properties 1,884,808 1,740,168
W i Over time
MERETE Property management 132,699 125,414
HAh & Other operations 38,479 16,466
REBEPEHNEm Revenue from goods and services
KARTEUA from contracts with customers 2,055,986 1,882,048
HE Leases 518,694 477,392
2,574,680 2,359,440

(i) FFENNENER

ERTIVMENHERAREEIMEER TR
FPHREEER - AEFIED R ITMENZE
42 B 2N SR B B A A WOk I WS B ey T
KRS FEIBHFERR ©

FEERIA LW ARG 251 - ERIEHE
BENGEVBANKRZRBDEBEANZIIBE
MafE-

MEEEERRABERBER  BAEFRE
W B I E FEAS SR BT T IR 40 B P s SR AV 2 o

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Revenue from sales of completed properties is recognised at a point
in time when the completed property is transferred to customers,
being at the point that the customer obtains control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and collection of
the consideration is probable.

Deposits received from sales of properties prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are presented as contract liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Property management fee income is recognised over time as the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
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5. WA #)

(i) B REZEITHREEFENNBRTEY
BfE

REMRHEAR ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ%"ﬂ@i’]f&(ﬂi@
TN RIETT) WX HE A RIEFTHER YA
GOliSIn NN

5. REVENUE(CONTINUED)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) regarding contracts for
sales of properties and the expected timing of recognising revenue are

as follows:

2021 2020
TET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
—F R Within one year 3,115,300 1,048,935

ZR—FETER More than one year but not
F more than two years 117,769 991,325
ZRMF More than two years - 411,114
3,233,069 2,451,374

MEEERBHENETNENFE - NEEH
ﬁﬁ%% MRFG S A B LEE SEARE - A%

BEFAATHORESR  AKEAEL
E%*mZiEEﬁEE WA o IRIBEE ’%ﬁﬁﬂﬁi‘;&
AIB15AE - DEEXFRBITAONR
BT T LAHEE

Contracts for the property management services have various year
terms in which the Group bills fixed amount for each month of
service provided. The Group elected to apply the practical expedient
by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to
invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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5. WA#) 5. REVENUE(CONTINUED)
(v HE (iv) Leases
2021 2020
TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MYEIKENRE - For operating leases of properties:
Bl TE sk BUAR— Iﬁ?aiﬁji Lease payments that are fixed or
—IALL R EE K depend on an index or a rate 483,812 448,928
FEBURRA— IEJET?:}Z Variable lease payments that do
— I R EE) not depend on an index
HEFIE or a rate 34,882 28,464
HEMEAMBIRA Total revenue arising from leases 518,694 477,392

6. DEEH

AEBRANFEREZBMAREETEREEFE
RBEBAREZER - AEBZERGEHBIR
ER=ZHEEXH  WEREBR  MERERH
e E(EZRRMEER) - A - RIER
FTARRBATESR (RREERRE)NERD
EEMFERRERSENZAKEN 2R REED
MTEPRE=ZETEER - RYEKRED

o RER-HLmHERENBARZE
¥E® o  AREYENZ EMVEREHEL

AZAI2HmMELENBORAZS - ARAEE
RHEms - HXS - EERAENEAEE

ZEMMERLE RS —HHRE LR o

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue for the year and assets are derived mainly from
activities carried out and located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The
Group’s basis of organisation is determined based on three main
operations: property development, property investment and other
operations that comprises mainly property management. Similarly,
the Group’s reportable and operating segments, reported to the
Executive Directors of the Company, the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, also focused on these three main operations. For the
property investment segment, it includes business activities of a listed
property investment subsidiary. No reportable and operating segments
of the listed property investment subsidiary are separately presented
as its results, assets and liabilities are prepared and reviewed together
with the Group’s other property investment activities for the internal
performance assessment purposes.



z';—"_A

Bt % R M

REFEREBRAT]
2021 F 3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHE-ZT——

Fr-A=T—RLLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2021

$'§ BT 2R EEED

DEER(E)

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DEBZ AR~

167

An analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, results, assets and

BERABESTHT liabilities by reportable and operating segment is as follows:
MEBR MERE Hi&E
Property Property Other &bt
development  investment  operations Consolidated
FHET THET THERT FTHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-2--F For the year ended
+ZB=1+—HLEE 31st December, 2021
2 A SEGMENT REVENUE
HIMNEE External sales 1,884,808 518,694 171,178 2,574,680
£ RESULTS
DEBR A Segment profit 828,422 1,452,993 5,750 2,287,165
H A R izs Other income and gains 334,918
REDBZEEER Unallocated corporate expenses (278,139)
BE AN Finance costs (167,541)
JE(REE L N ENREF (E51E) Share of profit (loss) of associates 2,742 (713) = 2,029
FEIEREDEREF Share of profit of joint ventures 187,687 211,026 45,698 444,411
PR A% A A Profit before tax 2,622,843
R-B-—% As at 31st December, 2021
+=ZA=+-H
gE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 13,564,210 16,896,717 90,656 30,551,583
NN k3 Interests in associates 222,407 2,147,458 - 2,369,865
REEE I ER Interests in joint ventures 2,431,850 5,913,044 320,223 8,665,117
BEDERK Amounts due from joint ventures 2,305,718 - 86,512 2,392,230
REDB  CEEE Unallocated corporate assets 3,213,676
EHEEE Consolidated total assets 47,192,471
= LIABILITIES
AHEE Segment liabilities 5,058,136 3,146,311 175,099 8,379,546
Regp# s oxaE Unallocated corporate liabilities 10,601,209
EHEAE Consolidated total liabilities 18,980,755
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DEBER (#) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
MEER MERE HitteE
Property Property Other apf
development  investment  operations Consolidated
THET THET TR THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEE-E——-F For the year ended
+-A=+—-HLEE 31st December, 2021
Rt &Rt OTHER INFORMATION
BHERDEH M Amounts included in the measure
BRRDMEETE of segment profit or loss or
LB segment assets:
FENRBEELESE Addition to non-current assets 403,184 4,020 344 407,548
rENEH Depreciation and amortisation 33,412 4,502 2,930 40,844
HEMAHEYE - BER  Loss on disposal and write-off of
Rz EBR property, plant and equipment 8 44 12 64
ERINEFEEREE Fair value gain on transfer of
REWMEZ R EE inventories of completed
Wz properties to investment properties = 847,607 = 847,607
REMELRBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
290 properties - 353,986 - 353,986
ERINERFEZ Reversal of write-down of inventories
BRI of completed properties 815 = - 815
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DEBE R (E) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
MEER MERE Hith &8
Property Property Other BBt
development  investment operations  Consolidated
FHT TAT FAT TET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE-Z2-EZF For the year ended
+ZRA=1+—-HLEE 31st December, 2020
2 EBA SEGMENT REVENUE
HINEE External sales 1,740,168 477,392 141,880 2,359,440
ES RESULTS
DEREA (E518) Segment profit (loss) 635,345 146,770 (2,463) 779,652
H A B s Other income and gains 407,282
ﬂié&ﬁﬁz/ﬁ%%% Unallocated corporate expenses (361,104)
BYE R Finance costs (207,629)
JEIGEEE A Bl EF (B18) Share of profit (loss) of associates 483 (69,028) - (68,545)
JEhE e RN Share of profit of joint ventures 199,651 162,577 2,848 365,076
PRA AR A Profit before tax 914,732
R-B-EF As at 31st December, 2020
+=HR=+—-H
BE ASSETS
DEPBE Segment assets 13,692,191 13,272,218 61,273 27,025,682
NI e Interests in associates 212,198 2,556,436 - 2,768,634
REBE 7 ER Interests in joint ventures 3,200,950 4,090,158 245,874 7,536,982
ik NI | Amounts due from associates 2,563 23,209 - 25,772
BEDER Amounts due from joint ventures 1,334,227 - 116,508 1,450,735
KeenH o hEEE Unallocated corporate assets 3,812,842
BHHEEE Consolidated total assets 42,620,647
8 LIABILITIES
NEAE Segment liabilities 4,650,142 2,372,998 175,852 7,198,992
VGIZwax:. P =Y Unallocated corporate liabilities 8,448,596
&g E Consolidated total liabilities 15,647,588
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DEBER (#) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
MEER MERE Hith &8
Property Property Other =X
development  investment operations  Consolidated
FHET FHET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z-ER For the year ended
+t=ZRA=t+—-BHLEE 31st December, 2020
Hit&# OTHER INFORMATION
BERD R Amounts included in the measure
BRI D MEENE of segment profit or loss or
x| segment assets:
FRBEEVESE Addition to non-current assets 790,166 6,295 2,293 798,754
e R Depreciation and amortisation 46,709 3,946 2,760 53,415
HEMAHEYE - BER  Loss (gain) on disposal and write-off
2 BB () of property, plant and equipment 14 (92) 5 (73)
ERINEFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of
REW¥Z D BE inventories of completed
gy properties to investment properties - 76,470 - 76,470
REMEARBEZ Decrease in fair value of investment
N properties - 166,467 - 166,467
BERTYWEFELZ Reversal of write-down of
RERD inventories of completed
properties 268 - - 268
HEMELA Rz W Gain on disposals of subsidiaries 322,034 - - 322,034
FERMEZRE Impairment loss on properties for
&8 development 140,279 - - 140,279
A 2REEED NS REEAS AN 3 The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments

MR AEE SRR —B - DR (BB ) 5
tfl/‘*ﬁﬁﬁﬂw’]mﬂ(Fiﬂ’]ﬁiﬁ?@) BRI
DEEAMPA R - BEKAE « EHEBER
AREELFEHEN (BB R B ORE
Ao WERTARBRITESHRERDE R
HERARBHZFE °

are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) each
segment without allocation of other income and gains, finance costs,
share of profit (loss) of associates and joint ventures and unallocated
corporate expenses. This is the measure reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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RERe s EEHEEE) ERRSEEN
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

A geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue from external
customers based on the geographical location where the services
were provided or the goods were delivered, and information about the
carrying amount of non-current assets excluding loans receivable and
other financial instruments, club memberships and deferred tax assets
by the geographical location of the assets are detailed as follows:

HIIMEFWA FARBEEREE
Revenue from Carrying amounts of

external customers non-current assets
2021 2020 2021 2020
FHET FAT FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
e The PRC 2,492,078 2,294,217 25,411,302 21,132,481
B Hong Kong 35,455 48,520 3,755,658 3,857,430
HE United Kingdom 41,301 16,703 649,491 683,717
SEM Australia 5,846 - 327,075 333,558
2,574,680 2,359,440 30,143,526 26,007,186

FEEF2ER Information about major customers

REMEFEAN  AEBRGEHE—HINEP
RGP ZWAZREFRAT0%IA £ -

No revenue from transaction with a single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for both years.

7. Ht AR WK 7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
2021 2020
TFET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
g EMA Dividend income
—JE LR — unlisted shares 5,277 2,078
— RS — listed shares 987 836
HRITIF R S Interest income on bank deposits 35,713 39,760
JEUE ZFI B Interest income on loans
WA receivable 127,518 186,217
KEREDLERZ Interest income from joint
FLEHA ventures 93,327 79,961
JE H U ER Net exchange gain 24,072 -
H WA Other income 48,024 98,430

334,918 407,282
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BEMAZ LR B B HEER o SR T A
B QR EREE RS MM EKE QR
TERBEEEYEER

HEFHBNT :

ZEWMBRRZFEENHERNT

8. GAIN ON DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Group disposed of
its entire equity interests in four subsidiaries to a 50% joint venture
of the Group and the four subsidiaries have become joint ventures
of the Group since then. Three of the subsidiaries are established in
the PRC and are engaged in property development in the PRC. The
remaining subsidiary is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
its subsidiary is also engaged in property development in the PRC.

Details of the disposals were as follows:

The net assets of the subsidiaries at the dates of disposals were as
follows:

2020
THET
HK$’000
HEFEE - Net assets disposed of:
M - WE MR Property, plant and equipment 15,671
B Investment properties 1,484,184
HERME Properties for development 118,094
WESERMEZ Deposits for acquisition of properties for
e development 487,615
FREEE Right-of-use assets 451
BERTYHETE Inventories of completed properties 641,665
R MEAMBKIRRK - e Kk Trade and other receivables, deposits and
TR prepayments 17,638
RITREFELIRE Bank balances and cash 50,739
fRERE R Shareholders’ loans (504,611)
R 5 K HAbFERTIRER Trade and other payables (205,443)
EHAaG Contract liabilities (37, 434)
FIEAE Tax liabilities 370)
LENSK=E=A Interest-bearing borrowings (350 740)
PEER Interest-free borrowings (526,021)
FETHIE A E Deferred tax liabilities (194,891)
HEFEE Net assets disposed of 996,547
EERERER Assignment of shareholders’ loans 478,588
HEKE Gain on disposals 322,034
& PTSR0E Proceeds on disposals 1,797,169
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8. GAIN ON DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
2020
THET
HK$’000
—RARFEWERRERESRE — Cash consideration received in current year 570,227
—EERRERD — Cash consideration for assignment of
HeRE shareholders’ loans 478,588
—RBEFEREERRT 2K — Cash consideration received in prior years as
HaRE deposit 748,354
1,797,169
BREEZREMNZ Exchange translation reserve transferred to
b 5 i retained earnings 15,195
SR E ZER N 2 SR Revaluation reserve transferred to retained earnings (65)
HEEEZFREMA Net cash inflow arising on disposals:
RAF IR S RE Cash consideration received in current year 570,227
EEBERERH Cash consideration for assignment of
RERE shareholders’ loans 478,588
HEZRITEFRIRE Bank balances and cash disposed of (50,739)

998,076
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9. BMEMAE 9. FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020
TExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Interest on:
IRITEN Bank loans 311,672 235,653
EMER Other loans 17,442 18,196
kE—EaERENER Loan from a joint venture = 306
BERLHhE Loans arrangement fee 572 3,109
329,686 257,264
B BAMER Less: amount capitalised on
ERPYE properties under
s - development (162,145) (49,635)
167,541 207,629
10. 5478 10.TAXATION
2021 2020
THET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
X HBE The charge comprises:
REATRIE Current tax
—HENFH - Hong Kong Profits Tax 2,148 7,105
—BHNHIE — Overseas tax 2,754 444
— R EREH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 275,375 183,371
— T HIR{ER ~ LAT 282,843 109,218
563,120 300,138
BEFERBTR Under(over)-provision in prior
(tBRERE) years
—HBNER - Hong Kong Profits Tax 12,209 (634)
—EHNBIIE — Overseas tax = 522
— MG — PRC Enterprise Income Tax (30,246) (8,176)
— T IBER —- LAT 8,673 -
(9,364) (8,288)
553,756 291,850
EERR A (M5 Deferred tax (Note) 672,751 55,040
1,226,507 346,890

At  BE_Z-_ZF+_A=1T-HLEFENSHEE
BER_Z-NF+_A=t—H2BERFEE
ENBEITRBE_Z_TF+_H=1+—HIt
FEAHERBORLEHRIEA

Note: The amount for the year ended 31st December, 2020 included the deferred
tax relating to assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as at 31st
December, 2019 and disposed of during the year ended 31st December,

2020.
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10. BE(4%)

EERFESHEMAHFEHEFNET FEE
BHOSEEBNE28 BB TAFERZ8.25%
BE - MBBE2A BB THFEEIR6.5%H
o TEEMBHFSHENEERNERE
BEE AR 4B A 16.5% M — B REH - B
% HE_Z-_TF+-_A=+—HBIFE -
EEFESHRYEE22A8 8B TN bs BT RS
158.25%tEMBE2E BB T bt BT
FE R 16.5% B - BEFESHIZHEZT
T+ A=+ HILFE 2 HEHEFRA
EA16.5% 2 BIRETH o

RIER B ERE M£ﬂ¢%% SHORE MK
Bl REMBEFEER  BANTEHBERRN
TR A25% ©

BIMAEREARBEZFIRITHEE R -

T IIRE R 2 Bt TR AR R P B OR S R 1 P
RIZRERE - DHIERETBEIEERNRE T
A RFHRR BRI L R EHE -

10.TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. Accordingly, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on
the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for the year
ended 31st December, 2020. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31st
December, 2021.

Under the Laws of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax Law and
Implementation Regulation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the tax
rate applicable to the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Overseas tax is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation
ruling in the relevant countries.

The provision for LAT is calculated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with
certain allowable deductions.
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10. B8 (%)

RV BIEBRRREER 2B BT
2008 15%  BZZFEZENF—A—HUKEK » B
B 2B RRIMEE RN KRFIIEER]
"EHEZRBAGMNTECZEMSHIREFR
B ¥EHEASEIR27IEANINEIRE D
RONH R EEEAANEIHERBE N INRIEE
TERIINHPERPRHEREN - KOIRAF
IR TE X 187,550,000/ 7T 550,721,000
BITLED %IJﬁEWBAEti_;:*E&_E_E
F+_A=1+—HIEFEZEFEABREERA °

ZISEWFEIESEﬁ&iﬁé?ﬁﬁ?’ﬁ%wm}ﬁﬁiﬁﬁJz
YRR :

10.TAXATION (CONTINUED)

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, dividend
distributed out of the profits generated by its subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC to “non-residential” investors since 1st January, 2008
shall be subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax and withheld by
the PRC entity pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law
Concerning Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises
and Article 91 of the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the
Income Tax Law for Enterprises with Foreign Investment Enterprises
and Foreign Enterprises. Deferred tax charge of HK$87,550,000 and
HK$50,721,000 on the undistributed earnings have been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31st
December, 2021 and 2020 respectively.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

2021 2020
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BR 75 A 1 Profit before tax 2,622,843 914,732
EEAMEHEE25% Tax at the domestic income tax
SAE RN T) rate of 25% (Note) 655,711 228,683
JE(EEtE Ra e EDE Tax effect of share of results of
i M2 BHIR R 2 associates and joint ventures (111,610) (74,133)
AR 2 Tax effect of expenses not
BT deductible for tax purpose 46,376 62,272
IERTWAZ Tax effect of income not taxable
BIEs & for tax purpose (12,068) (12,185)
RIERTIAEE R EH A Tax effect of tax losses and
AHREREERZ other deductible temporary
BiEE differences not recognised 80,415 104,296
A B REREIE Tax effect of utilisation of taxes
[E518 K A AT 30 losses and other deductible
TRFEER Y temporary differences
FRIE R & previously not recognised (69,478) (55,529)
W%QTTHH <2 Effect of different tax rates of
T subsidiaries 7,028 (24,681)
ﬁi KRB Z Withholding tax on undistributed
TR earnings 87,550 50,721
if@i“@ngﬁg Effect of LAT 549,297 75,254
BEFEEERE Overprovision in prior years (9,364) (8,288)
Ht Others 2,650 480
AEEHRBEZH Tax charge for the year 1,226,507 346,890
et - Note:

AEEMRERZBEARE D AEE T BELHE 2 HER
(BN B BEAEHHE) o

The domestic tax rate (PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction where the
operation of the Group is substantially based is used.
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1. R FEiRR 11.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
2021 2020
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RE M Profit for the year has been
B2k GIA) arrived at after charging
(crediting):
M - BB RRE Depreciation of property,
R plant and equipment (Note i) 13,548 11,837
i B Less: amount capitalised
BERPYE in properties under
ZER development (1,156) (712)
12,392 11,125
Lik-78 =K Depreciation/amortisation of:
Hih &&= — Y EEn Other assets — properties interests 524 488
(EEESYES Properties for development
(Bieti & ii) (Note i & i) 26,929 39,098
EREEE Right-of-use assets 999 704
e Total depreciation and
ek amortisation 40,844 51,415
ETEBR(BRESEME) Staff costs (including Directors’
(H1atiii) emoluments) (Note iii)
— e R HEMER — Salaries and other costs 272,956 255,815
—RENER — Retirement benefits costs 31,452 15,358
— i - BAER — Less: amount capitalised in
BRPYE properties under
x| development (45,806) (24,229)
BT EBMAEE Total staff costs 258,602 246,944
KEREMEZ Gross rental income from
He WA B investment properties (518,694) (477,392)
B MEFEREE Less: direct operating expenses
HeWAZ from investment properties
REYMER that generated rental
HIZEEER income during the year 143,556 114,566

(375,138) (362,826)
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1. RFERR (#)

11.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)

2021 2020
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ZEMB 2 Auditor’s remuneration 8,169 7,461
T8 2K Cost of inventories recognised
BEREIE as expenses 835,960 1,156,900
BERIMEFEZ Reversal of write-down of
RERER(EZ inventories of completed
RIHEREN) properties (included
in cost of sales) (815) (268)
JFE H B R Net exchange loss = 19,836
HE M HYE - Loss (gain) on disposal and write-
BB off of property, plant and
E1E (Weas) equipment 64 (73)
AR REFZ Short-term lease payments in
2 EAM &R respect of land and buildings 8,178 8,838

wist -

(i) W AEFEEREBEE-E-_ZTFE+-_A=1+—H
iif%ﬁf‘sﬁﬁ‘]?@ PRI EATENDE BE
RETERDEATENRERMEREL A

613,000,%75&1,387,000/%71 ©

(il FERMFHHAEQERAH A EMRERN

BENA °

(iiiy ETEBATTEERKEI2RMF43@MBEENE
BEA B TETESRIIARRIZESHET Y

EEREAS -

Notes:

(i) In addition, the Group had recognised depreciation of property, plant and

equipment classified as held-for-sale and amortisation of properties for
development classified as held for sale of HK$613,000 and HK$1,387,000
respectively in profit or loss during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

(i) Amortisation of properties for development is recognised in profit or loss on a

straight-line basis over the term of the relevant land leases.

(iii) The staff costs do not include the apportionment of management fee
as disclosed in note 12 and note 43(a) for certain Directors as well as
management personnel who are not Directors or staff of the Company.
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12.EEMe

12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

KL EREARRAR
2021 4R

179

ENEEN T (ZE-ZF - +—f1)&ZE  The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (2020: eleven)
ZElemT Directors were as follows:
2021
He/REE HEE ERER
REtER BHzRE AR
Salaries/  Performance Retirement
EEWE  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme st
fees benefits payments contributions Total
THERT THERT TERT THET THERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Kriti)
(Note f)
BTES Executive Directors
RIEHW Song Zengbin 10 2,160 930 - 3,100
g Patrick Lee Seng Wei 20 3,263 3,550 = 6,833
BRA Edwin Lo King Yau 20 1,388 5,212 64 6,684
g g Tao Tsan Sang 20 2,184 2,801 202 5,207
70 8,995 12,493 266 21,824

HRBRATEEME AR REERARARAE

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in

B ES 2 IRTS connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
FHTES Non-Executive Directors
FkiE Lee Seng Hui 10 3,899 30,332 85 34,326
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
20 3,899 30,332 85 34,336
FRBERZ FRTEEME AR RSEAARDENE,  The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as
FEMBARZEE 2R - directors of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.
BYkGT Independent Non-Executive
= Directors
HEE Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
(fstii) (Note ii) 10 92 = - 102
SEEMFI)  Jin Hui Zhi (Note i) 10 92 - - 102
BEE(M5ti) Ngai Wah Sang (Note ii) 10 118 = = 128
BB (M) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note ii) 20 184 = - 204
50 486 - - 536

LRBR BT ESHE RN
R/ SHETHBRARZEE 2R -

FERART

Gt Total

The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company and/or its listed subsidiary.

56,696
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12.EEM&2) 12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
2020
¢/ RiGE HELE BIRER
REMEH Bl %s FH AR
Salaries/  Performance Retirement
EE#HE  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme Wt
fees benefits payments  contributions Total
FAT FHET FAET FAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(Hizti)
(Note i)
HiTES Executive Directors
RIEH Song Zengbin 10 2,160 840 - 3,010
FRIE Patrick Lee Seng Wei 20 3,250 4,050 - 7,320
HE(Hatii) Ma Sun (Note iii) 7 2,734 2,555 239 5,535
BRA Edwin Lo King Yau 20 1,388 4,912 64 6,384
iHRE Tao Tsan Sang 20 2,184 3,407 202 5,813
77 11,716 15,764 505 28,062
FHBERZHTEEHSENBEETERARRAE  The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in
BEK 2 R - connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
FHITES Non-Executive Directors
FHIE Lee Seng Hui 10 3,888 28,937 85 32,920
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
20 3,888 28,937 85 32,930
FBERZIEHTEEHEENESERA AR, The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as

FEMBRRAZEE 2R

directors of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

B kBT Independent Non-Executive
= Directors
HEE Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
(Hhitii) (Note ii) 10 92 - - 102
SEEWai)  Jin Hui Zhi (Note ii) 10 92 - - 102
BELE (i) Ngai Wah Sang (Note ii) 10 118 - - 128
BER(M#i)  Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note i) 20 184 - - 204
50 486 - - 536
FRBR BRI TEEN BN EEIEAR The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for

R/FHETHBRRAIZER RS -

B Total

their services as directors of the Company and/or its listed subsidiary.

61,528
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12.EEME=)
Wizt -

() ZFBRERZFEACHERINTHEEEZE
MR —FEERBISERS -

(i) WFBITEFEEESLL  SEERLE  WELE
EERGBRLLIZBRBER T _—FH#FT

Heh
-

(i) BREENR-_Z-_TFAA-_+=AFE-

FREEEBTARRTRAR ZBE - kR
A ERE e BREERTTRAEMREHIRS
ZHBE -

E/\@i—f——i—f— A=+—RERBE_ZF
TET_A=+—HLFE UEBEEWE
Fcﬂ@ﬂ@

ETEZERAR A ZEKERARWEME -
ZARMAEERREEERS - WA AEER
ZEEERNEMUWIIERNREECEREAS
FIRtRBUERERER ZEREACBE
EMFE43) M EEsEREERFP o L&
EBRDNIEEEEAERAEEBSEKN L 2
MatE WA DEEZELMESE - BHOEESHA
40,980,000 7T ( ZE ZF F : 39,274,000
JT) c WEBIEELERA -

12.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i) The amounts represent the actual discretionary bonus in respect of the
preceding year approved and paid to respective Directors during the year.

(i) The service fees of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi, Mr. Ngai Wah Sang and Ms. Lisa
Yang Lai Sum remain unchanged in 2021.

(iii) Mr. Ma Sun resigned on 23rd September, 2020.

Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei performs the function of the chief executive
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments in the years ended
31st December, 2021 and 31st December, 2020.

Certain Directors received remuneration from the ultimate holding
company of the Company. Such company provided management
services to the Group and charged the Group a management fee,
which is included in the management fee as disclosed in note 43(a),
for services provided by these Directors as well as other management
personnel who were not Directors of the Company. The above-
mentioned management fee is calculated by reference to the time
devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of the Group
and can be apportioned to the Directors mentioned above. The total
of such apportioned amounts, which has been included in the above
table, is HK$40,980,000 (2020: HK$39,274,000).
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B.EERSREEAEHE

BEME

AEBRuUZEMEAL  ER=(=F=
TE ) /AAEEER(BREAKEITHAE
) EBeC 8RN LadME12% - AR
L (ZT-FF : HBMAL) ATHBEIT

13.EMPLOYEES” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
three (2020: three) were Directors including the chief executive of
the Group, whose emoluments are included in note 12 above. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2020: remaining two) individuals
were as follows:

2021 2020

FET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fre RE AR Salaries and other benefits 5,143 4,529
SRR Performance related incentive

B/e payments 7,180 7,580

RIRBFIETE Retirement benefits scheme
MR contributions 108 108
12,431 12,217

ZEALTZBED T

The emoluments of the individuals were within the following bands:

2021 2020

EEEE EE#E

Number of Number of

employees employees

5,500,001/8 7T 26,000,000 7T HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1 1
6,000,00178 L %6,500,000/8 7T HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 1 1

AEBOFH G EER TS ENRITEHHKF
ARERERRMERE THRIVETE - W
EFEEHE  AEEYEA DRSS AL
SAHERE R IMAR K B AR R B 1R K
FRZME -

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing
remuneration level in the market and the performance of respective
group companies and individual employees. During both years,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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B.EEREREBEAEME )

EREEAESME

REBZTHM(ZEZEF : T+ aRkE
BAE - ”‘EF‘H_L(_Y_ii TR RE
£ FECHEeEBIER Lk R2F c BE
ZEC—F+ZA=FT—HIFE - A#HRE
ZE-TF N ALTZEIEmT

13.EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the seventeen (2020: seventeen) senior management of the Group,
ten (2020: eleven) were the Directors whose emoluments are included
in note 12 above. The emoluments of the remaining seven (2020: six)
for the year ended 31st December, 2021 were as follows:

2021 2020

FHET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

e MEMEF] Salaries and other benefits 11,194 8,141
HEEREC Performance related incentive

®"e payments 11,515 9,226

RIKEFIETE Retirement benefits scheme
R contributions 216 254
22,925 17,621
ZENLZHEDMHIT Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2021 2020

EEEH EE &R

Number of Number of

employees employees

1,000,000/8 7T A T HK$1,000,000 or below 1 1

1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 2

1,500,001,87CZ2,000,000/8 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 1

5,000,001 7T £ 5,500,000/ 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 -

5,500,001/ 752 6,000,000/ 70 HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1 1

6,000,001/ 7T £ 6,500,00078 7T HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 1 1

SREEBABKBZBEENAFRIEZRD

MEBABZEAER | —EIAHE

The biographies of members of the senior management are disclosed
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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14. BREF

A R A 2 SR A ER T R 5 B
5

14.EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following:

2021 2020
THET THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
87 Earnings
AUGTESRERER 2 BF Earnings for the purpose of basic
(AR TR EIERFRHHM) earnings per share (profit for
the year attributable to owners
of the Company) 1,430,348 618,037
2021 2020
Ffz Tz
‘000 ‘000
BE Number of shares
BT ESRERBMNZ AFE Weighted average number of
BEEITERRINETHHA ordinary shares in issue during
the year for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 1,487,797 1,500,647

R-FE_—FER-_ZF_ZFFE WLEEJ
SREERN RAR T _—FER-_FT—
TEREAWLBRITEINNEE LB -

No diluted earnings per share for both 2021 and 2020 were presented
as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2021 and
2020.
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15. R &2 15.DIVIDEND
2021 2020
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REFEAFER D K Dividend recognised as
ZRE distributions during the year:
M- _TFEEENPEHRE Interim dividend (in lieu of
(TJE**?EHHHQ final dividend) paid in
TECEF R T-NFE) respect of 2020 (2020: in
respect of 2019) 300,129 300,129
*ﬁﬁ/fﬁ@*qﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ R0 Interim dividend declared of
TECFFE 20810) HK20 cents (2020: HK20 cents)
per share 293,214 300,129

RBERRR  EETREMRBEBE_FT_——
FHt-A=t—HALFERFEZHHRE (K
BARAKRE) BR20BI(ZZ =24 : 208
fil)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the interim dividend
(in lieu of final dividend) of HK20 cents (2020: HK20 cents) per share
in respect of the financial year ended 31st December, 2021 has been

declared by the Board.
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16. 435 » BMERRE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

®I5 - BA
EBER RERRE
HE Leasehold
BEWE  improvements,
Owned properties furniture, pat:d
in Hong Kong fixtures and Motor @zt
and the PRC equipment vehicles Total
SN i T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HAE CosT
RZ2-FF-A-H At Tst January, 2020 188,487 172,303 40,038 400,828
AR Exchange adjustments 10,324 5,378 1,836 17,538
BE Additions 48,513 5,644 4,263 58,420
E@tﬁ% EHBLARSIUEES  Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary (18) - (18)
HE R Disposals and write-off - (695) (1,954) (2,649)
RZFZFFTA=T-A At 31st December, 2020 247,324 182,612 44,183 474,119
EX#Z Exchange adjustments 8,574 3,727 1,180 13,481
RE Additions 47,885 3,940 3,244 55,069
BRACRINEGE Transfer from inventories of completed properties 10,642 - - 10,642
& A Disposals and write-off - (515) (2,031) (2,546)
RZFZ-F+-A=1-A At 315t December, 2021 314,425 189,764 46,576 550,765
8 DEPRECIATION
RZF-FF-A-H At Tst January, 2020 38,790 125,716 31,643 196,149
A Exchange adjustments 2,427 5110 1,433 8,970
REEFHR Provided for the year 5,852 2,963 3,022 11,837
R E Rt SRR Eliminated on disposals and write-off - (611) (1,751) (2,362)
“ECRETCA=T-H At 315t December, 2020 47,069 133,178 34,347 214,594
ESHE Exchange adjustments 1,726 3,268 942 5,936
AERGR Provided for the year 7,102 3,09 3,350 13,548
RIS R B Eliminated on disposals and write-off - (471) (1,826) (2297)
RZB_—F+-A=+-H At 315t December, 2021 55,897 139,071 36,813 231,781
HEfE CARRYING VALUES
RZBZ-%+Zf=1-H At 31st December, 2021 258,528 50,693 9,763 318,984
“F-TF+-A=1-A At 315t December, 2020 200,255 49,434 9,836 259,525
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17.EREEE 17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HEL i
Leasehold lands
THET
HK$’000
R-B-_—-%+=-A=+—H At as 31st December, 2021
BREAE Carrying amount 38,002
R-ZB-Z2F+=-A=+—H At as 31st December, 2020
BREE Carrying amount 37,984
BE-ZE-_—H+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2021
HEEM Depreciation charge 1,182
BRERERPYE Capitalised in properties under development (183)
999
BE-Z-_ZHF+-A=1+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020
HEEM Depreciation charge 875
BARERERPYE Capitalised in properties under development 171)
704
2021 2020
THET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HIRG HATH EARRE 2 Expense relating to short-term
=33 leases 8,178 8,838
HEMBRERLBE Total cash outflow for leases 8,178 8,838

AEEEFTBREABRMAINE - AEE X
%#@%%ﬁ(a%ﬂﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂ ii‘@)ﬁ’]?ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
0 ﬁ%i@"f&?%%%\ MR —RIEFR -
1%”‘Fﬁ§EHE’J BESTR] SEHL D @Eﬁ—ir %EB

ﬁ*«%%ﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁiﬁtﬁﬁ SEB2I -

The Group owns several office buildings in the PRC. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the underlying
leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are presented separately only if the payments made
can be allocated reliably.
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18. REWME

AEBUKLEHRESALESERQE =
E - FEEN - TEEH - mSLEE - &RA
WEHfEe  MRARBAGEE BEHET
REVIEER AN o BAFR AT T H R 124
H% Xy§1fﬁi§éﬂﬁﬁ EMIZEEIEN o %
EESMEENEER S ZBHERE
EZMIE%BA%F%%%EE S RIS Hﬂlﬂl
TERREFEREKE -

AEBARREELHMAZINERR - BAMHM
BHEANEEERSANEERIIE - B
EaRTEERERERHEBAEESE
REREFBEY R REZRE -

18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices buildings, car parking spaces,
residential units, retail stores, a shopping mall and hotel under
operating leases with rentals receivable monthly with unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees only.
Majority of the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the
event the lessee exercises the option to extend. The leases of certain
retail stores and hotel contain variable lease payment that are based
on certain percentage of sales and minimum annual lease payment
that are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee's option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

2021 2020
F#ET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AREE FAIR VALUE
n—A—H At Tst January 13,083,211 12,380,751
[E 5 2 %K Exchange adjustments 421,845 632,290
HBE Additions 1,639 2,022
R EEREG Transferred to properties under
SES development (10,031) -
He Disposals (167,286) (73,988)
EEEERTYE Transferred from inventories of
T8 completed properties 2,155,341 253,996
ERIVMEFTEERE Fair value gain on transfer of
KEMEZ inventories of completed
~RfEE properties to investment
e properties 847,607 66,047
3,002,948 320,043
WRNERZ AR EE Increase (decrease) in fair value
#nCRL) recognised in profit or loss 353,986 (177,907)

At 31st December 16,686,312 13,083,211
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18. REWE (&)

BIENEEYE516,190,312,0008 T(ZZE =

T 1 12,624,211,0008 ) 2 BB I WEN
496,000,000/ 7T (=& = Z F : 459,000,000
BIL) 2 BERAYE -

AEBZEREVEREREERTIYETEY
AR =—F  —E-_FF+=-_A=+—
Az AR EBETREHTGEMNE BETHG
B ZHEXTBENREL  EEBRTHER
Eé%?ﬁ@ﬁ%k%ﬂ°%ﬁm EE R
HEDNES AW ERES T —RBEOK
%ﬁﬁié@ﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁ&%%ﬁ%%@
o N ERTIMETEEREREMEZY
¥ME - BEDNERERESL - BERBREDE
WA ETRABREZITENZEYEBSRE
SRR TEMMAR LR T - Wit Mk iz

FIFE P HOREME B AT/ DARBR B 38 T B %
TEE EE o B [ AT B A
&) o

ISERE/E NN LI %%m?m&?&

Rz AR ERAZRSTEHMS
TRERINNETEIEREMENAAEE

(BRIRFAEANGEETERZ2E)  RIEAR
BEFESENTERRERE oA EBEHE
PRERABEAINTFHNER(F-—REF=
RIER

18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Included in the investment properties are completed properties of
HK$16,190,312,000 (2020: HK$12,624,211,000) and properties
under development of HK$496,000,000 (2020: HK$459,000,000).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the date of
transfer from inventories of completed properties and as at 31st
December, 2021 and 2020 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on those dates by the Valuer. The valuation
was principally based on investment method by taking into account
the current rents passing and the reversionary income potential of
tenancies. For the properties which are currently vacant, the valuation
was based on each of the property interests by capitalisation of the
hypothetical and reasonable market rents with a typical lease term
and also make reference to the direct comparison approach. For the
properties which were transferred from inventories of completed
properties to investment properties, the valuation was based on
investment method. The valuations of investment properties under
development were arrived at by the adoption of the residual approach
on the basis that they will be developed and completed in accordance
with the latest development proposals and having taken into account
the construction cost that will extent to complete the development to
reflect the quality of the completed development. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use or expected use.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the major investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.
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18. REW=(#) 18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
rEBFEHE BESER BELrBRZ R
REME DAEE TEZH EERZEEZY DABENBE
Investment % 5l Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
fIRER 2 Y% E=R REZ(APERZE  BHURaEX(EEITLEMERARURR  HHRE R OE

Properties in
Southern China

Level 3

Investment method
(term and reversionary
approach)

TEZHR
The key inputs are:

) RBEE

Term yield;

FUEE R
Reversionary

yield; and

(EGIES v,
Bufis

Market unit rent of
individual unit

ReE &h%%ﬁﬁﬁ%%k%%mﬁ%?i
RO ) /81.25%£6.00% (T - F :
1.25%%6.00%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
1.25% to 6.00% (2020: 1.25% to 6.00%)

BhER(ZEITHENENFEEN
MSHE WAL EMTE) R1.75%Z£6.50%
(ZZZZF 1 1.75%%26.50%)
Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 1.75% to 6.50% (2020: 1.75% to 6.50%)

misEMESBERT ST LRYALE
I%SHW%WEMM%I% MR IE
B MEAPMRRE - FHTHECEEN
FHEFIABAARBIOTESF I AE
AARBIOL(ZZZ2F : §FHKEA
ARB20TESFHABAARK1787T)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB30 sq.m./month to
RMB190 sq.m./month (2020: RMB20 sq.m./
month to RMB178 sq.m./month)

CEHLAEET

s

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair value

Tz B S M
ma\ﬂ®ﬁ1ﬁ
il

The increase in the
market unit rent would
result in an increase in
fair value
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18. REWHE(®) 18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
rEEMEE hELER BLERS YR
REME [NREE FEZH EL:3:93 220 NABENER
Investment &5 Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
fIRER Y% F=R REA(EBERZE) HPRaX(ZEITLBENERABARER HEHRZZEMNE

Properties in Level 3

Eastern China

Investment method
(term and reversionary
approach)

E28%:
The key inputs are:

) HEKEE
(1) Term yield;

2) ERKEEX: R
(2) Reversionary

REE RS T AR L H A O BETE
U %) 551.50%£6.75% (= F
1.50%%£6.75%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield

\EF)’TF%
7 _— 7 E

generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
1.50% to 6.75% (2020: 1.50% to 6.75%)

BURER(ZEEINTLBRMENFEEN
MisHEWAREMTE)B1.75%E7.25%
(ZEZZF 1 1.75%%7.25%)

—= ==

BYLABETRE

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

yield; and Reversionary yield, taking into account The increase in the
annual unit market rental income and unit reversionary yield

(3) MEBIE LTI market value of the comparable properties, would result in a
BfHe of 1.75% to 7.25% (2020: 1.75% to 7.25%) decrease in fair

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

MZENHS BERTSA L RYELE -
WEEE A ERNEE - MERIE
H - MEAPNRE - FETHEMEEN
FHEYHAEBAARBLBIEETHKE
AARE1,600L(ZF=FF : BFHAKE
AARBRESFHXRFGAARK100
7T)

Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB25 sq.m./month
to RMB1,600 sq.m./month (2020: RMB27
sg.m./month to RMB1,100 sq.m./month)

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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18. REM= (&) 18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
rEEMEE hEDER BLERS YR
R&n= AREE FESH EEELERZY DABENBE
Investment % 5l Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
IR 2 Y% F=R REA(ERERZE) HPREX(EEIATLBENERBEARR HHkERENe

Properties in
Northern China

Level 3

Investment method
(term and reversionary
approach)

E2HR

The key inputs are:

) TR
(1) Term yield;

2) ERKEEX R
(2) Reversionary
yield; and

3) {ERIERH TS
Bufis

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

%%&M?WWWE%WAWE%%%FE
MR EE) B1.75%£6.50%( Z T -FF :
1.75%%6.50%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
1.75% t0 6.50% (2020: 1.75% to 6.50%)

EHRRER (R AL ENENFREN
mEHEERAREMNTE)R2.25%E7.00%
(Z2ZFF 1 2.25%%7.00%)

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 2.25% to 7.00% (2020: 2.25% to 7.00%)

MSENHS BERTSA L RYAELE -
I%%UM%%%@M%I% B E
B MERNMERE - FEATSELREN
FREFHIAREBAARBUTEGFIAE
AARE205L(ZF22F - BFHAKEA
AR TESF KRG AARK2107T)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB 24 sq.m./month to
RMB205 sg.m./month (2020: RMB25 sq.m./
month to RMB210 sq.m./month)

BYAREETR

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair

value

M5 B & 18 0
CEH QL EEEY
ill

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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18. REWHE(®) 18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
rEEMEE hELER BLERS YR
REME DREE TEZH EL:3:93 220 DABENER
Investment &5 Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
(RINENOPAYES E=H REA(EBERZE) HPRSEX(EEIAULBENERBEARR HHkmZENe
Properties in Level 3 Investment method REE B T U ER B 78 ER U B e SE \iﬁﬁ?i BUNABETR

Hong Kong (term and reversionary )Yz K) B1.50%£4.25%( T T F

approach)

TEZHR
The key inputs are:

) Bz E
(1) Term yield;

2) BRLER &
(2) Reversionary
yield; and

(3) MERIE AT
Bufs

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

2.00%%4.25%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
1.50% to 4.25% (2020: 2.00% to 4.25%)

BhREXR(ZEITHENENFEEN
MmSHE WAL EMTE) £2.00%E4.75%
(ZZZZF 1 225%%24.75%)
Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 2.00% to 4.75% (2020: 2.25% to 4.75%)

MSENHS BERTS A LRYBLE -

I%Jf\i‘li’@%HDEWI%JI% MR IE
- MERNNRE - REERBAERDE
FHEmSENES u?”]i??‘i%iﬂm}%
TEBYIRBABAEL(ZFFF
BYATRBAISETESFIRE A1408
L) » BEBZFETSEMESN ?“fﬁiﬂ
22008 TEBA3,700 BT (ZF=FF
#8A2,2008 =S H3,800/7T)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. For the residential and commercial
properties, the range of average market unit
rent is from around HK$14 sq.ft./month
to HK$135 sq.ft./month (2020: HK$15
sq.ft./month to HK$140 sq.ft./month). For
the carparks, the range of average market
unit rent is around HK$2,200/month to
HK$3,700/month (2020: around HK$2,200/
month to HK$3,800/month)

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

ERKEXRENE
BHRAEETR

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair value

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in an
increase in fair value
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18. REM= (&) 18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

rEEMEE hEDER BLERS YR

R&n= AREE FESH EEELERZY DABENBE

Investment % 5l Valuation Significant Relationship of

properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable

by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value

R E 2= BEE THBUHEER(EAEETSTLEYL HiHEAHEER
BMTERRES  Level 3 Residual approach %J’Eiﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁflﬁulﬁ)7%1$E/TL/\E ZEmegyrnE
FRIAR B14500L(ZF=2FF : FFHAKARE (ER2M

Development site in
Huizhou Huiyang
District, the PRC

V9 E S
Properties in the
United Kingdom

E=

Level 3

TEZHR
The key inputs are:

(1 m E’”°1 HEE
%

(1) Market unit sales
rate; and

(2) BERAOENR
e

(2) Developer’s profit
and risk rate

W AR

Income approach

E2HR
The key inputs are:

) BRI ;

(1) Discount rate;

) BEE R
(2) Growth rate; and

) HEMAS
(3) Estimated rent

10,6007T)

Market unit sales rate, using market direct
comparable and taking into account of
location and other individual factors, of
RMB14,500/sq.m. (2020: RMB10,600/sq.m.)

BRAAENNERE(ZEEIDENEE)
£40.00%(ZZT =% : 30.00%)

Developer’s profit and risk rate, taking into
account of the progress of the property, of
40.00% (2020: 30.00%)

BRIREE7.00%(ZE-ZF : 6.70%)

Discount rate of 7.00% (2020: 6.70%)

BRER270%(ZE=FF :2.61%)

Growth rate of 2.70% (2020: 2.61%)

HFEFOHEERERAHECRARERE

EMEELEAE - HEESOBIIRE
FIBRF(ZF_FF : NBFHIREF34
%))

Estimated rent is calculated based on
existing tenancy agreement and takes into
account historical operating records. The
estimated rent is around British Pound 38
sq.ft./year (2020: around British Pound 34
sq.ft./year)

The increase in the
market unit sales
rate would result in
an increase in fair
value

EREO N LR
fEegme 5%
RABETR

The increase in the
developer’s profit
and risk rate would
result in a decrease
in fair value

BREENGEY
NAEETH

The increase in the
discount rate would
result in a decrease
in fair value

EBREENGEY
R BEEM

The increase in the
growth rate would
result in an increase
in fair value

mEHEHzENES
RARBEEZN

The increase in
the estimated rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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FREYE 19.PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT
2021 2020
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REAME AT COST
n—A—Bz#&& Balance at 1st January 2,643,999 4,344,383
[ 5 R Exchange adjustments 43,357 290,841
BE Additions 340,200 925,233
R T IREP Y Transferred to inventories of
A= properties under development (681,337) (2,916,458)
RT+ZA=+—Rz&&% Balance at 31st December 2,346,219 2,643,999
#iER AMORTISATION AND
A IMPAIRMENT
R—A—BZ&#% Balance at 1st January 339,757 327,790
VE 5 EE Exchange adjustments (5,286) 37,659
REE Amortisation for the year 26,929 39,098
ERERRPYE Transferred to inventories of
FE properties under development (63,742) (205,069)
VRN D) Impairment (Note) - 140,279
Rt+ZA=+—HZz&&% Balance at 31st December 297,658 339,757
IR CARRYING VALUES 2,048,561 2,304,242
REBZFERYE The Group's properties for
B development comprise:
KB 2 HE i Leasehold land in the PRC
R AT Long lease 1,722,552 1,935,140
FhERZE 40 Medium-term lease = 35,607
ORI 2 K AFFE T3 Freehold land in Australia 326,009 333,495
2,048,561 2,304,242

Hiet - 2 REARSRMNMERE -

Note: The amount represented the impairment on properties in Australia.
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19. FREWE2)

AEEEEEHREVEE D RRKARAEL
Wz KAERAISERFEZBEEAREEL
M I E S RETRENG R —F
tT-A=t—BZHELHNAIKESRE2
ZMBYEXEENETE -

R-ZTE-_—F+-_A=+—H0 MHE+z
FREEESSEEH,722,552,0008 L (— T =
T4 1 1,970,747,0008 0) B B EFERME
oo ﬁé%zi_%?:—iJr:H =+—HLF
fEHAR - %E%%fﬂfzfﬁéiﬁw@@%
340,200 000/%75(_ = T4 1 727,144,000
/%71:)

19.PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

The management of the Group had carried out impairment assessment

on the properties based on the lower of cost and net realisable

value of the freehold lands and recoverable amount of leasehold

land respectively. The recoverable amount of leasehold lands as
at 31st December, 2021 were determined with reference to recent
independent professional valuations.

As at 31st December, 2021, right-of-use assets for leasehold land
amounting to HK$1,722,552,000 (2020: HK$1,970,747,000) are
included in properties for development. During the year ended 31st
December, 2021, the total cash outflow for leases of properties for
development is HK$340,200,000 (2020: HK$727,144,000).

20. REtFE N R 2= 20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2021 2020
THET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BN FIRE Z B Cost of investment in associates
(Hriz) - (Note):
JE g E R A Unlisted associates 3,054,266 3,356,741
FEIG U IER 2 Share of post-acquisition losses
18 N A and other comprehensive
2HEERR expense, net of dividends
2 AT B received (684,401) (588,107)
2,369,865 2,768,634

A :-1— H Z%f*#%i%@ﬁﬁl‘ﬁaﬂs °

Biat . REEERRIRE ZKABER BT FE IR ER
ENEIPTEA ZHE46,0008 T (T =2TF :
46,000787T) °

Details of the principal associates at 31st December, 2021 and 2020

are set out in note 48.

Note:

Included in the cost of investment in associates is goodwill of HK$46,000

(2020: HK$46,000) arising on acquisitions of associates in prior years.
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20. REFE DB 2R (47)

TXHEAARAREERBE QRS BN
BEMHE - TAMBERR R SRIEEEY
BREENRENOBZRARMBERRATE
B o

al

TZ S EN R FRAMHEHRERA

BEAT

fr
EXBEQT M BERE

Zeta Estates Limited

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material
associate is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of material associate

Zeta Estates Limited

2021 2020

FExT FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

MENVE B Current assets 1,125,517 1,409,550

FERBEE Non-current assets 6,695,208 6,771,053

mENaE Current liabilities (204,387) (260,074)

FRBEE Non-current liabilities (1,174,338) (1,220,931)

YA Revenue 306,696 580,240

AFEBHEREEMEM4E  Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (47,229) (184,147)
RAERERE Dividends from

Zeta Estates Limited®J% 2. Zeta Estates Limited during the year 70,123 40,260
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20. REtE N R 2= (%) 20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
ERBMENTIZHRERBEE) Summarised financial information of material associate (continued)
Zeta Estates Limited (/&) Zeta Estates Limited (continued)

it BRI B RS M EREA TP EZMNN Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
Zeta Estates Limited 2 #z FBREI{E IR carrying amount of the interest in Zeta Estates Limited recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020
TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Zeta Estates Limited 2 Net assets of
BEFAE Zeta Estates Limited 6,442,000 6,699,598
& [# 78 Zeta Estates Limited Carrying amount of the Group's
2w BREE interest in Zeta Estates Limited
(REEEARE (Proportion of the Group's
R AR /333.33% ownership interest of 33.33%
(ZT=FT% :33.33%)) (2020: 33.33%)) 2,147,333 2,233,199
BERFERZHENT 2ELER : Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:
2021 2020
THET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEE RN ZaF (EE) The Group’s share of profit (loss) 17,772 (7,163)
REEELZ The Group's share of other
Hih 2 HEUE comprehensive income 7,466 11,332
REEREGZ The Group’s share of total
2EWEERE comprehensive income 25,238 4,169
REBZ R Aggregate carrying value of
g8res ying

BREEE Group’s interests 222,532 535,435
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21.NEELE R 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2021 2020
TERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RIELEMEEREREY Cost of investment in unlisted
A (KTaEi) joint ventures (Note i) 3,486,642 3,383,222
FEMR W BB 12 2 SR T 2 Share of post-acquisition profits
E b 2 E AR and other comprehensive
BUAEE income, net of dividends
received 2,672,756 2,543,463
6,159,398 5,926,685
BERERR(H i) Amounts due from joint ventures
(Note ii) 2,505,719 1,610,297
8,665,117 7,536,982
FERELER_ZT-_—FR_FT_FTF+= Details of the principal joint ventures at 31st December, 2021 and
A=+—BZEHFEHRKIET49 - 2020 are set out in note 49.

(i) REBLERBEZERABERBEFERBELGE
DEREESZEZE291,0008 T (T _ZTF :
291,00087L) - REE-ZT=-_—F+=-A=+—
AIEFEHRE  AEEE & AEZ249,221,000
BIT(ZT T4 : 93,912,000 T) FALE L%

RAEEBERRE —HMALELENERERES
448,276,000/ TL(ZE_ZF : ##) -

(i) 1,686,585,0008L(ZF=F4F : 1,274,118,00078

) BEER R BRI  FHENT10%E12%
(ZZ2-TF : 10%212%) MR -_ZE - %A A
BT -_=FMA(ZZ=TF: ZT=FHA

E_T_-HFNAEE BR_FT__FHAHE
BH—HAERERNK  ARECABIRERE B
mREAEREBB T —EAK - KR TRARER
e REREEEEERDY -

TXHEAARAREERSELETBMNM
BEMHE - TAMBERR R SRIEEEY
BREEMRHENEGZLEMBRRATE
B o

LERDEEDEINZFHRAMHRERA

R

Notes:

(i)

(if)

Included in the cost of investment of joint ventures is goodwill of HK$291,000
(2020: HK$291,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures in prior years.
During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group contributed capital
of HK$249,221,000 (2020: HK$93,912,000) to joint ventures and the Group
recognised return of capital of HK$448,276,000 (2020: HK$nil) from a joint
venture.

The amount of HK$1,686,585,000 (2020: HK$1,274,118,000) is unsecured,
bear interests ranging from 10% to 12% (2020: 10% to 12%) per annum and
repayable from May 2022 to April 2023 (2020: May 2022 to April 2023). For
the amounts due from a joint venture repayable in May 2022, the Group has
intention to extend the repayment date to more than twelve months after the
reporting date. The remaining amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed date of repayment.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s

material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial

information below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Q1. REE ¥R (B)

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

BEAGECECHKERME Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
AZETEH (EE)ER L & AL 8155 (KB BERL A

2021 2020
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENVE E Current assets 17,443,500 13,763,580
IEMBNEE Non-current assets 15,010,688 12,936,902
nEEE Current liabilities (15,778,544) (12,584,982)
SERBBE Non-current liabilities (11,475,666) (9,236,268)

tit BERBESBEIEATIER :

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:

2021 2020
TExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMReFEIER Cash and cash equivalents 2,573,984 2,385,940
ik Atz =N Current financial liabilities
(TBRZHR (excluding trade and other
H b ERERF) payables) (4,579,552) (3,788,997)
FRBEHEE Non-current financial liabilities
(TEREZSH R (excluding trade and other
H e AR ) payables) (8,968,523) (7,417,854)
2021 2020
TExT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
YA Revenue 3,147,478 2,896,923
NG ) Profit for the year 237,053 760,710
RFEz Hfb2HE Other comprehensive
Wz income for the year 131,880 274,505
RFEE 2 EPER Total comprehensive income
4aza for the year 368,933 1,035,215
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21. REE ¥R (&)

EXRGELEZMBENNE
(%)

XL (KB ) ERA A (&)

BRAF R BREATIRR

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

XL E G (EE)BR L A (continued)

The above profit for the year included the followings:

2021 2020

FExT FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

YrEs Ry Depreciation and amortisation 68,169 34,209
B A Interest income 28,258 45,508
ISE=z Interest expense 356,749 268,967
gt & Income tax expense 692,722 402,123

FRE B E R R AR A MR P EROR
ALY (RE) AR AR Z M REEY

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in XZ&EH (£E) BRAA

AR : recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2021 2020
TR FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REETEH (LE)BR Net assets of
NEMEEFAE KRB (B ER QA 5,199,978 4,879,232
OB - FEERR I A Less: Non-controlling interests (217,788) (217,349)
REHIEH (LB BR Shareholders’ equity of
RNA|Z PR REHIER (EE)ER QA 4,982,190 4,661,883
REEPRR L BB (R E) Proportion of the Group’s
BRAFIS0%8HEEH#E ownership interest of 50% in
a2 #n AL (EE)ER QA 2,491,095 2,330,942
BIERRIEZR G2 Share of unrealised profit on
ARETHF] inter-company transactions (100,530) (100,530)
HAh Others (902) (902)
REENR L BN Carrying amount of the Group’s
(EE)BRRARZ interest in X ZHISH (E£E)
fm < FRE(E BRRA 2,389,663 2,229,510
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21. AEELECRRE) 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
BEAGECECHKERME Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(&) (continued)

FYX L BFERERR (EB)ERA A FYXZBERRERE (FE)ERA A

2021 2020
TERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 12,058,460 10,764,314
v >
;F/}\L@J,\E Non-current assets 9,695,582 7,860,908
mBEIE Current liabilities (9,061,749) (8,313,154)
EMBEE Non-current liabilities (10,188,004) (8,522,770)
tiz BERBESBEEATIER : The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:
2021 2020
TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RekHFeEEER Cash and cash equivalents 1,239,740 864,964
mBERAasE Current financial liabilities
(TREXS M (excluding trade and other
HAth T BRFR) payables) (6,200,767) (5,060,197)
FRBEHEE Non-current financial liabilities
(T"BRZXHR (excluding trade and other
Efth BT BRFR) payables) (8,650,305) (7,547,706)
2021 2020
FTET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
YA Revenue 2,840,184 1,012,226
REE A Profit for the year 647,239 126,525
RERZEMEE Other comprehensive
Wz income for the year 67,751 87,414
REL P HEWES Total comprehensive income

4R for the year 714,990 213,939
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21. REE ¥R (&)

EXRGELEZMBENNE
(%)

RINXZRRRERRE (KB ERA A

(&)

BRAFE RN BREATIER

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)

FRYXZBERRERRE (FE)ERA A

(continued)

The above profit for the year included the followings:

2021 2020

FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

HTE Mg Depreciation and amortisation 5,061 4,862
FILEMA Interest income 11,290 11,987
MEER Interest expense 989,016 794,587
FriS izt Income tax expense 974,080 346,272

bt BA RS B R B BRAR A B A R R RE R RO
RINRLZEERERR(EE)BR AT ZER
HBREE TR :

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

carrying amount of the interest in JF®YIRLHREREERE (EF) AR
‘A A] recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020
THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RYNRELHEFREER(SE) Net assets of RIIKR LXK E
BRARINEEFE HR(EE)BRAA 2,504,289 1,789,298
JB FEPERRRERS Less: Non-controlling interests 388 (818)
‘}%W?&ﬂ%ﬁ?%&ﬁ%@(%) Shareholders’ equity of J®YIKXZ
BRI B RS BEREHRE (RE) HRAT 2,504,677 1,788,480
NEENFY K EZEE Proportion of the Group’s
REBHR(EEH)AR ownership interest of 50% in
NAS0%M A RYNRELREFREER(EE)
a2 Jh D BRAF 1,252,339 894,240
TERELZ Exchange differences arising on
EHZ=R capital injection (402) (402)
JEIERARIEZ RS2 Share of unrealised profit on
AREBRHEA inter-company transactions (64,195) (71,100)
REENRIN KR EERE Carrying amount of the Group’s
BR(EE)ARIRZ interest in R 225k 18 & 8
w2z RmE B(EE)BRAF 1,187,742 822,738
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Q1. REE ¥R (B)

EREE X ZMBENRE
(%)

Crystal Idea Management Limited

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

Crystal Idea Management Limited

2021 2020
FHET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

mENEE Current assets 2,313,117 2,573,204
ERBEE Non-current assets 853,351 868,316
mENA G Current liabilities (1,902,077) (2,558,587)
ERBALE Non-current liabilities (1,289,165) (797,555)

bz EERBESEBIEATIER :

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:

2021 2020
THET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMHeEEIER Cash and cash equivalents 334,104 382,780
nBERMBE Current financial liabilities
(TBREZHR (excluding trade and other
HADFERBR) payables) (784,357) (1,414,366)
FERBTRARE Non-current financial liabilities
TEERZSH K (excluding trade and other
HAbFERERF) payables) (1,267,116) (681,983)
2021 2020
FTHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 815,962 83,997
RFEEE Loss for the year (135,941) (85,907)
REFE Bt 2E Other comprehensive income for
ity the year 25,787 41,150
AEEZHER Total comprehensive expense for
it the year (110,154) (44,757)
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21. REE ¥R (&)

EXRGELEZMBENNE
(%)

Crystal Idea Management Limited (&)

BRAFEEBERBENTIER

205

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

Crystal Idea Management Limited (continued)

The above loss for the year included the followings:

2021 2020

TET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

rE R Depreciation and amortisation 20,975 20,387
MEWA Interest income 1,478 2
PSR -4 Interest expense - 777
st (e )28 Income tax (credit) expense (14,414) 17,866

B RS B R R B AR S B A% R R SR AR
Crystal Idea Management Limited 2z 8 3R
BEHER

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

carrying amount of the interest in Crystal Idea Management Limited

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020
FET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Crystal Idea Management Limited Net (liabilities) assets of Crystal
N(BE)EEFE Idea Management Limited (24,774) 85,378
REE M Crystal Idea Proportion of the Group's
Management Limited ownership interest of 50%
50% )7 H in Crystal Idea Management
=) Limited (12,387) 42,689
BEPERHNE Discounted fair value of profit
wEAE AR EE forgo by joint venture partner
TR HEE) (Note) 758,553 731,781
REE P Crystal Idea Carrying amount of the Group’s
Management Limited interest in Crystal Idea
i 2 REE Management Limited 746,166 774,470

Wizt : sZe RN KB YECrystal Idea Management Limited
W HR #9 X9 7E AT F 9 K % A © B Crystal Idea
Management Limited A =2 —tEF i AREEH
—HEEEER ZeEELBENAELELE

Note: The amount represented an agreed distributable profit to be received from
Crystal Idea Management Limited. The amount has been included in interests

in joint ventures since Crystal Idea Management Limited has become a joint

venture of the Group in 2017.
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Q1. REE ¥R (B)

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

BEAGECECHKERME Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(#&) (continued)
R SR U 35 2E 5 R 23 ] M SR U 15 B 5 R 23 ]
2021 2020
FTET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 907,861 1,537,603
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,257,545 2,713,351
mENAGE Current liabilities (834,682) (936,597)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (46,494) (159,342)

btz BERBBEESRBFEATIER

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:

2021 2020
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RekReFEER Cash and cash equivalents 382,918 106,811
mREBTRAR Current financial liabilities
(TEEZXS R (excluding trade and other
EAfth AR FR) payables) = (213,166)
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21. REERE R E)

EXRGELEZMBENNE
(%)

FMRUE i EF R L A ()
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21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

B MR U EE B R 2 & (continued)

2021 2020

THERT FHETT

HK$’000 HK$’000

WA Revenue 1,433,111 1,102,091

AN A Profit for the year 64,616 81,119
RFEEHMEE Other comprehensive income

Was for the year 29,645 144,686

RELZHEWE Total comprehensive income for

ke the year 94,261 225,805
NG PR B BN R B EE Dividends from %/ 52 I th &=

BRARBKRE (M) BBR A A] during the year (Note) 536,970 -

Bit - BE-Z-—F+-A=+—HLEER " KL

ERBENGERETIRES °

BRAFE RN BREATIEE

Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the dividend was settled

through the amount due to joint venture.

The above profit for the year included the followings:

2021 2020

THET TETT

HK$’000 HK$’000

e R Depreciation and amortisation 63 85
A EHA Interest income 434 429
FIEE A Interest expense - 4,146
PG Hise Income tax expense 314,800 160,611
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Q1. REE ¥R (B) 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

BEAGECECHKERME Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(&) (continued)
FMRIUE i EFRL A () BN R W1 ZE B IR 2 & (continued)

LB BRI R RS SRR P EZMRN Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
ERINR U E AR A R 2 A BREE LR ¢ carrying amount of the interest in &I & i ZE B PR A 7] recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020
TERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MR EFR AR Net assets of &k /N 52 I8 i 2=
HEEFE BRAA] 1,284,230 3,155,015
ARE B AR R IR Proportion of the Group’s
BIRAF50%H] ownership interest of 50% in
AR 2 BB BRI EBR AR 642,115 1,577,508
WMEFTEEZ Exchange differences arising on
MEHER capital reduction 17,341 -
AREERER N RIE A Carrying amount of the Group’s
BRARZERZ interest in &R SR i A=
fREE BRAF 659,456 1,577,508

BERFERZEELEZEAES

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually

material:
2021 2020
TET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEEIE 2R The Group’s share of profit 50,000 20,902
REBENL 2 Hith The Group’s share of other
2HEE comprehensive income 52,034 45,593
REEEN 2 2 RS The Group's share of total
1ERE comprehensive income 102,034 66,495
REB R Aggregate carrying value of
BREAEE Group’s interests 1,176,371 522,459
B UCER, U AL B Dividend received/receivable 35,330 25,380
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22.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FELMREES Unlisted investment funds 97,436 113,701
MEEERE Investments in property projects 460,044 530,999
557,480 644,700

FEHRENMIELZ Analysed for reporting

DT purpose as:

ERBEE Non-current assets 505,614 388,878
MENEE Current assets 51,866 255,822
557,480 644,700

P LR BB AR A EBEIIER - RAEER
B2 BERFHHENHEE45C

23. ZREMEERERAANEEEE
ZBRATEA

All of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the
fair value measurements are set out in note 45c.

23.EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2021 2020
B aE FET TET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
REE LT 2 RAE S Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (i) 134,907 229,294
R B _E T 2 B RE 5 Equity securities listed in the PRC (i) 20,385 21,230
JEEMIRAT AR Unlisted equity instrument (i), (ii) 32,660 33,457
187,952 283,981

Mzt - Notes:

() HERETERFEEE MERERIIKEAMN -
EXDEERRERATARAEEREBEME
mPERAREBERER REERR  KRER
E BRREREAABEKAIEBENEIRS)
THEARERMBARERAYBRAREEN
RS o

ETJ?E BEEREMERENIF LT AEMN

o

(if)

lm
r

‘—|I
k =i

o
E)

P LR BB AR A BEIER - AR EER
B2 ERFHENWE45c °

(i)  These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term
strategic purposes. The Directors have elected to designate these investments
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-
term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be
consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term
purposes and realising their performance potential in the long run.

(i) The amount represents equity interest in an unlisted company, which is
principally engaged in property investment.

All of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the
fair value measurements are set out in note 45c.
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24 ¥EFE

AREBZEFTEZTEUNTE - FTEWME
Tf&&$&7“ﬁaﬁ2?ﬁ%ﬂ%o
BR T 15 3,876,327,000 8 T (T & &F
3,122,590,000/8 7T ) 2 B RFVERT T2 B
HEHAT @A RER o

AEEEREENYFTFED RRA R AT #RF
B2 BIEEETHE - IRRFEIZENH
BYABRBEETEMETZEEMETE

24.INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

The Group's inventories of properties are mainly situated in the PRC.
All of the inventories of properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Properties under development with carrying
amount of HK$3,876,327,000 (2020: HK$3,122,590,000) are
expected not to be realised within twelve months from the end of the
reporting date.

The management of the Group had carried out assessment on the
inventories of properties based on the lower of cost and net realisable
value for inventories of properties. The net realisable values were
determined with reference to recent valuations performed by
independent and qualified professional valuers.

25. Btz E 25.OTHER INVENTORIES
2021 2020
T FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
SR fn Finished goods 7,195 11,069
26. BEE QN TR 26.AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

RTE-BFEF"A=1+—H ' BERQRRK
EEER  REMNERKTEE - Z3EE
REBEZE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFEHH

R-ZE-—F+=-H=+—H 243,902,000
BT AERIE RN BRI - FFEE5.5%W
ERZZTIF+AERE - B TREAER
B BB RREERTEE -

RZE-ZFTF+=-A=+—8 ' 276,471,000
BILAEEBERMBRNR  FFAENTFI%E
10%WERE-_—F—HE-_T=-—F A
EiE - R TEAEEE RERREZKT
B -

ERERPRFARBERRR T —EARA
Yem e

As at 31st December, 2020, amounts due from associates were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The amounts had
been settled during the year ended 31st December, 2021.

27.AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

As at 31st December, 2021, the amount of HK$243,902,000 is
unsecured, bear interests at 5.5% per annum and repayable in
December 2022. The remaining amounts are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

As at 31st December, 2020, the amounts of HK$276,471,000 was
unsecured, bear interests ranging from 9% to 10% per annum and
repayable from January 2021 to September 2021. The remaining
amounts were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The management expects the amounts would be recoverable within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
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(i)  FEWEF45,000,00078 7T (=F ZF4F 145,000,000
HBIL) C FRERe%(ZZTZFF : 6%) ' BAERA

MERE(BSHEXBE - IE&HL@H&W)

ME N EEERBERIR
:2:*@‘?— H)i‘JHﬂEm}a

—EF
BRBERE R

_7—7

T F+—A(Z

BEHRZREREA1,881 000/%71(7 EFF

945,000/ 7T ) ©

FEWE5£96,890,000/8 7T ( = =F4F :96,890,000

/’én) BEFEMEEIS%(ZZE_ZTF : 15%) °

LAERABNB A R IR R E R R R B8
¢+H FEEE) - WD

—TTF  RERKER) -
BHRZ BEREA75,272,0008 T ( T -TF ¢

(ZE=ZTF: :2:

ERREBEUER

3,720,000/ 7T) °

I%&/\*ﬁ
miﬂfﬁ&fﬁ K)o

(i)

2021 FiR
mREMBRERMNE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HE-_Z-_—F+_A=1+—HIEFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021
28. BEWWE R 28.LOANS RECEIVABLE
2021 2020
BiEE FET FExT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
$E.rﬂﬁg @% : The Group’s loans receivable comprise:
LB AT A2 Gross amount before impairment:
E?ﬁ#ﬁ Secured (i), (iii) & (iv) 774,841 703,738
IR IR Unsecured (i) & (iii) 874,939 1,112,127
1,649,780 1,815,865
o ORE Less: Impairment (), (i) & (iii) (548,408) (401,396)
1,101,372 1,414,469
SEHREOMIELZ Analysed for reporting
ST purpose as:
FETRED Non-current 488,027 210,464
B Current 613,345 1,204,005
1,101,372 1,414,469
Hiat - Notes:

Loan receivable of HK$45,000,000 (2020: HK$45,000,000) bears interest at
6% (2020: 6%) per annum, is secured under a debenture incorporating second
fixed and floating charge over its undertaking, property and assets of the
borrower and is due for repayment in November 2022 (2020: November 2021)
and is classified as current loans receivable (2020: current loans receivable).
Impairment allowance of HK$1,881,000 (2020: HK$945,000) has been made.

Loan receivable of HK$96,890,000 (2020: HK$96,890,000) carries a fixed
interest rate of 15% (2020: 15%) per annum, is secured by share mortgage of
subsidiaries of borrower, and is past due (2020: due for repayment in October
2021) and is classified as current loans receivable (2020: current loans
receivable). Impairment allowance of HK$75,272,000 (2020: HK$3,720,000)
has been made.
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28. BRE R (#)
Wizt - (#)
0 (#&)
J& Y B 3 300,000,000 8 T (=T = T F :

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

300,000,000 7T ) - i%lﬁm%(—x ?E
30%) WA EIERER  EAHRESER
RBERER(ZTTF - RBEKRER) -

FEURE 4,951,000 TL(ZE=Z4F : £&) - F7
E10% + ARAZELHEBERER  RZT==
E)\ﬂ @JH\HE;% I%ﬁ \iﬁx‘%iEméﬁﬁﬂﬁlgm °

JE U E 5£200,000,000/8 T ( ZE 5 F : &) -
FEI15% U—EBWEEFRIERER R T
—MFE—ARHRRE  YEOBAERBEKE

%4&%%874,939,000?&7%(:;f:§¢ :
882,127,000 7T ) + & F| E N F5.75% = 36%
(ZZE_ZTF : 5, 65%i36%) BEER - Eh
164,088,000/ 7C(=Z = F 4 : 210,896,000/ 7T)
WO BRAFERHERERIR - T -_=F—AZ=—
ToNF+—RA(ZEZFF : ZEF—A=%
ZZENF+—A)HEBERFNENF5.75%
;%s%h%:%i 1 5.75%%12%) ° JEENE RN
il mzauﬂmzmﬁﬁéﬁ 5 Bl A8,911,000/8
71(7 T T4 : 432,000%8 7T ) K 462,243,00074 7T
(ZZT =4 :320,287,000/87T) ©

fE Yg & 3k 128,000,000 T ( = B = T F
230,000,000;571) BEFFEE%(ZE_E
F 1 18%) + LAE R ABM B A 7] 2 B% 4 35 15 4
AER(CE-ZF  \K\) R-T_mF—

R(ZZ-ZF 20 MEE  UHRHSER
ERBERER(ZE=ZZF mébfﬂﬁl‘%?)\)

BT RZBEREH101,0008 T(Z T T4 :
76,012,000/87T) °

RZZE-_ZTEF+_A=+—H BERER
200,000,000 7T * FFE18%  A—f ETAR
MR ERREAER YR -_ZE——F+ A3H5

BERWOBEARBERER - ZFEEREBEZT
T A=+ —HIEFEHERE -

R-ZE-_FE+-_F=+—0 BEUEX
61,848,000/ + FFE5.5% * LAERAR L&

BIEERIE/ER  RF-_—F_AHREYL
BOBMBRBEEER - ZBUEFERBE—F
ZH+ A=t RULFEHHEEE -

EREEEERAEDEER2 T EMATET AN

BE RZZE_—Fk=

Z_TE+-_A=+—HFHE

2 FEMS SR S 1R BRI M T 45b AR 3R

28.LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(continued)

Loans receivable of HK$300,000,000 (2020: HK$300,000,000) bear interest at
30% (2020: 30%) per annum and are secured by share mortgage, are past due
and are classified as current loans receivable (2020: current loans receivable).

Loan receivable of HK$4,951,000 (2020: HK$nil) bear interest at 10% per
annum and is secured by a mortgage over the developable land, is due for
repayment in August 2023 and is classified as non-current loans receivable.

Loan receivable of HK$200,000,000 (2020: HK$nil) bears interest at 11.5%
per annum and is secured by a mortgage over a property, is due for repayment
in January 2024 and is classified as non-current loans receivable.

Loans receivable of HK$874,939,000 (2020: HK$882,127,000) bear
interests ranging from 5.75% to 36% (2020: 5.65% to 36%) per annum,
are unsecured. Of which HK$164,088,000 (2020: HK$210,896,000) are
classified as non-current loans receivable and are due for repayment from
January 2023 to November 2024 (2020: from January 2022 to November
2024) and carry interests ranging from 5.75% to 8% (2020: 5.75% to 12%)
per annum. Impairment allowance of HK$8,911,000 (2020: HK$432,000) and
HK$462,243,000 (2020: HK$320,287,000) has been made for the non-current
loans receivable and current loans receivable, respectively.

Loan receivable of HK$128,000,000 (2020: HK$230,000,000) carries a fixed
interest rate of 6% (2020: 18%) per annum, is secured by share mortgage
of subsidiaries of borrower (2020: unsecured), and is due for repayment
in February 2024 (2020: past due) and is classified as non-current loans
receivable (2020: current loans receivable). Impairment allowance of
HK$101,000 (2020: HK$76,012,000) has been made.

Loan receivable of HK$200,000,000 as at 31st December, 2020 bore interest
at 18% per annum, was secured by share mortgage of a listed company and
was due for repayment in October 2021 and was classified as current loans
receivable. The balance was settled during the year ended 31st December,
2021.

Loan receivable of HK$61,848,000 as at 31st December, 2020 bore interest
at 5.5% per annum, was secured by land and improvements of the borrower,
was due for repayment in February 2021 and was classified as current loans
receivable. The loan receivable had been settled during the year ended 31st
December, 2021.

The provision of ECL was determined by the Directors, with reference to a valuation

performed by the Valuer. The loss allowance provision for loans receivable as at
31st December, 2021 and 2020 is disclosed in note 45b.
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9.XGREMEWERR - RERE
(EA

)5 85 & 75 T B R MR IR R IR B & 1 8V 1K
%EIE/EJLE\ °

B THREEFRRARKBYMERENHE WA
RRAEBZEOGRZN  ARE—RETE
F=1tHEZE—A_THNEMAREY -

RImERR - KB (BREKESR) 2
RREETIAT -

29.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

Proceeds receivable in respect of sales of properties are settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase
agreements.

Except for the proceeds from sales of properties and rental income
from lease of properties which are payable in accordance with the
terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a credit
period of 30 days to 120 days to its customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, including
rental receivables, at the end of the reporting period:

2021 2020
TR THET

HK$/000 HK$’000

LH91H Less than 91 days 41,835 37,591
91E180H 91 to 180 days 2,301 2,846
181%365H 181 to 365 days 65 69
3658 Over 365 days 1,761 493
45,962 40,999

R-E-_—FR-FT-_FTF+-_A=+—8"
HEURR - e RENRERERE - B
BRURERUCHIS

As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020, other receivables, deposits
and prepayments include deposits, prepaid expenses and interest
receivables.
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0. ZBEZRAANAEBEEEZRAK

30.EQUITY SECURITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
FHET FHT
HK$/000 HK$’000

FHEEE : Held-for-trading:
AR B £ 2 IR AR EE Equity securities listed in the PRC 53,898 56,245
Efth Others 1,005 79
54,903 56,324

RPB EHZBRAFSFZ AR BB - M&
RRBENVREEERZAMBLMEEAE
B - AR BEFEZERFENHEE45c

31. R R H A EEFBR X

RBEBMR  KHENER(BEER G LE
fEMNERRA)REZBH20 2 RE DT
LN

Equity securities listed in the PRC are stated at fair value which is

determined based on the quoted market bid price available on the
relevant exchanges. Details of the fair value measurements are set out

in note 45c.

31.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables by age, presented
based on the invoice date, which is included in trade and other

payables, at the end of the reporting period:

2021 2020
FTET FHET

HK$/000 HK$’000

D918 Less than 91 days 736,575 285,013
91%E180H 91 to 180 days 171,436 6,125
18123658 181 to 365 days 873 35,187
365H A E Over 365 days 338,620 250,238
1,247,504 576,563

ﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁfkig’\i%? & ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁ :
FENFE RENER -

As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020, other payables mainly include
deposits, other tax payables, interest payables and accrued expenses.
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32.6HNEE 32.CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2021 2020
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MEHE Sales of properties 2,965,991 1,708,450

TRETAFERANBAREESL
ZEH -

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

MEHE MEIHE
Sales of Sales of
properties properties
2021 2020
THET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEREHEEFVEHA  Revenue recognised that was included in the
REERAWAR contract liabilities balance at the beginning of
£ %8 the year 777,196 1,082,622

RZE-_FTF—H—H
1,081,448,0005 7T °

CARNBEERAS

$El£§ﬁEﬂJ§§m F o —REE
F30%&50%( T -_TF : 30%150%> =)
FEBEIERE - A BEMSERL 0%
FREARTETHMNEBEINBEENSKE
EIHEEELERT - AEEERR RSN
Mo AFISNMENFZETEELEZANBERE
A% TEPRER  BEERFESBERTY
E R

As at Tst January, 2020, contract liabilities amounted to HK$1,081,448,000.

The Group generally receives 30% to 50% (2020: 30% to 50%) of the
contract value as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreement. However, depending on market conditions, the
Group may offer customers a discount compared to the listed sales
price, provided that the customers agree to pay the balance of the
consideration early while construction is still ongoing. The deposits
and advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.
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33. T BB 33.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
2021 2020
FER FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RITEN Bank loans 6,840,155 5,944,444
HEMER Other loans 715,878 451,421
7,556,033 6,395,865
HEM Secured 6,140,155 5,444,622
I Unsecured 1,415,878 951,243
7,556,033 6,395,865
BREERATEER Carrying amount repayable:
—F R Within one year 1,950,545 826,751
ZR—F More than one year, but not
BT EBE R exceeding two years 771,876 1,904,392
ZRMF - More than two years, but not
BTBRRASF exceeding five years 2,283,752 1,415,981
ZREF More than five years 1,385,446 1,248,203
6,391,619 5,395,327
BERIRERER Carrying amount of bank and
1RFREERTT I other loans that contain a
HMERREER repayment on demand clause
RUTER but repayable:
—F R Within one year 833,073 861,832
ZHR—F More than one year, but not
BT EBE R exceeding two years 111,829 30,824
ZRMF - More than two years, but not
BRBBAF exceeding five years 219,512 107,882
1,164,414 1,000,538
7,556,033 6,395,865
B HIRREN A ER Less: Amounts due within one
—FREEZ year shown under current
RIE liabilities (3,114,959) (1,827,289)
— &3 78 Amounts due after one year 4,441,074 4,568,576
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33. Mt B &Rk (&) 33.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

REREHR - E Mt E A 35320,634,000 At the end of the reporting period, included in other loans are loans
BIT(ZE T F : 234,676, 0007 7T ) FEF F payable of HK$320,634,000 (2020: HK$234,676,000) to related
BREAT 2 ER - EFEERMT43(a) R (e)E,  parties, details of which are set out in note 43(a) & (e).

Bl o

AT - —%+—-F=+—H 496,366,000 As at 31st December, 2021, HK$496,366,000 (2020:
B (T T 1 451,421,000870) 2 Ef  HK$451,421,000) of other loans are repayable within one year.
ERAR—FERNEE 219,512,000 T(—F  HK$219,512,000 (2020: HK$nil) of other loans are repayable more
“EFE)ZEMEFERMFENRN - B than two years, but not exceeding five years.

BAFEE -

AEBEYH T FEEARAHNTET2EEE  The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate borrowings and the contractual

(REHFEBRIWNT : maturity dates (or repricing dates) are as follows:
2021 2020
FTHET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERMER Fixed-rate borrowings:
—FR Within one year 1,251,975 829,007
ZR—%F More than one year, but not
BARZRME more than two years 178,171 587,765
ZIME More than two years, but not
BAZR=4%F more than three years 131,707 433,647
ZR=F - More than three years, but not
BARZRME more than four years 140,244 127,059
ZRME - More than four years, but not
BTZRAF more than five years 95,331 138,235
ZHREF More than five years 100,610 183,143

1,898,038 2,298,856
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33. Mt EER &)
N - NEEE 22 BB 425,454,000 7T (=

T — T4 1 445,685,000 7T) * 200,000,000
BIL(ZEZZF 100000000;@7‘5) e
500,000,000 7t (=& == 4 : 300,000,000
W IT) ~ 3,223,654,0008 T (& _;fi :
564,338,000 70 ) }.1,308,887,00075 7T (==
ZFH 1 2,686,986,00075 7T ) 7 ;“;U?***f%ﬁﬁ@z
?FF KR ([ EERRITFRFESFE D NE

DH130%(ZF=FF : BERTTRIZEREM
BHE1.30%) « —HERITATRZFIR B DL
1.75% (=T =T F : —fRITATIR 2 FI=
ANH1.75%) %%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ BB
1.68%(ZZ=_ZF : HBRITRAZEREINED
tb1.68%) ~ FIELEE ﬁiﬁi&f,ﬂ (—4FH])
MME DN F0.45%%E2.025%( - T - T4F :
FIRUEFMEREFNE(—FE)MNED LN
F0.5%%2.025%) RFIENFER T HREF)
KR (AFH)R0.095% 2 EFR IS HEF R (R
FEIM1.525%(ZFB=FF : FIRNTERT
BREMNE(AFH)R034% 2 EHRTIHRE
FIR(RFH)MN1.525%):TEFE - FI8F—
BRAEE+_@A(Z=E_=F : §—@AZE
B+-@REHTE -
RZBE=Z—F+=-A=+—8 " FEMExEM
BHRABERBR _E_—_FE5_T_NF
ZECERF . T —FE-FT_LF)F
B ISRETARAEERBYEREEE
j\’% o
AEBERZEBANE(BENE
NN

HIM R ) EE

33.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In addition, the Group has variable-rate borrowings of
HK$425,454,000 (2020: HK$445,685,000), HK$200,000,000 (2020:
HK$100,000,000), HK$500,000,000 (2020: HK$300,000,000),
HK$3,223,654,000 (2020: HK$564,338,000) and HK$1,308,887,000
(2020: HK$2,686,986,000) which carry interest at Sterling Overnight
Indexed Average (“SONIA”) plus a percentage of 1.30% (2020: LIBOR
plus a percentage of 1.30%), interest rate quoted by a bank plus a
percentage of 1.75% (2020: interest rate quoted by a bank plus a
percentage of 1.75%), HIBOR plus a percentage of 1.68% (2020:
HIBOR plus a percentage of 1.68%), interest rate at Loan Prime rate
(one year) plus a percentage ranging from 0.45% to 2.025% (2020:
interest rate at Loan Prime rate (one year) plus a percentage ranging
from 0.5% to 2.025%) and interest rates ranging from Loan Prime rate
(five year) minus 0.095% to Loan Prime rate (five year) plus 1.525%
(2020: interest rates ranging from Loan Prime rate (five year) minus
0.34% to Loan Prime rate (five year) plus 1.525%) respectively.
Interest is repriced every one month to every twelve months (2020:
every one month to every twelve months).

As at 31st December, 2021, the variable-rate borrowings bear interest
at market rates and will be matured from 2022 to 2029 (2020: from
2021 to 2027). The proceeds were used to finance the acquisitions of
properties and operating activities of the Group.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2021 2020

BEERA =

Effective interest rate:
ERER

Fixed-rate borrowings
T BB

Variable-rate borrowings

2.50%£12.60%
2.50% to 12.60%
1.35%%6.18%
1.35% to 6.18%

2.50%%10.00%
2.50% to 10.00%
1.32%%6.18%
1.32% to 6.18%
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33. M EER =)
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33.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

REEWESERCEAEZR TIEEE : The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:
AEK¥ Hong Kong British  Australian st
RMB Dollars Pound Dollars Total
FTHET THET FTHET FHET FTERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—E-—F 2021
SRITREMER  Bank and other loans 6,380,283 705,000 425,454 45,296 7,556,033
—TTF 2020
SRITREMER Bank and other loans 5,385,556 405,000 445,685 159,624 6,395,865
34. BB 34.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS
2021 2020
THET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FESTESE = R BI5RIE Amounts due to associates 1,447 15
B /\%ﬁ;\% Amounts due to joint ventures 815,885 1,726,110
P=E=2s Hﬂ&ﬁ{l Advances from non-controlling
(7N interests 177 171
817,509 1,726,296
FREERIATER Carrying amount repayable:
RRBBET On demand or within one
JEE sk year shown under current
H—FR liabilities 817,509 1,726,296
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4. REEBR@E) 34.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
AREE R BERZREER NIEEBEHE The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-free borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

BT
ARE Hong Kong e
RMB Dollars Total
TET TFET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—E-—F 2021
e BER Interest-free borrowings 812,601 4,908 817,509
—E-TF 2020
S BER Interest-free borrowings 1,726,278 18 1,726,296
RERELEEE R NREERKTNEER The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
35. 7 35.SHARE CAPITAL
EERRGEA [
Number of ordinary shares Share capital
2021 2020 2021 2020
TET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BREITRAR Issued and fully paid:
RAREL] At beginning of the year 1,500,647,491 1,500,647,491 3,788,814 3,788,814
ftn Bl & Shares repurchased
B and cancelled (34,578,000) - = -

RARER At end of the year 1,466,069,491 1,500,647,491 3,788,814 3,788,814
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35. A& (&) 35.SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

REBEZE-_T-_—F+-_A=T—HILLFEH
- NRAEB R FTEEE EERnT

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Company
repurchased its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as

follows:

(el f% BENRERRE
Egilre s FE (REFAFIZAT)
Number of Price per share Aggregate
Month of cancellation ordinary shares = 4= &I/  consideration paid
ERIERM T A of shares repurchased repurchased Highest Lowest (before expenses)
BT BT THT
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
—E-—F+tA July 2021 20,609,000 4.50 4.50 92,741
—E-—FNA September 2021 6,756,000 4.50 4.42 30,357
—E—%+A October 2021 7,191,000 4.50 4.41 32,344
—Z—F+—A November 2021 2,000 4.21 4.15 8
—T-—F+ZA December 2021 20,000 4.20 4.20 84

34,578,000

W BB RS 10 FT S M) 42 € B8 %) 5155,534,000/8
U0 WEREFD&EFF R o FTE REMRD
HE WAL o

The total amount paid to acquire the shares was approximately
HK$155,534,000 which had been deducted from retained earnings.
All the repurchased shares were cancelled.
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36. s

AEENHEGBREIZEEREAENBARES
RS2 (WA REEHE) RBEAT
BAERZEREH(WEBEREEAZEN)M
BHARARRREIEEEFEZED -

FEREFMERL 2 HEBAR - BERRREE

% - HAlfEHF RSB ReHaE AR E
BB - WR T ZE QR FTHER RARE 2 Hh
KB fE o

36.RESERVES

Other reserves of the Group mainly comprise the change in net
assets attributable to owners of the Company in relation to changes
in ownership interest in subsidiaries without losing of control
and changes in ownership interest in associates without losing of
significant influence.

The remittance outside of the PRC of retained earnings of the
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures established in the PRC is
subject to approval of the local authorities and the availability of
foreign currencies generated and retained by these companies.

AR RREG 2 E G HE Revaluation reserves attributable to owners of the Company
MEEMRE REEMRE
Property Investment
revaluation  revaluation #at
reserve reserve Total
FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZE-_TF—H—H At 1st January, 2020 10,752 (149,599) (138,847)
FHREA R ERER Net change in fair value of
DRABEEREZRATEA  equity instruments
NAEBEZFE at FVTOCI - (90,226) (90,226)
FRE A 2 EWEIR Deferred tax effect on
NRAEBEEEZRATE  change in fair value of
ARBEZESHZ an equity instrument
RERIAN T E at FVTOCI - 1,004 1,004
HE—fMEARRKEAER  Transfer on disposal of a subsidiary (65) - (65)
R-T_FTF At 31st December,
+=—A=+— 2020 10,687 (238,821) (228,134)
FREMEE WS };z Net change in fair value of
AREBEREZRATEA  equity instruments
DABEZFE at FVTOCI - (96,587) (96,587)
FHiREA R ERER Deferred tax effect on
NRBEEEZBRATIE  change in fair value of
ARBEZESHZ an equity instrument
EERBNTE at FVTOCI - 523 523
N-E——F At 31st December,
+=BA=+-A8 2021 10,687 (334,885  (324,198)
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37. —BHEFZEEZHEES WA

BER=F ?_%Tizm Sk =—ETTH
F 2 IEFUEET © 130,625,000 T 2 38 B iE
RS WA JU R ETRFR+EFHERD
NEZEFTABEAEABESBA - RZF
——F+-A=+—H R—FRFFABFEZ
—ZHFPZEERS WA ES,771,00078 (=
T -FF 8,461,000 L) EBRIEER S RHE
b FESFBR TR

38. BRI IH

RAFRERBEFEERNEIRELEHARE
(BE)REZSHHWT ¢

37.DEFERRED RENTAL INCOME FROM A TENANT

Pursuant to a tenancy agreement entered in 2002 and revision of
terms in 2005, HK$130,625,000 was classified as deferred rental
income and is released to the profit or loss as rental income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term of 17 years from 2005. At 31st
December, 2021, deferred rental income from a tenant to be released
within one year of HK$8,771,000 (2020: HK$8,461,000) has been
included in trade and other payables.

38.DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

RRASE L EREDN
LEHBR nERZ
fEtiBE NEMER
Adjustments Elimination
toconformto  KAEKER  of inter-
Bab the Group's ~ ZFERH  company
Business accounting  Withholding  charges in
combinations ~ Eft¥# policies faxon  properties
() Revaluatonof (M) undistributed  (Aftii)  HEFE At @it
(Notei) ~ properties  (Notei)  earnings  (Noteiii)  Tax losses Others Total
AT ThT T THT i T ThT TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-%5-A-H At Tst January, 2020 112,490 2,059,166 50,388 313,268 (26,751) (316) 1394 2,509,639
[ A Exchange adjustments 1,542 111,797 3,520 - - - - 116,859
RERBRE (Credit) charge to profit or
()i loss for the year 7) (6,759) 3,303 50,721 - - 507 47,785
RERBER Credit to revaluation reserve
fEED for the year - - (1,004) - - - - (1,004)
WZE-EF+-A At 31st December,
=t+-A 2020 114,025 2,164,204 56,227 363,989 (26,751) (316) 1,901 2,673,279
A% Exchange adjustments 1,016 81,586 1,425 - - - - 84,027
RERBRE (Credit) charge to profit or
(Bm) Mk loss for the year (7) 648,795 63,517) 87,550 - - (700 672,751
RERBELR Credit to revaluation reserve
R for the year - - (523) - - - - (523)
RE-—F+-4 At 31st December,
=1+-A 2021 115,034 2,894,585 (6,388) 451,539 (26,751) (316) 1,631 3,429,534
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38 EERE (2)
Wit :

(i) BRBMBARKEEEREBENEREEFELAR
BEAEMEEZ EHEZENTIEYE -

(i) BEETHBRRSERRASEWRARER YR
BRAABRNMe BREERRBELRBEMELEZ
ERMEZENTATE  HPeFimgERz$
BXAEHAENFRRMEZBEMEEZY
Rt ZR 2 HIARE -

(i) EWHEREEAMCAMBARNERTYE BER
ITYEGFERREMERLZ ARHERMELZ
TREEENATE -

ETEENRBREENBERERSMBARREK
2IABRMmMIELESE - U TRELEHIBARA
e RS SRS R R EL DA

38.DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)  This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities upon
acquisition of subsidiaries.

(i) This includes the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
adjustments to management accounts of certain subsidiaries to conform to
the Group’s policies of revenue recognition and capitalisation of property
development cost, which includes tax effect of the temporary difference arising
from PRC Enterprise Income Tax saving on LAT and amortisation of properties
for development.

(iii) This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from
the elimination of inter-company charges originally capitalised as cost of
properties under development, inventories of completed properties and
investment properties of subsidiaries.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

2021 2020

FTHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

BEEHIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 3,545,971 2,798,977
IR E B Deferred tax assets (116,437) (125,698)
3,429,534 2,673,279
RIMEBHAR  AEEHBAIEERIEF 2 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
*iﬂﬁﬁfﬂlﬁgﬂﬁ1 413,041,000/ C( —ZFE=F  of HK$1,413,041,000 (2020: HK$1,127,697,000) available for offset
F :1,127,697,000/7C) ° LLAREATIEEE  against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
F121,913,0008 7T (—ZFE -F % : 1,913,000 respect of HK$1,913,000 (2020: HK$1,913,000) of such losses.

BIL)EERABRLEREEE - ARERTEM
KACHEFRM - BER T 21,411,128,000/% T
—E-FF 11,125,784, oooiﬁfc)jﬁ,ﬁ\ﬁﬁ’u%
BELEFHIBEE - ARERTIBEBEEE/#NZ

:/—\EZEﬁLEﬁiﬂz@J,HﬂZJZEﬁ¢E329,630,000,%
TT(ZZE T4 : 361,790,000/ 7T) > EAbE

BRI AT A SRR AR B -

RBERAR  AEBEMAHR GREER
£825,600,000/8 (= FE=FF 782,203,000
BTL) o SRR RN AR BE A FE SR B a1 K 48
AIEAZAMAEREERE - WMAKELER
S RTHUR B R = R REE TR IE A E ©

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$1,411,128,000 (2020: HK$1,125,784,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of HK$329,630,000 (2020: HK$361,790,000) that
will gradually expire until 2026. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of HK$825,600,000 (2020: HK$782,203,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.



e MB | R ME

REFEREBRAT]
B 2021 f%& 225

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE_Z-—F+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

39. HEZH
AEBAHER

RBER - ETREVEZHEREAZY
ENABEARBRLEZBE  SHM=1T1%F "
YR AEHTHEE LB TEMBENETE -
HE DEARAZWA(BEHBREER) <& T
LREAE - YMEREFES - HREME
Z%ﬂ SN —FE2TERAZHHEYES
TAHEAERELETRE

HEPRUYCARRIRBEFTRAT

39.LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, certain investment properties are
leased out for a period of up to a maximum of 35 years from the
date of commencement of operation of a lessee that occupies the
properties, without given any renewal priority at the end of the lease.
The rentals are calculated at a certain percentage of the revenue (net
of value added tax) of the lessee, with a minimum annual rental.
Other investment properties were leased out for periods ranging from
one year to ten years and the majority of the leases do not have any
renewal priorities given to the lessees.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2021 2020
FERT FAT

HK$/000 HK$’000

—FR Within one year 479,572 378,221
FF In the second year 361,371 263,630
F=F In the third year 255,026 180,161
Eyuifes In the fourth year 222,825 140,099
ERF In the fifth year 209,862 122,656
AFEZE After five years 2,289,275 817,204
3,817,931 1,901,971

HAMR e EBEHAN AR REE
——F+-A=Z+—HIFEER ﬁﬁﬁiuﬁz
AH) & %8 534,882,000 8 (T T F :
28,464,000787C) °

Contingent rents which is linked to the lessee’s turnover amounted
to HK$34,882,000 (2020: HK$28,464,000) are recognised as rental
income for the year ended 31st December, 2021.

40. B AEGH 40.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
2021 2020
FET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEEPE Capital expenditure in respect of

b AR contracted commitments for

B HEGER acquisition of land use rights
BRI in the PRC 108,622 104,788

BREAT—HLEA
FRBEREANEBERE
ZEREEWIRERT AT

BARLAT—H
AEPE

Capital contribution to

an investee company classified

as a financial asset at FVTPL 13,648 17,319
Capital contribution to

a joint venture 292,683 -
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41.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND FINANCIAL
GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

N IEEERMBRREE

(@ AEERZZE-_—F+-A=+—HKEZ (a) At 31st December, 2021 and 31st December, 2020, the Group

TEFT_A=+—HZERET

had guarantees as follows:

2021 2020
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AERITIEL 2 Guarantees given to banks in
R respect of:
—MEERERZ — mortgage loans granted to
RIBER property purchasers 1,472,516 345,884
—REEERZ — banking facilities granted to
RITEE joint ventures
—B1EF _ utilised 1,411,962 631,360
— AR fE A ~ not yet utilised 730,799 363,363
——EoBEAREBER - banking facilities granted
BARNBEREZEMEEZ to an investee company
WIRE R A classified as a financial
ERZIRITIEE asset at FVTPL
—B2%H — utilised 15,442 1,956
— AR fE - not yet utilised 280,665 -
REEERERZ Guarantees given to lenders in
Hih EREERA respect of other loans granted
e 2 1R to joint ventures
—2&A — utilised 512,195 -
—RAREA — not yet utilised 212,501 -
MY EERIAR Guarantees granted in respect of
iff A0 2 F AR 75 utility supplies and government
e R BUT #E R TR authorities for the property
2R development works 566 596
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N.IRRERUBERER ()

(b)

MASBE v EECERBMEERENA
90,494,000/ C( ZZE =Z4F : 89,622,000
BILMMB(ZE_ZF : MB)SEED
HEEREHEEETHE THRE - 25

BRGERBEZ IHBAR TRIIE
A - BRE D T REBEREEE 28T
BRI BREFEHIHMBEREEEKK
IE7EFAEE -

AN - BAEE Z—HAEECEREM
BRE{E49289,967,000/8 T (ZE =T 4 -
256,210,000/870) 2 R EE W E H
RS ABE L - —HI N —Hi—H#t 3¢
BZE&ETEERR M-tk =H
—WERCEETEEN LFERER -

AEBEREESRH IEZSFLETRE L
AENTHERAIGERSBARFELH
I BRERF R e AR LE % F L D B R
BE A - BEEENEEREE
RARZATE - REBZERER - A%E
EHBREEELE  XRSHELM
WAATEHE - RIBFEZFNHER - BN
FHRE S EEBERRMAREMEL TR

—RIBTEHAEEN —HEELEES
BRAZREEEFD - REREEN
BB HA9262,112,000/8 7T © 5ZR217
HEHZERREASEREE S E #
AT AR LA B ERRIIRE « AT H
LDUIBITHFR  MZAELED LF - %
REBOERE  NARETE - BIBEERE
ER  AEEEFGZRERESTRAER
SEEHZREEEME NNEE - MZR
B TSHYBERREEEATE -
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41.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND FINANCIAL

GUARANTEE CONTRACTS (CONTINUED)

Two pieces (2020: two pieces) of properties for development that
are held by joint ventures of the Group with carrying value of
approximately HK$90,494,000 (2020: HK$89,622,000) are under
idle land investigation by the local authorities. These pieces of
lands owned by the joint ventures were held under several land
use right certificates. The development of more than half of the
pieces of lands were either completed or under development,
except for the portions which are retained for the remaining
development of the whole project.

Further, property for development that is held by another joint
venture of the Group with carrying value of approximately
HK$289,967,000 (2020: HK$256,210,000) had been identified as
idle land by the local authority. The construction works for Phase
1 and Phase 2 Part 1 of the development have been completed.
The construction works for Phase 2 Part 2 and Phase 3 Part 1 of
the development have started last year.

The Group is currently working diligently to prevent the possible
classification as idle land for those under idle land investigation
and taking remedy action to prevent from prosecution for those
had been identified as idle land, including negotiating the
feasibility of development plans with local authorities. Based on
legal advices, the Group has assessed the issue and considers that
the idle land confiscation can be reversed. In the opinion of the
Directors, the economic outflows caused by above cases are not
probable.

A bank has initiated legal proceedings against a joint venture of
the Group as one of the guarantors claiming for outstanding loan
and interest of totalling approximately HK$262,112,000.The bank
reported that the loan was granted to a former shareholder of the
joint venture before the acquisition of interest in that joint venture
by the Group. The court judgement was held in favour of the
bank and the joint venture appealed. The case has remanded for
retrial and is still pending by the court. Based on legal advices,
the Group has assessed the claim and in the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has rigid grounds against the claim and the
claim will not have material effect on the financial statements.
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42. RIREFIFE

AR B2 R ERKE ERPIE D 2 ERBHR
AE(TBRRAGE ] RRBRS RN =%
ERE+ ARz BEEFE([BESE
2 - ZEFABZEERAEE 2 BEED R
B AFEHRAEERAERZES - £RES
FHEIIL ZAT - RRBERERAEINE 2BE
ARBEES SRR BB ERES A
g MAER_ZTTF+ - —BRAKH
ABZREASEBEDE -

HRBEestEKE  EERAEB ZHK
BRERESABEBAZS%  @FlMHERA
30,000/ 7L ' MEIFBAZERF BB
30,0007 © ANEE IV EL 5% 2 T AR ©

BERKAENESRREREERAEEZ
BARK - BEECHRERRELRFT S 20%E
5% @ MASEZHREAZEERNAEE 2R
BEENT5%E10% > WERBREEREHFA
R 2 ISHRERAE DB ERKGTE - %2
B KA IR A EE 2 B HR - R
4+ -A=+—BUIFERAKR_ZTE-ZFT

FTZA=FT—HIEFER - WAL HERAE
R - RIEER - WHESFR TR
RIRFTEIM B2 U2 BB VEHIRUS 2R 2 FE

K -

ARRRAFBEKLZ KB R REEZFBEIK
fTEE 2 BREERAEBAFTEZKE - %F
B R RAER—ELPIN TEERIERHR -
DMEZ R ERFTEI 2 ES o BNZRIKER
AHEl > AEEE R IREHREERMER

Rz -_—F+-_A=+—HIFER
NEEDHA31,452,000/8 T ( —E -84 :
15,358,00078 7C) ERKEFIFTE ©

42.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance
(“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to
the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying
within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, both employees’ and the Group’s
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly relevant
income, with the mandatory cap of HK$30,000, and the Group will
make 5% top-up contribution if an employee’s monthly basic salary
exceeds HK$30,000.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from the
employees at rates ranging from 0% to 5% and from the Group
at rates ranging from 5% to 10% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of service with the Group. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the amount of forfeited contributions. During the years ended 31st
December, 2021 and 31st December, 2020, there were no forfeited
contributions used to offset contributions. At the end of the reporting
period, no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees
leaving the ORSO Scheme, are available to reduce the contributions
payable in future years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.

During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of HK$31,452,000
(2020: HK$15,358,000).
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43. FBEAN L 2R F R &R 43.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
REBHEEMEAT CERR S REKRIT ¢ The Group had material transactions and balances with related parties
as follows:
2021 2020
FTHET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(@ ARBEZ (a) The ultimate holding
R A 7 SRS company of the Company,
NETE R AGL, and its subsidiaries
- Fﬂﬁ% — Short-term lease
W ER ) 52 HA payments, property
HEMIE - management and
MEEE N air-conditioning fees
=RER charged to the Group 3,906 5,160
—AAEEKERZ - Management fee charged
BEEEH to the Group 52,486 50,180
— [A)Z 55 I ER Y — Internal audit service and
NERE T IR S management information
EREMES system service fee
BR7%S & A charged to the Group 340 360
—mAEEWERZ — Interest expenses charged
MEEBR to the Group 5,582 6,528
— MAEEWERZ - Sundry expenses charged
Hih & to the Group 296 312
— H U AR X — Other receivable 517 -
— H T BR X — Other payable 157 10,361
— RN ER(Hti) — Loans payable (Note i) 101,122 234,676
— BT AREE — Loan facility granted to
BRARERZ but not yet utilised by
BEXER the Group 169,860 66,979
b) KA FZ—fH (b) A fellow subsidiary of
RANE AR —FBEBR QA the Company, Sun Hung
([FBED) Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”)
NEHEB AT and its subsidiaries
— REERER — Lease payments and
ETEERRIA K property management
MEEERE fee income earned by
WA the Group 2,401 2,190
—AEEHREZ ~ Interest income earned by
MBHA the Group 4,456 4,466
— R E R (B 57ii) — Loan receivable (Note ii) 77,500 77,500
— H IR — Other receivable 574 574

— H M e AR K — Other payable 1,124 1,085
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3. FREALT 2R Rt E)

43.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(CONTINUED)
2021 2020
FET FHETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
c T2EHEEAR (c) Key management personnel
Edl compensation
—¥Hre MEMEH — Salaries and other short-
=l term benefits 59,432 63,756
—RIRENER — Post-employment costs 388 625
d) BERRIRAEERE (d) Associates and joint ventures
— REEBRER — Lease payments earned
HFRE I8 by the Group 814 456
—AEERRZ — Interest income earned by
FLEHA the Group 93,327 79,961
—AAREBERERZ — Interest expense charged
MEER to the Group = 306
—REE D W R - Dividend received or
ZHEE receivable by the Group 642,421 90,596
— MAKEWERZ — Property management fee
VHEERE charged to the Group 6,708 5,912
—REERRZ — Consultancy fee and
BEE LIRS E service fee income
WA earned by the Group 17,752 16,576
—Maghx — Financial guarantee given
EERNEERZ to banks in respect of
RITEERRTT banking facilities granted
e 2 75 to and utilised by joint
R ventures 1,411,962 631,360
—ABEER - Financial guarantee given
BRARERZ to banks in respect of
RITEEMIRTT banking facilities granted
e Z 5 to but not yet utilised by
IR joint ventures 730,799 363,363
— e EREER - Financial guarantee given
REffERz to lenders in respect of
HAnEFREERA other loans granted to
e 2 B 75 and utilised by a joint
R venture 512,195 -
— AR ERERE — Financial guarantee given
ARG 2 to lenders in respect of
Hitn &R AfER other loans granted to
e 2 B but not yet utilised by
R joint ventures 212,501 -
— HAb AR K — Other receivables 1,588 126
— H T BR 3R — Other payable 125 295
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3. FREALT 2RI Rt E)

43.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(CONTINUED)
2021 2020
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(e) MAaKEZHBE N (e) Associates of AGL
— REERIA — Lease payments and
HEIE N property management
MEERE fee income earned
WA by the Group 115 -
—MAREEYERZ — Interest expense charged
FIE & B to the Group 2,320 -
—EREXR — Loan payable
(Histiii) (Note iii) 219,512 -
— H AR X — Other payable 1,027 -

BRANA RS R BRI 2 TTBURS M E AR
Bz - ARBZ—FHKER R EBA &

PN IS
BT 2 AEPE AT RIS ) B IR E A R SRS 17
mAAEEETEE Y —HBAR RBEE
B EERNREI L2 HEREIN - A L FRE

AL 2R 5 ARERAR AR LR RIPTSR
ENRERZAFEMERS

TREEEABHMZFBENME12R13
AEEETIEEEEABK —REAALQT
ER gD ARRBME - ZARIRAEER
HEERS - YAZFABREMITIEANEE
ZEBREREASHREHRZRY - MAKEK
RERER  ZEEERCEREANE Q)
DR E 2 ERERT

FHiEEBRTNREREEAENAEEEL
FiffHzbEEatE WA o2 il BEE
FAE°@AM§ﬁﬁ%8MWM%ELJ

T4 1 41,884,000/870) + WEBE Ll
EMEEAE\%‘%MW °

BEDERIE N R EW (FER)R
BRSSO R K sE21

B2 BREE
26~ 2734 -

Apart from the sharing of administrative services and management
services agreement entered into by the Company with AGL, the
internal audit services and management information system services
agreement entered into by a subsidiary of the Company with AGL,
and leasing agreements entered into by the Group with a subsidiary
of SHK and associates of AGL, none of the above related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined in the Listing Rules.

Details of compensation of key management personnel are set out in
notes 12 and 13. Certain key management personnel of the Group
received remuneration from a company which has controlling
interests in the Company. Such company provided the management
services to the Group and charged the Group a management fee,
which has been included in management fee as disclosed in part (a)
of this note, for services provided by those personnel as well as others
who were not key management personnel of the Group.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference
to the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of
the Group and can be apportioned to the above key management
personnel. The total of such apportioned amounts, which has been
included in the key management personnel compensation above, is
HK$43,847,000 (2020: HK$41,884,000).

Details of the amounts due from (to) joint ventures and associates are
set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and notes
21,26, 27 and 34.
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3. FREALT 2R Rt E)

wit

() ENERBEREBENR  FAEE2.5%F4.6%(=
TTF 1 25%F4.6% ) WHER_T-__FNA
(ZZ=ZF T —FWMA)EE -

(i) BRERAEEMER  FER5.75%(ZF=
TF 5.75%)WHENR_E_NF+—A(ZEZF
F T NFE+—F)EE-

(i) ENERAEERE
—ELAEE -

44, BEIK#H

53 FREE55%WER-F

R-F-_—F+ZA=+t—B UTEEDK
o

(@ AETHEBARBBEZWE  KE&E
- FEREYE TRAWE 2R
ITYMEFERKREMEERERMES A
44,985,000/ (= =Z4F : 41,303,000
WIT) -~ 1,6152780008 T (Z B =&
& M) . 2,360,703,0008 T (Z T &
F : 1,989,757,0007% 7t ) * 126,577,000
BT (ZZ ZF 4 : 544,402,000 7T )
% 12,148,554,0008 T ( =& = T 4F
9,672,665,0007% 7T ) B 43 $R 1T E K 1 LA (8
AREBERIREITEER -

b) BREMEA117,0008 TL( T - F :
113,000/ 70 ) 2 IRITIFREEMEERE
BB 2 B o

(c) BRMEE A566,0008 L (—FT -FF :
596,000/ 70) Z RIT R ERBIERET
T2 2 N AR e (L e K R AT R R Y 4R -

43.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

The loans payable bears interest ranging from 2.5% to 4.6% (2020: from 2.5%
to 4.6%) per annum, is unsecured and repayable in April 2022 (2020: April
2021).

The loan receivable bears interest of 5.75% (2020: 5.75%) per annum, is
unsecured and repayable in November 2024 (2020: November 2024).

The loan payable bears interest of 5.5% per annum, is unsecured and
repayable in July 2024.

44.PLEDGED ASSETS

At 31st December, 2021, the following assets were pledged:

(a)

Property, plant and equipment, properties for development,
properties under development, inventories of completed
properties and investment properties of certain subsidiaries with
carrying values of HK$44,985,000 (2020: HK$41,303,000),
HK$1,615,278,000 (2020: HK$nil), HK$2,360,703,000 (2020:
HK$1,989,757,000), HK$126,577,000 (2020: HK$544,402,000)
and HK$12,148,554,000 (2020: HK$9,672,665,000) respectively
were pledged to banks for banking facilities granted to the Group.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$117,000 (2020:
HK$113,000) were pledged against mortgage loans granted to
property purchasers.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$566,000 (2020:
HK$596,000) were pledged for guarantees in respect of utility
supplies and government authorities for the development works.
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452 ERMTEZER

45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

45a. Categories of financial instruments

2021 &3k 233

2021 2020
TFHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EREE Financial assets
FBBSIE A BEERE FVTPL
EHA T BRI N 1B EFTE Mandatory measured at FVTPL
—B1EEE — Held-for-trading 54,903 56,324
—Hh — Others 557,480 644,700
612,383 701,024
FREMPERRRA N BERE Equity instruments
ZHRAT A at FVTOCI 187,952 283,981
HEBEAAFTEZ Financial assets at amortised
DRIEE cost 10,630,745 9,674,636
11,431,080 10,659,641
o h=Li Financial liabilities
HBERAFTEZ Financial liabilities at amortised
RRIAE cost 9,940,726 8,974,414
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45. €T H (&)
45h. B RS EIE B E R BUE
AEEITBELBTABERBERLA

&
BEREZEMEE BRAEMEEREER
{E1EJ%I¥ZHx$IE= BRBRRAREE

EﬂT?tuTm

EEZHx$ CBERRREEEERR B
WEHR - R REMBYIRR - AIEEMRZER
TR *fEﬂ EEMRE  RPREMENER

FURMERREMEBR - ZE2RITAFER

EWFHRE  ZEeRIEFECRREE

iR (R EE R - SNE R b 2 H At E 1 =R

%) ~ EERR ERB)ERERE o N ES

5¢1EE*Z£HKAZE51 c BIREEEREEZE
" DAREIR R R I BUB EREUE S 2 o

5

AREBEG T BAZ BRSNS E R EHH
AT @ T AEREE 2 MBERR(RTX) -

AEEAX cTBRRIEEERFERRZ
JIEIM W

() N=EpEE

AEBEREESRBWERRERZFIEE
EMmMFAZRABENERR - $§‘Elzfﬁi
mEFERREZHRA—RHRITAHR 2 F X
MEFE L EBRITAXEFEHEERRE
WA TFHAER(ZZ-ZF : RBERTEER
BIMEFTEDLFAEMNEZZRER - KK
BrHRensNERREEEEFRIBITETR
FEMBERNANERS - AEEERFESE
HFEERERBRES - WA M ERERETT
BLASPRAITE R 2 MR E g o REEZRITR
HAEIRAN R R BB IRTA M 3385 - EIE
Bamfe e E BRI RREES
BHER

EREEHTENREEETEMIENRE -
LT E AR A E AR ERAE FfEﬁﬂ%
HE(TRITREFRL]) - BANXEEREY
SERREERE CEE  AREREERE
ZEHER - FRAME I REERE |

45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
45b. Financial risk management objective and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at
FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI, equity securities at FVTPL,
amounts due from associates and joint ventures, loans receivable,
trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables and interest-bearing and interest-
free borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the financial risks of
changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates and
change in prices of equity financial instruments (see below).

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or
the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(i) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk through the
impact of interest rate changes on fixed-rate loans receivable and
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate borrowings which carry interest at interest rate quoted
by a bank plus a certain percentage, HIBOR or SONIA (2020: LIBOR)
plus a certain percentage. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and variable-rate interest bearing borrowings. The Group
will continue to maintain a reasonable mix of floating rate and fixed
rate borrowings and take actions to hedge against any foreseeable
interest rate exposure, if necessary. The interest rates and terms of
repayment of bank and other borrowings of the Group are disclosed
in note 33. The management will review the proportion of borrowings
in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable
range.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being
undertaken globally, including the replacement of some interbank
offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details
of the impacts on the Group’s risk management strategy arising
from the interest rate benchmark reform and the progress towards
implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates are set out
under “Interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk management (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased by 200 basis points in relation to the Group’s variable rate
borrowings and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
profit after tax would have decreased by HK$48,577,000 (2020:
HK$45,097,000).

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable rate bank balances is insignificant.

In the management’s opinion,
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

the sensitivity analysis is

(ii) Foreign currency risk management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Other
than Hong Kong, the Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC and
certain bank balances, receivables, payables and other loans of the
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. In addition, the Group
has intra-group balances with several subsidiaries denominated in
foreign currency which also expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors the related foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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45. &I B (%) 45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45h, I RAREEBEERBER (&) 45b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

kR (&) Market risk (continued)

(i) INERBRERE) (i) Foreign currency risk management (continued)

REIREEIR - REBUINE S LAIN 2 B The carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities that
BENEEBEZREENT : are denominated in a currency other than functional currencies of
entities at the end of the respective reporting periods are as follows:

2021 2020
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BE Assets

=T United States Dollars 165,012 187,954
BT Hong Kong Dollars 2,141,555 2,359,926
RIT Australian Dollars 170,686 205,919
g British Pound 30,053 13,704

=L Liabilities
=7 United States Dollars = 227
BT Hong Kong Dollars 765,250 474,120
SBIT Australian Dollars 52,051 164,438

T British Pound 425,830 448,081
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii) Foreign currency risk management (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group mainly exposes to United States Dollars, Australian
Dollars, British Pound and Hong Kong Dollars.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings, loans
receivable as well as bank balances and cash. A positive (negative)
number indicates an increase (a decrease) in profit before tax where

N the RMB strengthens against the relevant currency. If there is 5%
increase in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies, the (decrease)
increase in the profit before tax is shown as below:

2021 2020
FHET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
ETT United States Dollars
R AR B AR A Decrease in profit before tax (8,251) (9,386)
BT Hong Kong Dollars
M B R & FR Decrease in profit before tax (68,815) (94,290)
SBIT Australian Dollars
B B & AR A Decrease in profit before tax (5,932) (2,074)
e British Pound
BR 5 A& AJAE A0 Increase in profit before tax 19,789 21,719

EEERR - MREDITTRERRAEINER
B - B RERIL A RBREE AR R o

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk arising from equity
investments. The management will monitor the price movements and
take appropriate actions when it is required.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices were 10% higher/lower:

— revaluation reserves would increase/decrease by HK$18,795,000
(2020: HK$28,398,000) (before any tax effect) for the Group
as a result of the changes in fair value of equity instruments at
FVTOCI.

— profit before tax would increase/decrease by HK$61,238,000
(2020: HK$70,102,000) for the Group as a result of the changes
in fair value of equity securities at FVTPL and financial assets at
FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31st December, 2021 and 2020, other than those financial
assets whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum exposure
to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group arising from the amount of
contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantees provided by
the Group disclosed in note 41(a).

In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring procedures are carried
out to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets at amortised cost. With respect to financial
guarantees provided to banks and lenders to secure the banking and
loan facilities granted to subsidiaries by the Company and to joint
ventures by the Group, the Directors consider the credit risk is limited
because the Group closely monitors the financial performance of
the subsidiaries and joint ventures. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to banks to
secure the banking facilities granted to property purchasers is also
limited because the facilities are secured by the properties and the
market price of the properties is higher than the guaranteed amounts.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

Regarding the credit risk management policy on loans receivable
which are note receivables, the Group’s assessments are based on the
public subscription documents and the public information published
by its listed guarantors. For the credit risk management policy on
the other loans receivable, the Group negotiates the credit limits
and terms of new grants and renewals of loans receivable based on
individual assessments of the background, financial strength and
collateral provided on the loans of each of the borrowers. The credit
limits and terms of the new grants or renewals of loans receivable
are approved by the directors of the lender subsidiaries on case-by-
case basis. There are in total less than 20 debtors of outstanding loans
receivable as at 31st December, 2021 (2020: less than 20 debtors),
comprising listed entities and private companies and individuals in
Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas.

The Group performs a credit quality review to provide early
identification of possible changes in the creditworthiness of
counterparties regularly, including financial information analysis,
collateral revisions and interviews with borrowers to update the credit
risk of borrowers. The credit quality review enables the Group to assess
the potential loss as a result of the risk to which it is exposed and take
appropriate corrective actions.

The Group’s loans receivable which are note receivables are kept
in the security broker account and the repayment of interests and
principals of note receivables are directly debited in the security
broker account when due. For the other loans receivable, the Group
billed in advance by the debit notes to the borrowers. The Group
performs ongoing monitoring on the loans receivable repayment and
the finance department of the Group is responsible for reporting to
the Directors for any delay or default in repayment of loans receivable
by the issuer or the borrower (as the case may be) upon maturity for
further assessment of the loan recoverability and formulation of plans
for loan collection.

The internal audit function within the Group periodically conducts
internal control reviews and compliance checking over all aspects
of credit processes to ensure that the credit procedures are complied
with and sufficient controls are in place to mitigate credit risk.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group had a concentration of credit risk as the loans receivable
are advanced to a few independent third parties and a related party.
As at 31st December, 2021, the loans receivable that have not yet
past due will be matured ranging from May 2022 to November
2024 (2020: March 2021 to November 2024) while the past due
loans receivable are repayable on demand. Loans receivable of
HK$449,517,000 (2020: HK$593,170,000) are secured by share
mortgage, loan receivable of HK$43,119,000 (2020: HK$44,055,000)
is secured under a debenture incorporating second fixed and floating
charge over its undertaking, property and assets of the borrower, loan
receivable of HK$4,951,000 (2020: HK$nil) is secured by a mortgage
over the developable land and loan receivable of HK$200,000,000
(2020: HK$nil) is secured by a property. As at 31st December,
2020, loan receivable of HK$61,848,000 was secured by land and
improvements. The management had assessed the credit rating
of the borrowers for the remaining unsecured loans receivable of
HK$403,785,000 (2020: HK$715,396,000) as detailed below in
“Impairment assessment on loans receivable” section.

The Group also has a concentration of credit risk on the amounts
due from certain joint ventures which are engaged in property
development. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment loss are made for irrecoverable amounts, if any.
The management considers the credit risk exposure is limited.

The Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Impairment assessment on trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers

As at 31st December, 2021, the Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of lifetime ECL provision for trade receivables with gross
carrying amount of HK$45,962,000 (2020: HK$40,999,000) which
are not credit-impaired. Trade receivables from customers are
considered to be credit-impaired when the customers are in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery and
are assessed individually.

Management assessed the expected loss on trade receivables from
customers based on individual assessment, taking into account the
historical default experience and forward-looking information, as
appropriate.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers (continued)

Trade receivables mainly consists of rental and estate management
fees receivable from tenants. Credit checks are carried out before
commencement of tenancies and on-going credit evaluation ensures
any doubtful receivables are provided for as required. The exposure
to credit risk is limited because the trade receivables are secured by
tenant deposits. In this regard, the management considers that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

In addition, the Directors are of the opinion that there has no default
occurred for trade receivables aged over 90 days as, based on
historical credit loss experience, the probability of default of trade
receivables is low and the Group generally receives deposits from
customers for leasing of properties and the tenants are long-term
clients with good credit quality.

Accordingly, loss allowance was considered as insignificant.
Impairment assessment on loans receivable

The Directors are of the opinion that significant increase in credit risk
occurred when the principal and interest repayment of the loans are
overdue and when some credit risk and events are observable on the
borrowers. The loans receivable are considered to be defaulted when
significant credit risks and events are observable. Loans receivable
past due more than 90 days are not considered as in default as the
loans receivable are secured by sufficient collaterals.

The Group assessed the loss allowances for loans receivable with
gross amount of HK$797,484,000 (2020: HK$830,458,000) on
12m ECL basis except for loans receivable amounting to HK$nil
(2020: HK$530,000,000) which considered to be past due and have
significant increase in credit risk but not default and HK$852,296,000
(2020: HK$455,407,000) which have default events observed since
initial recognition and assessed at lifetime ECL (non credit-impaired)
and lifetime ECL (credit-impaired), respectively. The expected loss
of loans receivable is assessed individually, taking into account the
repayment histories, collaterals provided to the Group and internal
credit rating of the debtors as well as forward-looking information, as
appropriate.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Impairment assessment on deposits and other receivables/pledged
bank deposits/bank balances/amounts due from joint ventures/
associates

The Group assessed the loss allowances for deposits and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and amounts
due from joint ventures/associates with gross carrying amounts of
HK$208,480,000 (2020: HK$125,930,000), HK$683,000 (2020:
HK$709,000), HK$4,343,916,000 (2020: HK$4,892,086,000) and
HK$4,897,949,000 (2020: HK$3,086,804,000) respectively, on
12m ECL basis. Deposit and other receivables of HK$nil (2020:
HK$75,718,000) is considered to be past due and have significant
increase in credit risk and assessed at lifetime ECL (non credit-
impaired). Deposit and other receivables of HK$39,013,000 (2020:
HK$37,575,000) have default events observed since initial recognition
and assessed at lifetime ECL (credit-impaired). The management of
the Group considers the pledged bank deposits and bank balances
deposited with the financial institutions with high credit rating to
be low credit risk financial assets. The management of the Group
considers these pledged bank deposits and bank balances are short-
term in nature and the probability of default is negligible on the basis
of high-credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

In determining the ECL for deposits and other receivables and
amounts due from joint ventures/associates, the management of
the Group has taken into account the historical default experience
and forward-looking information, as appropriate. There had been
no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The
Group has considered the consistently low historical default rate in
connection with payments, and concluded that credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding deposits and other receivables and amounts
due from joint ventures/associates is insignificant except for interest
receivables on which loss allowance of HK$7,547,000 (2020:
HK$310,000) has been provided.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Impairment assessment on financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate amount of
outstanding financial guarantees that the Group could be required
to pay amounted to HK$4,636,646,000 as at 31st December,
2021 (2020: HK$1,342,563,000). The fair values of these financial
guarantees, as at dates of initial recognition, were considered
insignificant. At the end of the reporting period, the management
has performed impairment assessment, and concluded that there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of
the financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12m ECL. No loss allowance was recognised in the
profit or loss.
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Notes

45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets including loans receivable, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash and trade and other receivables, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

12A%2H
BHEEBR R -FREAE “E-TEREAE
12m or lifetime ECL 2021 Gross carrying amount 2020 Gross carrying amount
TER TER TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HKS'000

FARER

Loans receivable

28

NEAEREEER

(EERE)
12m ECL

(not credit-impaired) 797,484 830,458
*HBAEEEE

(¥EERB)
Lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired) = 530,000
cHRHEEEE

(EERE)
Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) 852,296 1,649,780 455,407 1,815,865

Bl
i
T

R RS

ft i

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from
joint ventures

Pledged bank
deposits

Bank balances

Trade receivables

Other receivables

29

29

NEAEREEER
12m ECL - 25,772
NEAEREEER
12m ECL 4,897,949 3,001,032
NEREREEER
12m ECL 683 709
NEAEREEER
12m ECL 4,343,916 4,892,086
*HBAEEEE

(EERB)
Lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired) 45,962 40,999
NEAEREEER
12m ECL 208,480 125,930
*HBAEEEE

(¥EERB)
Lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired) = 75,718
*HBAEEEE

(EERE)
Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) 39,013 247,493 37,575 239,223
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

TRBETEERZEWEZ N EUF S EER  The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has
2 $I8R - been recognised for loans receivable and interest receivables.
Sk 2HRES
REEB REFR
(FEEHE) (FERE)
128A RS Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
FEFR (not credit- (credit- st
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
THT TEL ThT THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZE-ZF—F—H As at 1st January, 2020 925 - 277,239 278,164
R-Z-ZE-A-HEHR Change due to financial instruments
SHIEMES E recognised as at 1st January, 2020
- REFEER - Impairment loss recognised 4,485 53,162 65,832 123,479
-BESIEEERE ~ Transfer to not credit-impaired - 76,012 (76,012) _
-BRZEENA - Transfer to credit-impaired - (53,162) 53,162 _
HEIUHBEL New financial assets originated or
THEE purchased 66 _ _ 66
fE i A% Exchange adjustment (3) - - (3)
W-Z-ZE+-A=+-H As at 31st December, 2020 5473 76,012 320,221 401,706
RZE-—5-F—-ACKER Change due to financial instruments
PRIAMEL recognised as at Tst January, 2021
- REBERER - Impairment loss recognised 10,478 - 213,975 224,453
-HEBERD - Impairment loss reversed (448) (76,012) - (76,460)
-EREEENE — Transfer to credit-impaired (4,025) - 4,025 -
MENSHE New financial assets originated or
TREE purchased 6,199 - - 6,199
B 5 R Exchange adjustment 57 - - 57
R=B=-£+-A=t-H As at 31st December, 2021 17,734 - 538,221 555,955
B E R Liquidity risk

AEERERMGRRASIREEFEER &
BEERARTHHKFERAEEZ 2ERTES

FRBREREFH < FE - BIREEDIRT
B A RIERETERZ 6K

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and financial
guarantee arrangements. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest

WF B mERZER  REIRESFEREMNTHE  date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
BASR 2 F) =& both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest
rate at the end of the reporting period.
BERTEE Rt=A
AHRfEA RER Sr=E
METHRIE  Repayable on REREAE ZEEE
Weighted ~ demand or SEREIE Total Carrying
average less than 123f88 3 months 1558 5EHE  undiscounted amount at
interest rate Tmonth  1to3 months tolyear  1to5years  OverS5 years cash flows  31st December
Tin TR Tén Tin TR Tn TiEn
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—BC-F 2021
FiTERHER Non-derivative financial liabilities
RAREMERER Trade and other payables - 1,567,184 - - - - 1,567,184 1,567,184
[ Interest-bearing borrowings
-8 iived rate 6.42% - 447,828 892,650 661,002 1431 415791 1,898,038
) ~variable rate 3.90% 6,488 W7069 1637810 337264 1569846 6938577 5,657,995
86 Interest-free borrowings - 817,509 - - - - 817,509 817,509
HBERAR Financial guarantee contracts - 4,636,646 - - - - 4,636,046 -
7,007,827 794997 2530460 4038266 1684157 16075707 9,940,726
ZECEE 2020
#?Tiﬁlﬁfi Non-derivative financial liabilities
REREMERER Trade and other payables - 852,253 - - - - 852,253 852,253
e fgﬁi Interest-bearing borrowings
) - fixed rate 5.37% - 57,265 878,017 1,484,893 202,417 2,622,592 2,298,856
-H8 - variable rate 3.86% 17,057 72,342 1,090,994 2449171 1,266,128 4,895,692 4,097,009
SE[ER Interest-free borrowings - 1,726,296 - - - - 1,726,296 1,726,296
SIBERAR Financial guarantee contracts - 1,342,563 - - - - 1,342,563 -

3,936,169 129,607 1,969,011 3,934,004 1,468,545 11,439,396 8,974,414
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of term loans with a
repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments
set out in the agreements. The amounts include interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were
greater than the amounts disclosed in the “Repayable on demand or
less than 1 month” time band in the maturity analysis contained in
the table above. Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the Directors do not consider that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretion to demand immediate repayment. The
Directors believe that such term loans will be repaid in accordance
with the following scheduled repayment dates set out in the

agreements:
i
AERRE T-A=t-H
RELRE 2 BREE
SR1{E A MBAZ1E Total Carrying
Less than 1£3f8A 3 months 1855 58 L undiscounted amount at
1 month 1 to 3 months to 1 year 1to5years  Over5 years cash flow 31st December
TR ThR TER TER FET TR TER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
2021 1,287 21,388 846,371 353,449 - 1,222,495 1,164,414
2020 2,919 10,748 873,068 153,933 - 1,040,668 1,000,538

Lt BE s HBERERZSERMERNRZ
SEUNRE  ARERBLFFEFEZEM
ERZESE2R - REXNBEHRZEH - K
SERBREBEZLY - TEAXOAIEES
Ko AT WA RFRZHETRBEEFREL

R RTINS - SRR

SREHTHE

REFRNSREBERFEZEERAAREEZ

SEE
L EET S WA R TR 2%
BT T BRI 2 BB RS AR 2 F

EfkEHERTARE -

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts that the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectation
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed to suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change, if changes
in variable interest rates differ from those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 2, several of the Group’s LIBOR/HIBOR bank loans
will or may be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The
Group is closely monitoring the market and managing the transition
to new benchmark interest rates, including announcements made by
the relevant IBOR regulators.

LIBOR

The Financial Conduct Authority has confirmed all LIBOR settings
will either cease to be provided by any administrator or no longer
be representative immediately after 31st December, 2021, in the
case of all sterling settings. The Group’s LIBOR bank loan has been
transitioned to SONIA during the year ended 31st December, 2021.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA”)
has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to
discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in
Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

(i) Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform

The following are the key risks for the Group arising from the
transition:

Interest rate related risks

For contracts which have not been transitioned to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates and without detailed fallback clauses,
if the bilateral negotiations with the Group’s counterparties are not
successfully concluded before the cessation of LIBORs, there are
significant uncertainties with regard to the interest rate that would
apply. This gives rise to additional interest rate risk that was not
anticipated when the contracts were entered into.

There are fundamental differences between IBORs and the various
alternative benchmark rates. IBORs are forward looking term rates
published for a period (e.g. three months) at the beginning of that
period and include an inter-bank credit spread, whereas alternative
benchmark rates are typically risk-free overnight rates published at the
end of the overnight period with no embedded credit spread. These
differences will result in additional uncertainty regarding floating rate
interest payments.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

HIBOR (continued)

(i) Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform (continued)
Liquidity risk

The additional uncertainty on various alternative rates which are
typically published on overnight basis will require additional liquidity
management. The Group’s liquidity risk management policy has
been updated to ensure sufficient liquid resources to accommodate
unexpected increases in overnight rates.

Litigation risk

If no agreement is reached to implement the interest rate benchmark
reform on contracts which have not been transitioned to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates (e.g. arising from differing interpretation
of existing fallback terms), there is a risk of prolonged disputes with
counterparties which could give rise to additional legal and other
costs. The Group has already finalised the supplementary contract
with counterparty.

(i) Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark interest
rates

As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new contracts
entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant alternative
benchmark rates or interest rates which are not subject to reform
to the extent feasible. Otherwise, the Group ensured the relevant
contracts include detailed fallback clauses clearly referencing the
alternative benchmark rate and the specific triggering event on which
the clause is activated.

During the year, all contracts which are linked to one month LIBOR
GBP dollar settings have been transitioned to SONIA. In addition, for
a floating rate loan that is linked to HIBOR, the Group had confirmed
with the relevant counterparty HIBOR will continue to maturity.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)
HIBOR (continued)

(ii) Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark interest
rates (continued)

The following table shows the total amounts of outstanding contracts
and the progress in completing the transition to alternative benchmark
rates as at 31st December, 2021. The amounts of financial liabilities
are shown at their carrying amounts and derivatives are shown at
their notional amounts.

FREE
BERE
Carrying
amounts/  ¥HET SWMIAZERER
BRACEMTA R notional Hedge Transition progress for
Financial instruments prior to transition ~ Maturing in amounts accounting financial instruments
TAT
HK$'000
FITESHERE
Non-derivative financial liabilities
EEBRITAEFR BB ZRITER ke 500,000 TER BERITRERE
Bank loans linked to HIBOR 2022 N/A  HHEEEEH

HIBOR will continue till
maturity
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
the borrowings disclosed in notes 33 and 34, net of bank balances
and cash and equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. As a part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt, if necessary.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
45c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair
value of various financial assets.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined
(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to
which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

MEER EiERSY
Fair value as at BALEEYBE
—E--E “E-FE DABE Relationship of
tZA=t-B f2A=t-R  &H ERELRESY unobservable
31stDecember, ~ 31stDecember, ~ Fairvale  EERERIESH Sigificant inputs for
2021 2020 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs  unobservable inputs fair value
T TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
ARBERRERAL BERERARSL 53,898 %5 F-f NERTAREZEAR ¥l il
B RAES Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A N/A
Equity securities listed in the PRC classified as
equity securities at FVTPL
ARREAANIENGRAL BEREL 20,385 nn0 EH NEETENEIEAR ¥ i
RATE R iz AR Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ NIA NIA
Equity securities listed in the PRC classified as
equity instruments at FVTOCI
PRAREANRENERD . BEREL 134907 mes R NERDARECEAR g TER
RATIE7ERE LRz REES Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A NiA
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong classified as
equity instruments at FVTOCI
PRAERERRL BERE, SRAEL 54300 HA BB HEEBBRAFERR T TER
FImERRE Level 2 Quoted price provided by financial N/A N/A
Unlisted fund investment classified as institutions
financial assets at FVTPL
ARAERERRNAEERE ERARL 43,116 929 =& ACRBERLAEER IR TER TR
FImASRE Level 3 BEERENRREORRZAE  NA NA
Unlisted fund investment classified as HE)

financial assets at FVTPL

Quoted price provided by financial
institutions which considered net
asset values of special purpose
vehicles derived from underlying
investments
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45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)
E1ERSY
BAAREZBE
AiEE Relationship of
2l BEELEESY unobservable
Rarvalue  fERERIESH Significant inputs for
hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs ~ unobservable inputs fair value

2R AEERE EbER(EERLENE  EMNEE0Eng

MEBER
Fair value as at
E-F 30%E
t2B=t- {+ZA=1-A
31st December, 31t December,
2021 2020
TR ThTL
HK$'000 HK$'000
ARREBEMRENGEA, BEREL 32,660 33457
RETEZERRATE

Unlisted equity instrument classified as equity

instruments at FVTOC

level 3 Asset based approach REENRMREREFUR  SELAEETR
1285 WEBRANEEILAELS  Theincrease in
The key inputs are: WEE)B.75%%3.25% the term yield

(ZB28F:075%35%)  wouldresultina

(1) REUER: Term yield, taking into account ~~~ decrease in fair
(1) Tem yield; of yield generated from value
() BENEE: comparable properties and
(2) Reversionary yield; adjustment to reflect the
() MEELES Rk certainty ofterm income
(3) Market unit rent; and secured and to be received,
) RZBHNDSRS % of 2.75% t0.3.25% (2020:
(4) Discount for lack of control and 2.75% 10 3.25%)

lack of marketability

ERRER(EATL AN
WEREAMEREHAR
EfITE)E3 5%E375%
(ZEZFE 3050E375%)

Reversionary yield, taking into
account annual unit market
rental income and unit market
value of the comparable
propertes, of 3.25% to 3.75%
(2020: 3.25% 0 3.75%)

’fg EU&JST;ZE’W H
EYLREETR
The increase in the
reversionary yield
would resultin a
decrease in fair
value
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45. €I R#E) 45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
e EMTRAZAREBEENEE) 45c¢. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)
RAkER EXRESH
Fair value as at BNEBEZBE
ZB--£  CECRE MEE Relationship of
tZA=t-R tzA=t-B  #H BEEIEESY unobservable
31st December,  31stDecember,  Fairvalie  fEERERIESH Significant inputs for
201 2020 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs  unobservable inputs fair value
TR Thn

HK$'000 HKS'000

nRENBEHERDSINR  TAENESHS
AR TZEEMEAE SN0 ERS
EERRR MEALE- B M
SRR  TOWRERL  Theincrease in the
EENFHSTIREAE  market unitrent
TEFFIREAIEL(Z  would resultin
SRR ETAREM0E  anincreaseinfair
TEGTAREA0ET) value

Market unit rent compares with
direct market comparables
and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road frontage,
size of property and facilites.
The range of average market
unit rent s from around
HK$30 sq.ft/month to
HKS170 sq.ft/month (2020:
HKS30 sq.ft/month to
HKS$170 sq.ft /month)

RESMmARENE  BZRMATARS

(ERIFIAHELE PAg
B264% SLARETR
(ZEZZE:280%) The increase in the
Discount for lack of control and ~ discount for lack
lack of marketability, taking of control and lack
into account median control of marketability
premium, of 26.4% would result in a
(2020: 28.0%) decrease in fair

value
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45. TR TR (%) 45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
e EMTRAZAREBENEE) 45c¢. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)
RAEER E1ERSY
Fair value as at SN AEEIBE
8s-F IECZE QMRE Relationship of
tZR=t-B tzA=t-B  #H BEELEESY unobservable
31t December,  31stDecember,  Fairvalie  fEERERIESH Significant inputs for
201 2020 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs ~ unobservable inputs fair value
Thn TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000
AEREBRRRDABEREY 460,044 P09 BR BeRERE BREMIRERSARATE  HRENENEEY
SRAENRRARE Level 3 Discounted cash flow EEBRENFT%E20% DrEETR
Investments in property projects classified as (ZE2EE ) FI0%E The increase in the
financial assets at FVTPL 15%) discounted rate
Discount rates used in would resultin a
discounting the estimated decrease in fair

cash flows to the net present value
values ranging from 7% to

20% (2020: from 10% to

15%)

RIGEERENRERER  ReRemENed

109,184000%70(=F=F % EREN
121,600 000270) The increase in
Cash flows used to calculate the cash flows
the net present values, would resultin
aggregately amounted to an increase in fair
AU$109,184,000 (2020: value
AUS$121,606,000

BNTESRENARNRIE IEEI%%I% L5 )
FNT1ESEAZS 4 SEHNGER
CEEEAmEE T

Z4E7(ER) The increase in
Remaining durations of the the remaining

projects used to calculate the ~ duration of the

net present values ranging project would

from 1 year and 8 month to result in a

5 years and 4 months (2020: decrease in fair

from 2 years and 7 month to value

4 years and 7 months)|

Bzt : WESRERT O ERE A RS (TAEE) 0] Note: There is no indication that any changes in the unobservable inputs to
URBIEENASEA B BREERARE reflect reasonably possible alternative assumptions for the investments

Ezt= HIE AR EF R o would result in significantly higher or lower fair value measurements.
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45. ST E (%) 45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

e TERTAZARBETERE)

R-B-—F+=-A=+—BZAREERG

Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2021

2021
E—& E-& BE=® #Et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FHT FHET TET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2RIEE Financial assets
FRBRWIEANEE  Equity securities at
BEIE 2 AR RE 55 FVTPL
—RFREEmZ - Equity securities listed in
MR AN 7E 5 the PRC 53,898 = = 53,898
FEiBIBmIE A/ EE  Financial assets at FVTPL
BRIBZEREE
—JELEMESKE — Unlisted fund investments = 54,320 43,116 97,436
—WFRREEE — Investments in property
projects - - 460,044 460,044
- 54,320 503,160 557,480
FBREMEEW L Equity instruments at
NABEREZ FVTOCI
AT A
—RHBE Tz — Equity securities listed in
P78 5 the PRC 20,385 = = 20,385
—REELTZ - Equity securities listed in
MR ANFE 5 Hong Kong 134,907 = = 134,907
—JEETMIRATA — Unlisted equity instrument = = 32,660 32,660
155,292 - 32,660 187,952
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45. EBMT A (#) 45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

e TMITAZAREBENEE)

R-B-EFT-A=+t—HZAAEERE

Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2020

2020
EF— E- FE=H wEt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FAET FAET THET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THEE Financial assets
BWERILZANEME  Equity securities at
BRI 2 AR 5 FVTPL
—RPEETZ — Equity securities listed in
e the PRC 56,245 - - 56,245
FHiBEEEAAEE  Financial assets at
BIBZSREE FVTPL
—JEFMESRKRE — Unlisted fund investments - 74,405 39,296 113,701
—WERKEER — Investments in property
projects - - 530,999 530,999
- 74,405 570,295 644,700
FBHEMEEWEE  Equity instruments at
AREEREZ FVTOCI
BRATE
—RHRE T2 — Equity securities listed in
P the PRC 21,230 - - 21,230
—-REB LT — Equity securities listed in
&) Hong Kong 229,294 - - 229,294
—JEEmRATA — Unlisted equity instrument - - 33,457 33,457
250,524 - 33,457 283,981

E?&ZFEEJE'U%% 2

There were no other transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
years ended 31st December, 2021 and 2020.
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45. €T H (%) 45.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

45c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

e TERTAZARBETERE)

E=RALEETEZEH K

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

ZEiR
ZiRERz Hth2EWE
BARERE BRANRERE
BEz BEz
SRIEE BARTHE
Financial Equity
assets  instruments et
at FVTPL at FVTOCI Total
FHET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZE-FF—HF—H At 1st January, 2020 159,443 38,705 198,148
I Total gains:
—RERA — in profit or loss (29,467) - (29,467)
—REMZE — in other comprehensive
Lreain income (5,248) (5,248)
BE Purchases 428,286 - 428,286
ERZER Exchange differences 12,033 - 12,033
RZEZEF+A=1+—H At 31st December, 2020 570,295 33,457 603,752
s Total gains:
—REREA — in profit or loss 60,836 - 60,836
—REMEE — in other comprehensive
W A income = (797) (797)
BE Purchases 100,746 - 100,746
BARRE Return of capital (199,760) = (199,760)
fER =R Exchange differences (28,957) - (28,957)
R-TE-—F At 31st December,
+=A=+—H 2021 503,160 32,660 535,820

EZRRBREHEARIAGEMBI|MEP ZE  The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of the other
eRmEEASREBEZEAMEHEEAREE financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
RNEURSE -

the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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46. MEEBELENARBEHKR

TERREAEEREEDELZ ABEZFFIT
BRERE MRS ES  @METHELEZEE
Eﬁfﬁi/)|u§iﬂ—}xiﬁé/llu§ﬁ/\‘\$%%?\/El\iﬁ
TRERDVERRELTHREREZRE -

46.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
BEEEM
FERERR AR
FERFIE,
Interest
payables M S4B
fERAE  included in Interest- SEER
Dividend other bearing  Interest-free FeH
payable payables borrowings  borrowings Total

(Hrz#33) (Hiat34)

(note 33) (note 34)
THT THT TR THT THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZEZTF-A—H  AtlstJanuary, 2020

- 13,735 5,325,685 1,389,614 6,729,034

BERENE - Financing cash flows:

BAFIS Interest paid - (257,685) - - (257,685)
FERITREMER New bank and other loans raised - - 1,990,457 - 1,990,457
FERIREMER Repayment of bank and other loans - - (1,504,073) - (1,504,073)
REAEREEN Advances from joint ventures - - - 777,492 777,492
BRALNEER Repayment to joint ventures - - - (9,583) (9,583)
BRBELAER Repayment to associates - - - (17,236) (17,236)
BERRE Dividend paid (300,129 - - - (300,129)
BN TR ER Dividend paid to non-controlling

s, interests (7,767) - - - (7,767)

(307,896) (257,685) 486,384 750,673 671,476
FReREER Non-cash flow items:
JEAHFIE Accrued interest - 256,958 - - 256,958
EEMRERE Dividend declared 300,129 - - - 300,129

Wﬁ)ﬁé‘%?ﬂ & Dividend declared to non-

BN controlling interests 7,767 - - - 7,767
e %%E%ﬁ HiE Reclassified from held for sales - - 653,981 361 654,342
HEHBA Disposals of subsidiaries - - (350,740) (526,021) (876,761)
INERE Foreign exchange translation - 643 280,555 111,669 392,867
RNZEZEF At 31st December,

+-A=+—H 2020

- 13,651 6,395,865 1,726,296 8,135,812
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46. MEEFBELEMNEB/YHKR®) 46.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)
BEREHEM
PR AR
EAFIE
Interest
payables WS AR
EARKRE  included in Interest- REMER
Dividend other bearing Interest-free @t
payable payables  borrowings  borrowings Total

(Hret33) (Hrzt34)

(note 33) (note 34)
TR THT THET THT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000

RZE=—F—A—H  AtlstJanuary, 2021 - 13,651 6,395,865 1,726,296 8,135,812
HERENE - Financing cash flows:

BEAFE Interest paid = (327,210) = = (327,210)
HERITRAMER New bank and other loans raised - - 3,411,084 - 3,411,084
FRIBTNEMER Repayment of bank and other loans - - (2,441,280) - (2,441,280)
REBEDAER Advances from associates - - - 1,432 1,432
REARELERER Advances from joint ventures - - - 36,793 36,793
FEALLERER Repayment to joint ventures = - - (24,922) (24,922)

BTRE Dividend paid (300,129) - - - (300,129)

H%iﬁ RS Dividend paid to non-controlling

[ds interests (294,777) = = = (294,777)

(594,906) (327,210) 969,804 13,303 60,991
FREREER - Non-cash flow items:
FEFIE Accrued interest - 329,686 - - 329,686
EEMRERE Dividend declared 300,129 = = = 300,129
BEEMKE TIEER Dividend declared to non-

RS controlling interests 294,777 - - - 294,777
—HaErERE Capital reduction in a joint venture - - = (448,276) (448,276)
BERREEZ Dividend settled through current

[ds account = = = (536,970) (536,970)
INERE Foreign exchange translation - 11 190,364 63,156 253,531
NZZE-_—F At 31st December,

+ZA=+—-H 2021 - 16,138 7,556,033 817,509 8,389,680
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47. FEM BN RIFHEE 47 .PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
71 B AT —RESR 47.1 General information of subsidiaries

BBAEBEN  TEMBARHGERBEMA  Particulars of principal subsidiaries which are incorporated and are
MY REEBEFBLE  FBOT operating principally in Hong Kong except where otherwise indicated
are as follows:

BERITEBRRE
dMERZED
ERTHRE Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE, share capital/registered capital
EHREMES LN
Paid up issued ordinary WELASEERE rEEEN
WEARAR share capital/Paid up Directly held by the Attributable to TEEH
Name of subsidiary registered capital Company*/subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %
GRMERBAR([EEME])  HK$681,899,000 74.98 74.98 74.98 7498 MERRE MEEER
Asiasec Properties Limited MEERE
(“ASL") Property investment,
property leasing and
estate management
AR AEERAR" US$15,600,000 100 100 100 100 MEERREE
Beijing Nanhu Huayuan Property development and
Apartment Co., Ltd. ™ investment
Best Perspective Asian Real Us$1 100 100 100 100 MEEE
Estate Fund Limited "' Property investment
RERLEHERZERATY RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEER
Changchun Tian An Real Estate Property development
Development Co., Ltd.
BMRZEMRERBRAA" US$2,650,000 100 100 100 100 MEER
Changzhou Tian An City Property development
Development Co., Ltd.
BMRZ B HERR US$32,300,000 100 100 100 100 WEEE
BRAR" Property development
Changzhou Tian An Yuan Cheng
Real Estate Development
Company Limited "
EVBRAF" Y Uss$1 100 100 100 100 MERE
Cheerchoice Limited " " Property investment
EREREARDA HK$200 100% 100* 100 100 HEZR
Chinafield Management Limited Investment holding

(Formerly known as “Chinaland
Management Limited”)



262

Annual Report 2021

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

e M B WKW

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE-ZT-—F+-A=1t—RHILLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

47. TEMB L RIFEE &)
1 BRI —RERE)

47.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

47.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRTEBERERA
HMEAZBD
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE share capital/registered capital
CHEEMER b NIV
Paid up issued ordinary WEBAREERE rEEEG
WEBARERE share capital/Paid up Directly held by the Attributable to FTEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital Company*/subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %
BOMEEE(LE)BRAR"Y US$620,000 100 100 100 100 YEEERILEER
Cornell Properties Services Property management and
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. investment holding
REXRZFEHEREERAR"Y US$6,800,000 100 100 100 100 YEEE
Dalian Tian An Property Property development
Development Co., Ltd. "
AEXZEERNERR AR US$29,000,000 100 100 100 100 WEEERKE
Dalian Tian An Tower Property development and
Co., Ltd. ™ investment
FHE(ER)BR A HK$1,000,000 100 74.98 100 7498 RAER
Dan Form (Hong Kong) Limited Investment holding
EISHARAR" HK$2 100 100 100 100 #EEE
Grand Kings Limited " Property investment
EIEHARAR" HK$2 100 100 100 100 #EEE
Grandview Square Limited " Property investment
EIESARAF HK$3,756 100 100 100 100 MERE
GRP VI Limited © Property investment
FEEERERAF" Y US$1 100 100 100 100 #EEE
Hing Yip Holdings Limited " *" Property investment
BN EBRAKIGH HK$50,000,000 100 100 100 100 YMEERRIRE

RRERDA"
Huizhou Huiyang Danshui

Xinyangcheng Construction

Company Limited "

Property development and
investment
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Join View Development Limited

RLHRERBARA
Long Island Ho[dmgs Limited

47. TEWB LA RFSE &) 47.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
71 MBAR—RER (&) 471 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
BERITEBRRE
AMERZED
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE/ share capital/registered capital
EHREMES KAF
Paid up issued ordinary WEAREERS REEER
WEARERE share capital/Paid up Directly held by the Attributable to TEXK
Name of subsidiary registered capital Company*/subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %
EREEERAT] HK$2 100 100 100 100 RERS

Money lending services

HK$101,440,367 100 100 100 100 HEER
Investment holding

ARABEEARLE" US$13,500,000 100 100 100 100 MEEEREE

Nanjing Tiandu Industry Property development and
Co., Ltd. ™ investment

LEHEEEXARAE" RMB275,933,200 100 100 100 100 MEFRREE

Shanghai Greentree | Property development and
Company Ltd. " investment

LEHEEXARAE" RMB266,315,300 100 100 100 100 MEFRREE

Shanghai Greentree I Property development and
Company Ltd. "™ investment

LEBMEXBRAR" RMB260,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEKE

Shanghai Haibo Real
Estate Limited "

LEEEEHERE
BERAY

Shanghai Haiguang Real Estate
Holdings Limited "

LEEREXBRARY
Shanghai Haisen Real Estate
Limited ™

Property investment

RMB37,000,000 100 100 100 100 Y%EHE
Property investment

RMB140,000,000 100 100 100 100 Y%EHE
Property investment
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47. T EMB L AIFEE &) 47.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

1 BRI —RERE)

47.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BERITEBRRE
dMERZAED L
ERTHRE Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE, share capital/registered capital
ERHREMES QT
Paid up issued ordinary WELAREERE FEEEN
WEAREM share capital/Paid up Directly held by the Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital Company*/subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %
SR EEAR AT RMB66,000,000 100 100 100 100 YEBE
Shanghai Haiyi Real Estate Property investment
Limited ™
FERZPORERRAR" U$$28,000,000 98 98 98 98 MEBRRIRE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Building Property development and
Co., Ltd.™ investment
FERZAEEEERAR " RMB50,000,000 99 99 99 99 MEBRIRE
Shanghai Tianan Riverview Co., Property development and
Ltd. investment
HERFRMERRAR" RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 YRFERKKE
Shanghai Tianyang Real Estate Property development and
Co., Ltd. ™ investment
HEREFRAR " US$1 100 100 100 100 HERE
Sing Hing Investment Property investment
le[ted (i) & (v)
wmeRAERAR" US$$30,000,000 100 100 100 100 MRERRERK
Sun Hai Tung Co., Ltd." Property development and
investment holding
TAC OPP | (The Lennox) Pty AU$100 100 100 100 100 #EXRE
Limited " Property development
Tian An Australia Limited AU$290,149,000 76.70 76.70 76.70 76.70  WREBE
(“TIA") ™ Property development
Tian An Capital Pty Limited " AU$100 100 100 100 100 HEER

Investment holding



REFEREBRAT]
B 2021 f%& 265

e MB | R ME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—ZT-—F+-A=1t—RHILLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

47. T EMB L AIFEE &) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

i1 MEBLAR—RER(E)

47.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

ERTEERRE/
HAMEX B
BRITHR Percentage of issued ordinary
LERRE share capital/registered capital
BAREMER LN
Paid up issued ordinary WEAREERE RE@EN
HEARER share capital/Paid up Directly held by the Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital Company*/subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %
REHEEXRERAF HK$2 100* 100* 100 100 REERNEFEE
Tian An China Enterprise Limited Investment holding and
securities dealing
XehBEERMEREERAR  HKS2 100* 100* 100 100 ®EER
Tian An China Hotel and Property Investment holding
Investments Company Limited
REBRE(RYNERAEY HK$360,000,000 100 100 100 100 MRBERKREEKR
Tian An Investments (Shenzhen) Property investment and
Co., Ltd. "™ investment holding
AR (RLERERAR HK$2 100* 100% 100 100  REER
Tian An Pearl River Company Investment holding
Limited
R (LB REBRAF US$30,000,000 100" 100" 100 100 MREFRANRER
(IRzLig)" REEK
Tian An (Shanghai) Investments Property development
Co., Ltd. (“TASH")"™ and investment and
investment holding
BHILERERAA" US$5,000,000 95 95 95 9%  MEREE
Wuxi Redhill Properties Property development
Co., Ltd. ™
BEREEEERATD US$18,400,000 100 100 100 100 YEEE
Wuxi Tianxin Properties Property development
Co., Ltd. ™
FEERESEMEARLTT  US$50,000,000 100 100 100 99.99 MEHERALE

Property development
and investment
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47. T EMB L AIFEE &) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
71 BAT—RER (&) 471 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
BRTEBERRE/
HAMERZED
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRA, share capital/registered capital
ERRERER LN
Paid up issued ordinary WEAREREEE KEBRERL
HEAREH share capital/Paid up Directly held by the Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital Company*/subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %
DEFEPIREERERAT™  RMBI00,000,000 100 100 100 100 YRERRKE

Property development
and investment

RREBESAGINVERART™  RMB6,975,000 100 100 100 100 HRE
Property investment

R (FIREBRARRATW RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 #%Hs
Property investment

mEORINEEZAERAR"Y RMB10,000,000 100 100 100 100 YERE
Property investment

DERZEMREWEBRARY  RMB260,000,000 80 80 80 80 REEK
Investment holding

ARAMLZABEERAFAY™  RMB250,000,000 100 100 80 80 WEHE
Property development

EFRERTEEABATYY  RMB100,000,000 100 100 80 80 YEHE
Property development

ERRTESEEARATYE™  RMB2,000,000 100 100 80 80 WERE

Property development
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47

471

EERBARFB )

MEAR—RERE)

wiiz -

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

FTEATRRLER -
ZERRRPIAERERE  EPEEMALIL
TEAEPRLLEE -

ZERARINABELE  EPEEMKILEE
R B ER

ZERRIRBERNEERE
B EEE -

BRI 2

EEB RS R -
T EEREEREE -
TR 3+ RN E I -

) ARBEERHARL LB60%Ea » R T240%
‘Bl —HNEAREE -

MASERH80% Hml LR ETEIERR
AAREFEEBARBLABEXARAR  ERX

EBMTEERRARREH AR EEEBRAR
ZHEM100%HER -

REBEE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE - AR
(%ﬁ%)ﬁrﬁ@75“]1000/0%WH“"7E33§E;&@F§
EEZTAQRZ —HE2ENBA

AEFRSIEETEERREAEE 2 XERE
ERETEFENARAZMBAR -EERR

I E

BE

LB AR ZFIEETERBRITE

AERIRAEAIMNEBARREENER

A5

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

47.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:
(i)  Operating principally in the PRC.

(i) These companies are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established and
operating principally in the PRC.

(iii) These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises established and

operating principally in the PRC.

(iv) These companies are wholly-domestic owned enterprises established and
operating principally in the PRC.

(v) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

(vi) Operating principally in the United Kingdom.

(vii) Incorporated and operating principally in Australia.

(viii) The 60% interests in TASH is held directly by the Company and the remaining
40% is held by a subsidiary.

(ix) The 100% interests in each of FIBAMETABEEEAR AR, EFREBLTESE
BRAT and BIHRLHEEBEZEAFAR AT is indirectly held by E/ERZEFE
HE B R A 7] which in turn 80% interests is held by the Group.

(x)  During the year ended 31st December, 2021, the 100% holding company of
Dan Form (Hong Kong) Limited was transferred from ASL group to a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.
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47. T EMB L AIFEE &) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

1) BEERFEREZNIE2EHNE 42 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
AEIFE material non-controlling interests

TRANEAEEHEE EARIHLRAELRAIEEE  The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries of

NG = the Group that has material non-controlling interests:
FERERFECRT
EERRAEDL
BB REELEME  Percentage of ownership 2
Place of incorporation of issued ordinary share EFERER Rt FERER
WEARER and principal place of capital held by non- (Loss) profit allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary business controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests  controlling interests
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
TET FERT THET FERT
% % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
DRMEBRAA % 25.02 25.02 (23,792) (14,172) 449,790 1,135,200
Asiasec Properties Limited Hong Kong
Tian An Australia Limited N 23.30 23.30 1,552 (30,477) 108,700 112,899
Australia

AT ER Z IEU
FEAMBA
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests (11,772) (5,546) 57,867 65,605

(34,012) (50,195) 616,357 1,313,704
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47. T EMB A RS &)

I BEERFERBEENFZENE
ACIEICE )

AN AEEE —REAEAFERERNIEE
EMB AR BERBDLIT o THIBHR
BERERBEAMIERI 2R

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

472 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intra-group eliminations.

M ERERE L T (FE) ASL and its subsidiaries (Note)
2021 2020
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENVE E Current assets 269,058 381,580
IEMBNEE Non-current assets 1,526,823 4,165,981
mENEE Current liabilities (22,197) (30,195)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (164,457) (167,604)
RRRIRREGZ Equity attributable to owners
s of the Company 1,159,437 3,214,562
FEERE SRR Equity attributable to
s non-controlling interests 449,790 1,135,200
WA Revenue 41,367 51,251
AR EREN Loss attributable to owners of
i the Company (71,338) (42,513)
AR R (S Loss attributable to
E518 non-controlling interests (23,792) (14,172)
REFEGE Loss for the year (95,130) (56,685)




2 70 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

e M B WKW
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-ZT-—F+-A=1t—RHILLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

47. T EMB L AIFEE &) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

V) BEERFERBESENFZENE
REFHBEE)

472 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (continued)

M ER BB LN (f ) (&) ASL and its subsidiaries (Note) (continued)

2021 2020
THERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
NARIRERFE(S Other comprehensive income
Hith 2 AW (expense) attributable to
(2RH) owners of the Company 892 (5,784)
IR BN Other comprehensive income
Hh 2 E K (expense) attributable to
(BA) non-controlling interests 297 (1,931)
REEEMEE Y = Other comprehensive income
(BA) (expense) for the year 1,189 (7,715)
KRR RIRREG Total comprehensive expense
2HEMA attributable to owners of the
4ERE Company (70,446) (48,297)
FEFERR I S RS Total comprehensive expense
2HEM attributable to non-controlling
1B%E interests (23,495) (16,103)
AEETEER Total comprehensive expense for
MR the year (93,941) (64,400)
Siﬁjziﬁ PR 2 Dividend paid to non-controlling
A% 8 interests 294,777 7,767
AREEXEB RE Net cash outflow used in
A operating activities (11,366) (11,565)
KEREXEBZRE Net cash inflow from investing
MAFE activities 1,123,560 27,616
PARREXB 2 RT Net cash outflow used in
mEEE financing activities (1,178,635) (48,738)
RemtFE Net cash outflow (66,441) (32,687)

Note: The amounts disclosed above have been adjusted for the fair value
adjustments on property, plant and equipment upon acquisition of ASL in

Krat - A ERENSBERENBEFERBETEME
2% BB RERENRABEFHRELRE

prior year.
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47. T EMB A BFB(E) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
1) BEERFEREZNIE2EHE 42 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
NFIFHEE) material non-controlling interests (continued)
TIAREBKIB L& TIA and its subsidiaries
2021 2020
THET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENVE E Current assets 172,700 226,763
ERBEE Non-current assets 746,014 767,228
nRBEE Current liabilities (6,752) (4,529)
FRBAE Non-current liabilities (445,355) (504,830)
RABIREREG Equity attributable to owners of
-5 the Company 357,907 371,733
FEEIR s e S Equity attributable to
2 non-controlling interests 108,700 112,899
A Revenue 5,846 _
RN EIRR R FEAL Profit (loss) attributable to
m A (&) owners of the Company 5,109 (100,350)
IR E R EAG Profit (loss) attributable to
e H) (E518) non-controlling interests 1,552 (30,477)

KERmF(EE) Profit (loss) for the year 6,661 (130,827)
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47. T EMB R EAFEE) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
1) BEERFEREZNIE2EHNE 42 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
UNGIE-TE D) material non-controlling interests (continued)
TIARERB L a (&) TIA and its subsidiaries (continued)
2021 2020
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FN/NET S A P Other comprehensive (expense)
Ewzm(ER) income attributable to owners
Was of the Company (18,935) 30,580
FEIT R R 2 AL Other comprehensive (expense)
Ewzm(EH) income attributable to
e non-controlling interests (5,751) 9,288
REEEMEE Other comprehensive (expense)
(BA) W= income for the year (24,686) 39,868
RNAFIRIREG Total comprehensive expense
*HEEA attributable to owners of the
4a%E Company (13,826) (69,770)
IR R EAS Total comprehensive expense
*HEEA attributable to non-controlling
4a%E interests (4,199) (21,189)
rFEEZEER Total comprehensive expense for
HaxE the year (18,025) (90,959)
SRNRIE = o 5 Dividend paid to non-controlling
) interests - _
AREEXBRe Net cash outflow used in
ML EE operating activities (38,581) (45,494)
REREEBK RS Net cash inflow (outflow) from
A CRE)FE investing activities 111,332 (68,780)
ARBEXB Re Net cash (outflow) inflow used in
ORE)RAFE financing activities (34,963) 119,265

REMAFE Net cash inflow 37,788 4,991




AP B ERRAT 273

2021 %4
mE MK ®RRMKE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE—ZT-—F+-A=1t—RHILLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021
48. T EHE N TFH1E 48.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
RIMERR - XEBR T EZHZAFI%AE At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
R following principal associates:
R
TEEE N AEE bR
Place of incorporation/ EXADH
BENTHE Principal place of Percentage of registered ~ FEX#
Name of associate operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
ZEEXARAF" B0 - 37.49  MERE
Kin Tong Land Investment Hong Kong Property investment

Company Limited"”

Zeta Estates Limited"” Bk 33.33 2499 PEERRKE
Hong Kong Property development and
investment
LBEERLREBRAF & 30 30 MEER
Shanghai Property development
Hat - Notes:

(i) RBE-E-_—F+-A=+—RI-FEH/H & (i) During the year ended 31st December, 2021, Kin Tong Land Investment
EEXARARICHETDEASSE - Company Limited has been reclassified as joint venture.

(i) RZEBEZ—F+-_A=1+—8  xRA6Iz—HE2E& (i) As at 31st December, 2021, 33.33% registered capital of Zeta Estates Limited

[t /A )35 75 Zeta Estates Limited 33.33%H):E & is held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As at 31st December,
Ko RZE-_FTE+-_A=+—H OBHEZFE 2020, this associate was held by ASL which approximately 74.98% interests is
ZREBE AR MAKRBREEELELNT4.98% held by the Group.

E"]*‘gm °
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49, TESEMEFE

RBEYR - AKERTIEESRE
o BARBAHAN  RFAELEEETHE

TEER

49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
following principal joint ventures which are corporate joint ventures

PR S R AR B - established in the PRC except where otherwise indicated:
AR B AL SR
TELE WY e N=Fild
EELEEE Principal place Percentage of registered ~ FEHEH
Name of joint venture of operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
2021 2020
% %
Crystal Idea Management Limited" KBRS 50 50 IREER
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
RERLZSTRARNSELTERAF R 75 75 RERBRRE
Dongguan Changan Jinyu Golf Club Dongguan Golf course operation
Co., Limited
BNmEBEHENXERRERAA" s 50 50 MEREREKRE
Guangzhou Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Panyu Property development and
Park Development Co., Ltd."” investment
REEXERAF B0 50 - PEEE
Kin Tong Land Investment Hong Kong Property investment
Company Limited""
HMRREEXERAR"Y BR 50 50 WMIEER
Nanjing Tianning Real Estate Nanjing Property development
Co., Ltd.®
RERZZHREREERARY R 50 50 WMEREREERE
Tianjin Tian An Science Parks Tianjin Property development and
Development Limited"™” investment
BARBEHERSERAR Bl 50 50 WMIEER
Beijing Property development
HBAREERAERAR Eapii 50 50 WMIEER
(ATE FEm R LB R AR A E )" Nantong Property development
(Formerly known as “Nantong
Tian An Cyberpark Development
Company Limited”) @
FMRLEIEHERAR w=M 50 50 WMEREREERE
(Rl EMNR LIS EEBR AR )" Changzhou Property development and

(Formerly known as “&E M X%

HEMEEAER AT

investment
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49 TESEEFB &) 49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
AEB PTG
TEREME XA
RELEER Principal place Percentage of registered ~ FEX
Name of joint venture of operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
2021 2020
0/0 0/0
BERERRYBHAR AR BE 50 50 WEBERRIRE
Chonggqing Property development and
investment
REMALEBUERLR"Y Rz 39 39 WERBRMKE
Dongguan Property development and
investment
REDBEXEEEAARAT" S 45.05 45.05 WEUREE
Dongguan Property development and
investment
IR Z R AR AR il 50 50 WMERERMRE
Foshan Property development and
investment
TRRZBBRERAF Ik 50 50 MIEBRLEE
(A NIRRT EISHEE AR R ) ™ Jiangyin Property development and
(Formerly known as “ TR K% investment
HEREXERRA" Y
ANRLZESERELERAA A 50 50 WMEREEMKEER
Shenzhen Property management and
investment holding
AR A L ST AR AR A 50 50 MERERIRE
Shenzhen Property development and
investment
AINRLERREEREBR)ARAF A 50 50 WMREBERMRE
Shenzhen Property development and
investment
ANRLEARBERBRARY A 50 50 WEBREKRE
Shenzhen Property development and

investment



2 76 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2021

e M B WKW

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-ZT-—F+-A=1t—RHILLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2021

49. TESELEFT ) 49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
KB FTh E
TEREHH EXBOH
HbEEE Principal place Percentage of registered ~ FEEK
Name of joint venture of operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
2021 2020
0/0 0/0
AEBEREE)BR AT A 50 50  MEERMRERREERR
Shenzhen Property development and
investment and investment
holding
AR (ERREERARRA"Y I 50 50 MEZRER
Nanjing Property development
RERRHUBEHER AR R 50 50 WEZBRERE
Tianjin Property development and
investment
EERRBERERAF" S 50 50 WMEFERMRE
Qingdao Property development and
investment
EEREREHERERRAF BR 60 60 MEER
Nanjing Property development
FMREBEERR DA &M 50 50 MEER
Suzhou Property development
EHRLEBRMBREXERBRAF" & 50 50 WMEER
Wuxi Property development
BILEREXABRLF Bl 12.80 12.80 WM¥EER
Kunshan Property development
BNMARLZHERERAA" EM 45.05 45.05  MEER
Huizhou Property development
BERLZMABERABRAR" 55 45.05 45.05  MIEER
Qingdao Property development
HRABMRERBRAA 2 26.40 - DEER

Nanjing Property development
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49 TESEEFB &) 49.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
AEB PTG
TEREME XA
RELEER Principal place Percentage of registered ~ FEX
Name of joint venture of operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
2021 2020
0/0 0/0
REMKIEQEHEFEEREARAR] riE 39.20 - DEBRR
Dalian Property development
ARECREHERBARAR GEE 40.80 - REEK
Shaoxing Investment holding
BRI EREERAF g 40.80 - DEBRR
Shanghai Property development

Hpit

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

REGEEBNGRZ  NEERAGBAEE
HALREREZ B REERRAES HKRZESH
T -

VNIV Fﬁ ERLZHER () BRA
azMER
Z AR/ A SRR (Crystal Idea Management

Limited) Z i@ A 7] °

ZARR—AAREE(RIRZRERERR(K
B)BRAR)ZHBERR

ZARERBERB SR -

REBWAR BEZ R RITTE L RIESIRE - Iﬁ’ﬁ?&ﬁ

BRZH ZRRZEEEDNREFEMEA
TEBH-ZEE - Al Z2 T%EZZEZ%$;€§B’J
—fAARERE-

EAEﬁzi*%* F+-A=t+—HILFEHME - Z

RAICHEBE R END] -

Notes:

(i

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii

Based on the contractual agreements between the venturers, the Group and
other venturers have joint control over the financial and operating policies of
the above joint ventures.

The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, X% &5 (S E)BRAF].

The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, Crystal Idea Management
Limited.

The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, FYII KL EKEEREER)E
SENCIR

The company is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Group is considered to exercise joint control over the company as the
decision making on relevant activities of the company required unanimous
consent of all joint venture partners under contractual arrangement. Therefore,
the company is considered as a joint venture of the Group.

The company has been reclassified from associate during the year ended 31st
December, 2021.
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50. A B EMRR R R HE 50.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
A B BARR TR The Company’s Statement of Financial Position
2021 2020
TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
Y - BB KRB Property, plant and equipment 40,471 39,994
RIB AR 2IRE Investments in subsidiaries 157,887 152,314
PR B8 22 A R 5K Amounts due from subsidiaries 12,565,928 12,989,077
REEREIRE Investments in joint ventures 10,773 10,393
12,775,059 13,191,778
REEE Current assets
H b EUERR Other receivables, deposits and
e MIBRK prepayments 9,967 9,093
—E B R RIRK Amounts due from a subsidiary 200,000 -
BEBERRN Amounts due from joint ventures 1,553 1,544
RITEFEIRE Bank balances and cash 438,175 726,694
649,695 737,331
REBAE Current liabilities
ﬁ{’ﬂfgﬁﬁﬁw\ Other payables 10,380 27,031
FETBfT /B A BI5RIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,261,652 3,326,698
mlﬁ,ﬁ{i Tax liabilities 13,796 25,229
M BfER Interest-bearing borrowings 500,000 300,000
3,785,828 3,678,958
REBEEFE Net current liabilities (3,136,133) (2,941,627)
BEERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 9,638,926 10,250,151
IR A R fk 1 Capital and reserves
&< Share capital 3,788,814 3,788,814
G Reserves 5,850,112 6,461,337
9,638,926 10,250,151

RARMBMRAKER S -__F=A=+H
AREESRBLEENE A TIESEK
®E:

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
FHE
Director

EFE

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25th March, 2022

and is signed on its behalf by:

Edwin Lo King Yau

BEH
Director

EFE
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50. A R B IERR R R #E &) 50.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
NEFHERE K Movement in the Company’s reserves
BHRER ELTE
2] 2]
Special Exchange ESp-gi]
capital  translation Retained st
reserve reserve earnings Total
FET FET FE&T FA&T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZZE-ZF—HF—H At 1st January, 2020 1,417,669 140,170 5,335,313 6,893,152
REEER Loss for the year - - (712,389) (712,389)
BMERELZ Exchange difference arising
ERE=R from translation - 580,703 - 580,703
BB E Dividend recognised as
distribution - - (300,129) (300,129)
MN-E-FTHF At 31st December,
+=—A=+—H 2020 1,417,669 720,873 4,322,795 6,461,337
REFEEIE Loss for the year - - (520,559) (520,559)
BMEMREEZ Exchange difference arising
EREE from translation - 364,997 - 364,997
ekl Dividend recognised as
distribution - - (300,129) (300,129)
LSS Transfer (1,417,669) - 1,417,669 -
A& {7 B fE Repurchase of shares - - (155,534) (155,534)
A — At 31st December,
+=A=+—8° 2021 — 1,085870 4,764,242 5,850,112

RZZE-_—F+=-_A=+—8 ' ARAAITHK
TR 2 A R F4,764,242,0007%8 T
ZT =T : 4,322,795,000457T) ©

EBFRBNTHRES S AR ST OFIER
NEERE D EERRTE - EERRDEE
MEAZ EREBREHREAHEE  E4AQF
R-ETNMFE=ZANBZAEE2IEEN © I
HETERIEADERE R-ZE-TF+—A
=t+—A  AREAR_ZTZTNE=ANEERF
E2BER - 514,064,000 LI KIEE ©

REBEE-—ZE-—&F+-_A=+—HILEEH
M HHEAEEEERBREARBEBERERA
A o

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
as at 31st December, 2021 represent the retained earnings of
HK$4,764,242,000 (2020: HK$4,322,795,000).

When sanctioning a reduction in nominal value of the Company’s
shares in 2004, the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region stipulated that the credit arising on the
reduction be transferred to a special capital reserve, and that reserve
was not to be regarded as distributable until all of the liabilities of the
Company as at the date of the order, 9th March, 2004, were settled.
At 31st December, 2020, liabilities of the Company that were in
existence at 9th March, 2004 was HK$14,064,000. During the year
ended 31st December, 2021, the relevant liabilities had extinguished
and the special capital reserve is transferred to retained earnings.
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2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
FEL FEL FET FEL TET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$/000
ES | RESULTS
N Revenue 1,112,881 3,291,719 2,221,904 2,359,440 2,574,680
FARDRIRRENL Profit for the year attributable to
bt owners of the Company 2,054,142 1,251,202 1,345,942 618,037 1,430,348
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEE Total assets 37,156,441 39,014,757 41,049,624 42,620,647 47,192,471
BafE Total liabilities 12,271,401 13,761,746 15,454,453 15,647,588 18,980,755
IR Non-controlling interests 1,459,760 1,369,933 1,344,195 1,313,704 616,357
ARARREN Equity attributable to owners
P of the Company 23,425,280 23,883,078 24,250,976 25,659,355 27,595,359
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
REREE PER SHARE BASIS
SREAZEF (B Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 136.33 83.04 89.35 41.18 96.14
BRRRE (B Dividend per share (HK cents) 20 20 20 20 20
ARRIRR N 2 Net assets per share attributable to
FREEFEGET) owners of the Company (HK$) 15.6 15.9 16.2 17.1 18.8
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